
 

Website: https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees       
Live Streaming: https://www.youtube.com/results?search_query=utaride  

Regular Meeting of the 

Board of Trustees of the Utah Transit Authority 
 

Wednesday, July 10, 2019, 9:00 a.m. 
Utah Transit Authority Headquarters  

669 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah 
Golden Spike Conference Rooms   

 
 

1. Call to Order & Opening Remarks Chair Carlton Christensen 
   
2. Pledge of Allegiance Chair Carlton Christensen 
   
3. Safety First Minute Sheldon Shaw 

   

4. Public Comment Period Bob Biles 

   

5. Approval of June 26, 2019 Board Meeting Minutes Chair Carlton Christensen 

   
6. Closed Session Chair Carlton Christensen 
 a. Strategy session to discuss pending or reasonably 

imminent litigation 
 

  
   

   
RECESS – MEETING WILL RESUME AT APPROXIMATELY фΥпр A.M. 

 

   
7. Agency Report Steve Meyer 
   
8. Contracts, Disbursements and Grants  
 a. Contract: South Salt Lake Micro-Transit Pilot (VL!) Nichol Bourdeaux 
 b. Change Order: Light Rail Signal Priority  

(Pinetop Engineering) 
Eddy Cumins 

 c. Change Order: Weber Box Elder County Survey 
(Meridian) 

Michael DeMers 

 d. Change Order: On-Call Maintenance – Project Manager 
Costs - Task Order #76 (Stacy and Witbeck) 

Eddy Cumins 

 e. Change Order: On-Call Maintenance – Blue Line Rail 
Grade Crossing Replacements - Task Order #79  
(Stacy and Witbeck) 
 

Eddy Cumins 

https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees
https://www.youtube.com/results?search_query=utaride


 

Website: https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees       
Live Streaming: https://www.youtube.com/results?search_query=utaride  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 f. Change Order: On-Call Maintenance – Delta 
Interlocking Trackwork - Task Order # 82 
(Stacy and Witbeck) 

Eddy Cumins 

 g. Revenue Contract: Division of Services for People with 
Disabilities (DSPD) 

Cherryl Beveridge 

 h. Revenue Contract: Salt Lake City Hive Pass Monica Morton 
 i. MOU: Tooele Bus Storage Facility (UDOT/FTA) Michael DeMers 
 j. Grant: DOT BUILD Grant – Vinyard FrontRunner Station 

Double Tracking 
Steve Meyer 

 k. Pre-Procurement: UTA Operator Uniforms Steve Meyer 
 l. Pre-Procurement: 2019 Equipment Lease Purchase 

Financing Services 
Steve Meyer 

    
9. Discussion Items  
 a. Draft Board Policy – Fares Monica Morton 
 b.  Current GRAMA Records Fees Auty Dahlquist 
 c. August 2019 Change Day Public Hearing Report and 

Communications Plan 
Andrea Packer 

 d. Master Facilities Plan Hal Johnson 
    
10. Other Business Chair Carlton Christensen 
 a. Next meeting: July 17, 2019 at 9:00 a.m.  
    
11. Adjourn Chair Carlton Christensen 
   

Public Comment: Members of the public are invited to provide comment during the public comment period. 
Comment may be provided in person or online through www.rideuta.com. In order to be considerate of time and 
the agenda, comments are limited to 2 minutes per individual or 5 minutes for a designated spokesperson 
representing a group. Comments may also be sent via e-mail to boardoftrustees@rideuta.com.   
 
Special Accommodation: Information related to this meeting is available in alternate format upon request by 
contacting calldredge@rideuta.com or (801) 287-3536. Request for accommodations should be made at least 
two business days in advance of the scheduled meeting. 

https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees
https://www.youtube.com/results?search_query=utaride
http://www.rideuta.com/
mailto:boardoftrustees@rideuta.com
mailto:calldredge@rideuta.com


The Close Call reported today,
is the accident that does not happen tomorrow.

SM
SM

SAFETY & SECURITYSAFETY & SECURITY
July 2019

SM





 

 

 

Board Members Present: 

Carlton Christensen, Chair  

Beth Holbrook 

Kent Millington 

 

Also attending were members of UTA staff, as well as interested citizens and members of the 

media. 

 

 

Call to Order, Opening Remarks, and Pledge of Allegiance. Chair Christensen welcomed attendees 

and called the meeting to order at 8:59 a.m. Following Chair Christensen’s opening remarks, the 

board and meeting attendees recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Safety First Minute. Chair Christensen yielded the floor to Kent Muhlestein, UTA Safety 

Administrator – Transit System, for a brief safety message. 

 

Public Comment Period. No public comment was given. (Online comment received was 

distributed to the board prior to the meeting and will be included as an appendix to the 

minutes of the meeting.) 

 

Consent Agenda. The consent agenda was comprised of: 

a. Approval of June 19, 2019 Board Meeting Minutes 

b. 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 

c. UTA Policy 1.1.29 Exceptions to UTA Policies 

A motion to approve the consent agenda was made by Trustee Millington and seconded by 

Trustee Holbrook. The motion carried unanimously. 

Minutes of the Meeting 

of the 

Board of Trustees of the Utah Transit Authority (UTA) 

held at UTA FrontLines Headquarters located at 

669 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah 

June 26, 2019 

, 

 



 

Agency Report. Steve Meyer, UTA Interim Executive Director, spoke about UTA’s receipt of an 

Innovative Coordinated Access and Mobility Pilot Program Grant from the Federal Transit 

Administration in the amount of $700,125.  UTA is partnering with Jacksonville Transit 

Authority in Florida and Community Health IT, which is a non-profit focused on providing access 

to healthcare services, on the grant. Discussion ensued. Questions on the possibility of 

integrating the grant with the state legislature appropriation for coordinated mobility and the 

length of time Jacksonville has been involved in coordinated mobility efforts were posed by the 

board and answered by Mr. Meyer.  

 

R2019-06-03 Resolution Establishing the Terms and Conditions of Employment for Executive 

Director Carolyn Gonot. Chair Christensen asked Carolyn Gonot to introduce herself. Ms. Gonot 

expressed excitement about joining UTA and summarized her past transit experience. 

Discussion ensued during which the board expressed confidence in Ms. Gonot’s abilities.  

 

A motion to approve R2019-06-03 was made by Trustee Holbrook and seconded by Trustee 

Millington. The motion carried unanimously with aye votes from Trustee Holbrook, Trustee 

Millington, and Chair Christensen. 

 

Chair Christensen declared a brief recess at 9:16 a.m. 

 

The meeting resumed at 9:27 a.m. 

 

Financial Report – May 2019. Troy Bingham, UTA Comptroller, was joined by Eddy Cumins, UTA 

Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Bingham reviewed the May 2019 Financial Report. He spoke about 

the monthly financial dashboard, sales tax collections, fare revenues, expense variance by 

mode, expense variance by type, fuel prices, and ridership. 

 

Discussion ensued. Questions on sales tax, mobile ticketing costs, vanpool trends, Salt Lake 

Central bus wage overages, and ridership effects from the Main Street state of good repair 

project in Salt Lake City were posed by the board and answered by staff. 

 

Contracts, Disbursements, and Grants. 

Pre-Procurement: Dellner Coupler Parts Overhaul – Quarter/Half Life. Mr. Cumins was 

joined by Kyle Stockley, UTA Manager of Vehicle Overhaul & Bus Support. Mr. Cumins 

summarized the procurement, which is intended for the acquisition of parts required for 

overhauling the Dellner couplers on 77 light rail vehicles. Discussion ensued. Questions 

on the anticipated timeline for the vehicle overhauls and competitiveness in the light 

rail parts market were posed by the board and answered by staff. Mr. Cumins clarified 



 

that the vehicles are all the same age and that the procurement is for quarter life 

overhauls. 

Pre-Procurement: Pantograph Overhaul. Mr. Cumins, UTA Chief Operating Officer, 

explained the procurement, which is intended for the acquisition of parts required for 

overhauling the pantographs on all the agency’s light rail vehicles. Discussion ensued. 

Questions on volume discounts and vehicle overhaul program status were posed by the 

board and answered by staff. 

Discussion Items.  

Fare Discussion – Current Public Fares and Reduced Fare Agreement Rates. Monica 

Morton, UTA Fares Director, delivered a presentation on fare pricing, base fare, 

discounts, free fare, special pricing, bulk pass programs, educational programs, 

corporate programs, and other programs. She also spoke about the cost of collection 

and ticket volume. Discussion ensued. Questions on express bus fares, free fares, fares 

available on the FAREPAY card, residential unit participation in pass programs, fare 

equity, credit card fees, percentage of revenue collected from different fare media, and 

alignment of UTA’s different fare media collections with the transit industry were posed 

by the board and answered by Ms. Morton. Chair Christensen suggested performing an 

analysis and review on fare equity.  

Other Business.  

Next Meeting. The next meeting of the board will be on Wednesday, July 10, 2019 at 

9:00 a.m. 

 

Adjournment. The meeting was adjourned at 10:21 a.m. by motion. 

Transcribed by Cathie Griffiths 
Executive Assistant to the Board Chair 
Utah Transit Authority 
cgriffiths@rideuta.com  
801.237.1945 
 
This document is not intended to serve as a full transcript as additional discussion may have 
taken place; please refer to the meeting materials, audio, or video located at 
https://www.utah.gov/pmn/sitemap/notice/543143.html for entire content. 
 
This document along with the digital recording constitute the official minutes of this meeting. 
 

 

mailto:cgriffiths@rideuta.com
https://www.utah.gov/pmn/sitemap/notice/543143.html


 

 

 

 

Received June 25, 2019: 

I noticed on the board agenda a discussion about fares. I don't know the structure of the discussion 

but had a few thoughts. I see more transit agencies focusing on the Day Pass to encourage small trips 

after you get to your destination and to reduce transfer slips. Perhaps a $5.00 or less day pass would 

be more attractive to riders. Also similar to other agencies have a daily local fare/Frontrunner base fare 

cap equivalent to the day pass when using Farepay cards.  

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 

 

Online Public Comment 

to the 

Board of Trustees of the Utah Transit Authority (UTA) 

Board Meeting 

June 26, 2019 

 

 

 



����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	�����������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	
�������

/01123�45678 9:; <=>?@?A@4B8CD6EC�/:EC7B8FDBE0D:G:8C ?HI<?IJ?<=4B8CD6ECKD7L7862MHJA NO12B6PQRSTUVOWTVXRTVY6;C:DV/:DZ7E:�?J?HJ?<=[1P\�]IQ̂ _A?[__̀a/B0C5�/62C�U6b:�4B08C3�Y7EDBCD68;7C�F72BCc7Z:D�SBDC5�WD68;7C�UU4�]XRTdW5:�/B0C5�/62C�U6b:�4B08C3�Y7EDBCD68;7C�172BC�7;�6�<J>GB8C5�172BC�1DBLD6G�CB�C:;C�8:e�68P�788BZ6C7Z:�GBf727C3�;B20C7B8;�0C727g78L�GBf727C3�B8>P:G68P�C:E58B2BL7:;�68P�CD68;7C�;:DZ7E:;[�W5:�172BC�e722�0C727g:�GBf72:�15B8:�C:E58B2BL7:;�\BD�E0;CBG:D;�CB�D:h0:;C�6�;56D:P�Z:57E2:�CB�CD68;1BDC�C5:G�CB�D672�;C6C7B8;�68P�BC5:D�2BE6C7B8;�e7C578�68�611DBi7G6C:23�Mj�;h06D:�G72:�L:B>\:8E:P�gB8:[�W5:�172BC�e722�B1:D6C:�78�C5:�E7C7:;�B\�a20\\P62:k�lD61:Dk�m:DD7G68k�c7Z:DCB8k�/68P3k�68P�/B0C5�nBDP68�62B8L�;7P:�E0DD:8C�\2:i�DB0C:�;:DZ7E:;[�W5:�78C:8C�7;�CB�f:CC:D�627L8�OWTo;�;:DZ7E:�e7C5�EBGG087C3�68P�E0;CBG:D�8::P;�68P�L678�G7EDBCD68;7C�B1:D6C7B862�:i1:D7:8E:[�W5:�172BC�68P�:i7;C78L�;:DZ7E:;�e722�f:�:Z6206C:P�\BD�2B8L�C:DG�\:6;7f727C3k�EB8C780:P�B1:D6C7B8;k�68P�\0C0D:�1BC:8C762�6;�6�CD68;7C�GBP:�6;�16DC�B\�C5:�Q7Z:>9:6D�YBf727C3�F268[�T8�cQF�56;�f::8�7;;0:P�68P�6�Z:8PBD�;:2:EC:P�CB�1DBZ7P:�C5:�\022�C0D8>b:3�;:DZ7E:;�78E20P78L�C5:�B1:D6C7B8;k�PD7Z:D;k�Z:57E2:;k�6PG787;CD6C7B8k�68P�C:E58B2BL3�P0D78L�C5:�EB0D;:�B\�C5:�172BC[�TPP7C7B862�\08P78L�e722�f:�622BE6C:P�CB�1DBZ7P:�G6Db:C78L�68P�EBGG087E6C7B8;�CB�C5B;:�78�C5:�L:B>\:8E:P�gB8:[�W5:�CBC62�EB8CD6EC�Z620:�\BD�3:6D�<�78E20P:;�6�8BC�CB�:iE::P�6GB08C�B\�pJkj??k???[�pJk<j?k???�622BE6C:P�CB�B1:D6C78L�:i1:8;:�68P�68�B1C7B862�p@j?k???�622BE6C:P�CB�G6Db:C78L�]78�C5:�:Z:8C�68P�6;�6LD::P�01B8�f3�6PP:8P0Gd�\BD�C5:�Z:8PBD�;011BDC�B\�G6Db:C78L�;:DZ7E:;[�K1C7B8�3:6D;�J>@�G63�f:�:i:DE7;:P�6C�OWTo;�;B2:�P7;ED:C7B8�6C�68�B1:D6C78L�:i1:8;:�B\�pJkJjHkj??�68P�pJk@H?k@Hj�D:;1:EC7Z:23[�WBC62�EB8CD6EC�Z620:k�78E20P78L�B1C7B8�3:6D;k�7;�pHk<JHk_Hj[F7Eb:CCk�W:D:;;6 n6DB8�cBf:DC;B8a:L78878LHIJIJ?<= q8P78L<?I@<IJ?J?/qcXR4q/ cQF_ Jk<H=kj_@<j JA.���������������	 9:; SB 	 c:8:e62�W:DG;WeB�B1C7B862�<�3:6D�C:DG;[�K1C7B8�9:6D�<�e722�f:�pJ[JHj�Y7227B8[�K1C7B8�9:6D�J�e722�f:�pJ[@H�Y7227B8[/C6DC�l6C:<<I<IJ?J? q8P�l6C:_I@<IJ?JJ



���������	
����������� ������������
��� �����
����	
��������������� ��������� ������������������������� ���� !��� ����
���������������"�!��� ����
������
��������#�� ����
������������������#�� ���"��
����	
��� 	�#�������
$���	
��%�������&
���� '�������"�'��������
����(����� ���
��������)�������##
���*�
����
� �����#�������"�!��� ��
� �����#�������+�,�������
*�� ���
����������� ����)��������##
��"�-���� �������*����-���� �!��������	����*�����.����/���*���"�0�����	
�#������1�/�����
��������##�
/���������"� �
�������1�/����!���##�
/���������"�1��2��##�
/���������"�3���������
�����3������� 4��5�&�6�3��5�
��173�	 ��*� ������/��4����
���'
�����##�
/���1�)������ '
�����##�
/���4���89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

FG<H<EGHI�J;E=G9<KA9ELA;:;<=M M MNOPQNORNSTUUM MQOSUUOUUUTUUV@I9HW X;> Y9Z<;[=G:; C;ELAAG<\]]SUTSÛŜT_Q9̀EHI X;> Y9MQOSUUOUUUTUU X;> Y9 X;> Y9 Ya?X;> Y9 Ya??@@A9BHI�J;E=G9< b;IIO�cGd;X;> Y9 J=;;I;O�bAeH<X;> Y9X;> Y9C9f;A=>9<O�gHA9<�c C9f;A=>9<O�gHA9<�cb9LAW;HLhO�YGEi9I 8L:G<>O�j9<HIW�k�lHE=G<\mKAG<=�=iG>�@H\;



1 

 

UTA CONTRACT NO. 19-03043 

 

           
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

VIA TRANSIT AS A SERVICE 

This Master Services Agreement is entered into and made effective as of the ___ day of July, 2019 (the 

“Effective Date”) by and between UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY, a public transit district organized under the laws 
of the State of Utah (“UTA”), and River North Transit, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (hereinafter 

“Consultant” or “VIA”).  This Master Services Agreement contains the terms and conditions which shall govern 
the overall transaction between the Parties but no actual effort and no expenditure of funds is authorized or 

obligated by this Agreement.  Project Addendum will be issued to this Master Services Agreement which shall 
contain the specific statement(s) of work for particular project(s) as well as the specific payment terms within 

the overall not to exceed (NTE) amount as stated in this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed shall be provided 

only with the specific Project Addendum(s).  
 

RECITALS 
A.  UTA desires to hire professional services for operation of a demand-responsive ride sharing 

service in a geographic area in the South Salt Lake County Region as described within UTA’s RFP and Consultants 

Proposal. 
 

B. On May 1, 2019, UTA issued Request for Proposal Package Number 19-03043TP (“RFP”) 
encouraging interested parties to submit proposals to perform the services described in the RFP.  

 

C. Upon evaluation of the proposals submitted in response to the RFP, UTA selected Consultant 
as the preferred entity with whom to negotiate a contract to perform the Work.  

 
D. Consultant is qualified and willing to perform the Work as set forth in the Scope of Services.   

 
AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in accordance with the foregoing Recitals, which are incorporated herein by 

reference, and for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereafter set forth, the 
mutual benefits to the parties to be derived here from, and for other valuable consideration, the receipt 

and sufficiency of which the parties acknowledge, it is hereby agreed as follows:  
 

ARTICLE 1.0 

Definitions 
 

As used throughout this Contract, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below: 
1.1 The term “Change Order” shall mean a written modification to this Contract (the form of which shall 

be prescribed by UTA) pursuant to which the parties shall mutually agree upon and effect any additions, 
deletions, or variations in the Work (as such Work is initially defined by this Contract). The scope of 

modifications may include, without limitation, changes in the: (i) consideration paid to Consultant, (ii) 

deliverables required to be furnished by Consultant; (iii) method, manner or scope of the Work; or (iv) 
required performance completion milestones or other Contract schedule requirements. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



2 

 

1.2 The term “Claims” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.1 of this Contract. 

 

1.3 The term “Consultant’s Project Manager” shall mean the individual identified in the Scope of Services, or 
his/her successor as appointed or designated in writing by Consultant. 

 

1.4 The term “Consultant’s Proposal” shall mean South Salt Lake County Microtransit Pilot Proposal dated 
as of May 31, 2019.  

 

1.5 The term “Contract” shall mean this Master Services Agreement, together with all attached exhibits, 
all documents incorporated by reference pursuant to Article 26 hereof, and all drawings, reports, 

studies, industry standards, legal requirements and other items referenced in the foregoing documents. 
It shall also include Project Addendums once definitized and executed by the Parties. 

 
1.6 The term “Indemnitees” shall mean the UTA parties set forth in Section 16.1 of this Contract. 

 

1.7 The term “General Scope of Services” shall mean the broad description of overall services described in 
Exhibit A & B.  

 

1.8 The term “Project Specific Scope of Work” shall mean the specific services described in respective 
Project Addendum(s) which are issued to cover specific projects as they arise.  

 

1.9 The term “UTA’s Project Manager” shall mean the individual identified in the Scope of Services, or his/her 

successor as appointed or designated in writing by UTA. 

 

1.10 The term “Work” shall mean any activities undertaken or required to be undertaken by Consultant in 

conjunction with the Scope of Services or Contract. 
 

ARTICLE 2.0 

Description of Services 
 

2.1 Consultant shall perform all Work as set forth in the Scope of Services. Except for items (if any) which 
this Contract specifically states will be UTA-provided, Consultant shall furnish all the labor, material and 

incidentals necessary for the Work. Upon execution of this Master Services Agreement, the parties will (i) 

promptly commence detailed scoping of the project, to be completed by no later than August 15, 2019, to 
be memorialized in the Project Specific Scope of Work, which shall include the categories set forth in UTA’s 

RFP, Consultants Proposal, and Exhibit A & B of this agreement; and (ii) identify a target launch date and 
slot UTA into Consultant’s queue of existing contracts.  

 
2.2 Consultant shall perform all Work under this Contract in a professional manner, using at least that 

standard of care, skill and judgment which can reasonably be expected from similarly situated 

professionals.  

 

2.3 All Work shall conform to generally accepted standards in the transit industry. Consultant shall perform 
all Work in compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, ordinances, permit constraints and other 

legal requirements including, without limitation, those related to safety and environmental protection.  

 
2.4 Consultant shall furnish only qualified personnel and materials necessary for the performance of the 

Work. 
 

2.5 When performing Work on UTA property, Consultant shall comply with all UTA work site rules that 

have been provided to Consultant including, without limitation, those related to safety and 
environmental protection. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



3 

 

 
ARTICLE 3.0 

Day-to-Day Management of the Work 
 

3.1 Consultant’s Project Manager will be the day-to-day contact person for Consultant and will be responsible 

for all Work, as well as the coordination of such Work with UTA. 
 

3.2 UTA’s Project Manager will be the day-to-day contact person for UTA, and shall act as the liaison between 
UTA and Consultant with respect to the Work. UTA's Project Manager shall also coordinate any design 

reviews, approvals or other direction required from UTA with respect to the Work. 
 

ARTICLE 4.0 

Progress of the Work 
 

4.1 Consultant shall prosecute the Work in a diligent and continuous manner and in accordance with all 
applicable notice to proceed, critical path schedule and guaranteed completion date requirements set 

forth in (or developed and agreed by the parties in accordance with) the Scope of Services.  

 
4.2 Consultant shall conduct regular meetings to update UTA's Project Manager regarding the progress 

of the Work including, but not limited to, any unusual conditions or critical path schedule items that 
could affect or delay the Work. Such meetings shall be held at intervals mutually agreed to between 

the parties. 

 

4.3 Consultant shall deliver monthly progress reports and provide all Contract submittals and other 

deliverables as specified in the Scope of Services. 

 

4.4 Any drawing or other submittal reviews to be performed by UTA in accordance with the Scope of 

Services are for the sole benefit of UTA, and shall not relieve Consultant of its responsibility to comply 
with the Contract requirements. 

 

4.5 UTA will have the right to inspect, monitor and review any Work performed by Consultant hereunder as 

deemed necessary by UTA to verify that such Work conforms to the Contract requirements. Any such 

inspection, monitoring and review performed by UTA is for the sole benefit of UTA, and shall not relieve 
Consultant of its responsibility to comply with the Contract requirements. 

 

4.6 UTA shall have the right to reject Work which fails to conform to the requirements of this Contract. 

Upon receipt of notice of rejection from UTA, Consultant shall (at its sole expense and without 

entitlement to equitable schedule relief) promptly re-perform, replace or re-execute the Work so as to 
conform to the Contract requirements.  

 

4.7 If Consultant fails to promptly remedy rejected Work as provided in Section 4.6, UTA may (without 

limiting or waiving any rights or remedies it may have) perform necessary corrective action using other 

contractors or UTA’s own forces. Any costs reasonably incurred by UTA in such corrective action shall 
be chargeable to Consultant.  

 
ARTICLE 5.0 

Period of Performance  

 
This Contract shall commence as of the Effective Date. This Contract shall remain in full force and effect 

for an initial one-year period expiring the last day of the calendar month during which a period of twelve 
months following launch expires. Upon mutual consent of both parties, this contract may be extended 

beyond the initial term for up to two additional one-year option periods, for a total Contract period not to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



4 

 

exceed three years. The first option period shall begin 12 months after the initial launch date and end on 
the day before “UTA Change Day” in August 2021. “UTA Change Day” occurs each year during the month 

of August.  The second extension period shall begin on UTA Change Day 2021 and expire on the day before 
UTA Change Day 2022. Any additional extension periods shall begin on UTA Change Day and end on the 

day before the UTA Change Day in August of the subsequent year. Extension options may be exercised by 

UTA upon providing Consultant with notice of such election at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration 
of the initial term or then-expiring option period (as applicable) and shall be subject to any price 

adjustments reasonably agreed by the parties. This Contract may be further extended if the Consultant and 
UTA mutually agree to an extension evidenced in writing. The rights and obligations of UTA and Consultant 

under this Contract shall at all times be subject to and conditioned upon the provisions of this Contract.  
 

ARTICLE 6.0  

Consideration 
 

6.1 For the performance of the Work, UTA shall pay Consultant in accordance with the pricing included in 
the Project Addendum(s), but in any event not to exceed (NTE) two million, five hundred thousand dollars 

($2,500,000) for the base period. Payments shall be made in accordance with the milestones or other 

payment provisions detailed in the Project Addendum(s). Exhibit D contains a projected cost element 
breakdown for the $2.5 million NTE. Within the NTE pricing, Consultant agrees to provide pricing 

alternatives consisting of a fixed price approach and also a fixed price incentive fee approach. Exhibit D 
also includes NTE pricing for two subsequent option periods.  

 
6.2 To the extent that the Scope of Services or another provision of this Contract calls for any portion of 

the consideration to be paid on a cost-reimbursement basis, such costs shall only be reimbursable to 

the extent allowed under 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart E. Compliance with federal cost principles shall apply 
regardless of funding source for this Contract. 

 

6.3 To the extent that Exhibit D or another provision of this Contract calls for any portion of the 

consideration to be paid on a time and materials or labor hour basis, then Consultant must refer to the 

not-to-exceed amount, specified in Exhibit D. Unless and until UTA has notified Consultant by written 
instrument designated or indicated to be a Change Order that the Not to Exceed Amount has been 

increased (which notice shall specify a revised Not to Exceed Amount): (i) Consultant shall not be 
obligated to perform services or incur costs which would cause its total compensation under this 

Contract to exceed the Not to Exceed Amount; and (ii) UTA shall not be obligated to make payments 

which would cause the total compensation paid to Consultant to exceed the Not to Exceed Amount. 
 

6.4 UTA may withhold and/or offset from payment any amounts reasonably reflecting: (i) items of Work 
that have been rejected by UTA in accordance with this Contract; (ii) invoiced items that are not 

payable under this Contract; or (iii) amounts Consultant owes to UTA under this Contract.  

 
ARTICLE 7.0 

Contract Changes 
 

7.1 UTA’s Project Manager or designee may, at any time, by written order designated or indicated to be a 
Change Order, direct changes in the Work including, but not limited to, changes: 

 

A. In the Scope of Services; 
B. In the method or manner of performance of the Work; or 

C. In the schedule or completion dates applicable to the Work. 
 

To the extent that any change in Work directed by UTA causes an actual and demonstrable impact to: 

(i) Consultant’s cost of performing the work; or (ii) the time required for the Work, then (in either case) 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



5 

 

the Change Order shall include an equitable adjustment to this Contract to make Consultant whole 
with respect to the impacts of such change. 

 
7.2 A change in the Work may only be directed by UTA through a written Change Order or (alternatively) 

UTA’s expressed, written authorization directing Consultant to proceed pending negotiation of a 

Change Order. Any changes to this Contract undertaken by Consultant without such written authority 
shall be at Consultant’s sole risk. Consultant shall not be entitled to rely on any other manner or method 

of direction. 
 

7.3 Consultant shall also be entitled to an equitable adjustment to address the actual and demonstrable 
impacts of “constructive” changes in the Work if: (i) subsequent to the Effective Date of this Contract, 

there is a material change with respect to any law or other requirement set forth in this Contract; or (ii) 

other conditions exist which materially modify the magnitude, character or complexity of the Work from 
what should have been reasonably assumed by Consultant based on the information included in (or 

referenced by) this Contract. In order to be eligible for equitable relief for “constructive” changes in Work, 
Consultant must give UTA’s Project Manager or designee written notice stating: 

 

A. The date, circumstances, and source of the change; and 
B. That Consultant regards the identified item as a change in Work giving rise to an adjustment in 

this Contract.  
C. The best estimate of the amount of the contemplated request for equitable adjustment 

associated with the constructive change, if any.  

 
Consultant must provide notice of a “constructive” change and assert its right to an equitable 

adjustment under this Section within ten (10) days after Consultant becomes aware (or reasonably 
should have become aware) of the facts and circumstances giving rise to the “constructive” change. 

Consultant’s failure to provide timely written notice as provided above shall constitute a waiver of 
Consultant’s rights with respect to such claim.  

 

7.4 As soon as practicable, Consultant must provide UTA with information and documentation reasonably 
demonstrating the actual cost and schedule impacts associated with any change in Work compensable 

under Section 7.1 or 7.3. Equitable adjustments will be made via Change Order. Any dispute regarding 
the Consultant’s entitlement to an equitable adjustment (or the extent of any such equitable 

adjustment) shall be resolved in accordance with Article 20 of this Contract.  

 
ARTICLE 8.0 

Invoicing Procedures and Records 
 

8.1 Consultant shall submit invoices to UTA’s Project Manager for processing and payment in accordance 

with the Project Addendum(s). . If the Project Addendum(s) does not specify invoice instructions, 
then Consultant shall invoice UTA after completion of all Work and final acceptance thereof by UTA. 

Invoices shall be provided in the form specified by UTA. Reasonable supporting documentation 
demonstrating Consultant’s entitlement to the requested payment must be submitted with each 

invoice. UTA shall have the right to disapprove (and withhold from payment) specific line items 
of each invoice to address non-conforming Work or invoicing deficiencies. Approval by UTA 

shall not be unreasonably withheld. UTA shall have the right to offset from payment amounts 

reasonably reflecting the value of any claim which UTA has against Consultant under this 
Contract. Payment for all invoice amounts not specifically disapproved by UTA shall be provided to 

Consultant within thirty (30) calendar days of invoice submittal. 
 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



6 

 

ARTICLE 9.0 
Ownership of Materials 

 
9.1 All data including, but not limited to, maps, drawings, sketches, renderings, software, hardware, 

and specifications, including the original thereof, developed by Consultant as a part of its Work under this 

Contract (collectively and generically referred to in this Article as “Work Product”) are the property of 
UTA. All Work Product must be delivered to UTA no later than the completion of the Work and prior to final 

payment by UTA. In the event this Contract is terminated prior to completion of the Work, then Consultant 
shall transmit all Work Product completed or in-process as of the date of termination.  

 
9.2 UTA shall not be construed to be the owner of any intellectual property contained in the Work Product that 

was owned or created by Consultant outside of the scope of this Contract or not created specifically for the 

UTA. However, with respect to such intellectual property of Consultant, Consultant hereby grants UTA a 
non-exclusive perpetual license to use such intellectual property to the full extent reasonably necessary for 

UTA’s use and enjoyment of the Work Product furnished under this Contract. For the avoidance of doubt, 
Consultant agrees to operate a transit platform in accordance with the Scope of Services, and no Work 

Product is contemplated unless otherwise explicitly agreed in writing. 

 
ARTICLE 10.0 

      Subcontracts 
 

10.1 Consultant shall give advance written notification to UTA of any proposed subcontract (not indicated in 
Consultant’s Proposal) negotiated with respect to the Work. UTA shall have the right to approve all 

subcontractors, such approval not to be withheld unreasonably. For the avoidance of doubt, independent 

contractor driver partners or vehicle suppliers shall not be considered subcontractors for the purpose 
of this agreement.  

 
10.2 No subsequent change, removal or substitution shall be made with respect to any such subcontractor 

without the prior written approval of UTA. 

 

10.3 Consultant shall be solely responsible for making payments to subcontractors, and such payments shall 

be made within thirty (30) days after Consultant receives corresponding payments from UTA. 

 

10.4 Consultant shall be responsible for and direct all Work performed by subcontractors . 

 
10.5 Consultant agrees that no subcontracts shall provide for payment on a cost-plus-percentage-of-cost basis. 

Consultant further agrees that all subcontracts shall comply with all applicable laws. 
 

ARTICLE 11.0  

Key Personnel 
 

11.1 Consultant shall provide the key personnel as indicated in Consultant’s Proposal (or other applicable 
provisions of this Contract), and shall not change any of said key personnel without the express written 

consent of UTA. 

 
ARTICLE 12.0 

Suspension of Work 
 

12.1 UTA may, at any time, by written order to Consultant, require Consultant to suspend, delay, or interrupt 
all or any part of the Work called for by this Contract. Any such order shall be specifically identified 

as a “Suspension of Work Order” issued pursuant to this Article. Upon receipt of such an order, 

Consultant shall immediately comply with its terms and take all reasonable steps to minimize the 
incurrence of further costs allocable to the Work covered by the order during the period of Work 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



7 

 

stoppage. 
 

12.2 If a Suspension of Work Order issued under this Article is canceled, Consultant shall resume Work as 
mutually agreed to in writing by the parties hereto. 

 

12.3 If the Suspension of Work causes an increase in Consultant’s cost or time to perform the Work, UTA’s 
Project Manager or designee shall make an equitable adjustment to compensate Consultant for the 

additional costs or time, and modify this Contract by Change Order. 
 

ARTICLE 13.0 

Termination for Convenience; Termination for Cause and Default Remedies 
 

13.1 UTA shall have the right to terminate this Contract at any time if directed to do by the Utah 
legislature or public funding becomes unavailable to complete the project. UTA shall provide at least 

60 days advance written notice of its intent to terminate and the reasons for doing so. A period of 
notice longer than 60 days will be provided if reasonably possible under the circumstances. If this 

Contract is terminated for convenience, UTA shall pay Consultant its costs and a reasonable profit on 

work performed up to the effective date of the termination notice, plus costs reasonably and necessarily 
incurred by Consultant to effect such termination. UTA shall not be responsible for anticipated profits 

based on Work not performed as of the effective date of termination.  Consultant shall promptly submit 
a termination claim to UTA. If Consultant has any property in its possession belonging to UTA, 

Consultant will account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner UTA directs. 

 
13.2 If Consultant materially fails to perform any of its obligations under this Contract, and such failure is 

not cured or a cure initiated to the satisfaction of UTA within ten (10) days after receipt of written 
notice from UTA, UTA may, at its discretion: 

 

A. Terminate this Contract (in whole or in part) for default and complete the Work using other 
contractors or UTA’s own forces, in which event Consultant shall be liable for all incremental 

costs so incurred by UTA; 
B. Pursue other remedies available under this Contract (regardless of whether the termination 

remedy is invoked); and/or 

C. Except to the extent limited by this Contract, pursue other remedies available at law.  
 

Upon receipt of a termination notice as provided above, Consultant shall (i) immediately discontinue 
all Work affected (unless the notice directs otherwise); (ii) deliver to UTA all data, drawings and other 

deliverables, whether completed or in process; and (iii) if Consultant has any property in its possession 
belonging to UTA, account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner UTA directs. Consultant shall 

remit a final invoice for all services performed and expenses incurred in full accordance with the terms 

and conditions of this Contract up to the effective date of termination. UTA shall calculate termination 
damages payable under this Contract, shall offset such damages against Consultant’s final invoice, and 

shall invoice Consultant for any additional amounts payable by Consultant (to the extent termination 
damages exceed the invoice). All rights and remedies provided in this Article are cumulative and not 

exclusive. 

 
13.3 If UTA terminates this Contract for any reason, Consultant shall remain available, for a period not 

exceeding 90 days, to UTA to respond to any questions or concerns that UTA may have regarding the 
Work completed by Consultant prior to termination.   

 
ARTICLE 14.0 

Information, Records, and Reports; Audit Rights 

 
14.1 Consultant shall retain all books, papers, documents, accounting records and other evidence to support 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



8 

 

any cost-based billings allowable under the Project Addendum(s) (or any other provision of this 
Contract). Such records shall include, without limitation, time sheets and other cost documentation 

related to the performance of labor services, as well as subcontracts, purchase orders, other contract 
documents, invoices, receipts or other documentation supporting non-labor costs. Consultant shall also 

retain other books and records related to the performance, quality or management of this Contract 

and/or Consultant’s compliance with this Contract. Records shall be retained by Consultant for a period 
of at least six (6) years after completion of the Work, or until any audit initiated within that six-year 

period has been completed (whichever is later). During this six-year period, such records shall be made 
available at all reasonable times for audit and inspection by UTA and other authorized auditing parties 

including, but not limited to, the Federal Transit Administration. Copies of requested records shall be 
furnished to UTA or designated audit parties upon request. Consultant agrees that it shall flow-down 

(as a matter of written contract) these records requirements to all subcontractors utilized in the 

performance of the Work at any tier. 
 

ARTICLE 15.0 
Findings Confidential 

 

15.1 Any documents, reports, information, or other data and materials available to or prepared or assembled 
by Consultant or subcontractors under this Contract are considered confidential and shall not be 

made available to any person, organization, or entity by Consultant without consent in writing from UTA. 
 

15.2 It is hereby agreed that the following information is not considered to be confidential: 

 

A. Information already in the public domain; 

B. Information disclosed to Consultant by a third party who is not under a confidentiality obligation; 
C. Information developed by or in the custody of Consultant before entering into this Contract; 

D. Information developed by Consultant through its work with other clients; and 
E. Information required to be disclosed by law or regulation including, but not limited to, subpoena, 

court order or administrative order. 

 
ARTICLE 16.0 

General Indemnification and Insurance  
 

16.1 Consultant shall protect, release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless UTA and its trustees, officers, 

employees and agents (hereinafter collectively “Indemnitees”) against and from any and all claims, 
demands, suits, losses, costs and damages of every kind and description, including attorneys’ fees 

and/or litigation expenses (hereinafter collectively “Claims”), brought or made against or incurred by 
any of the Indemnitees resulting from or arising out of the negligent acts or omissions of Consultant, 

its subcontractors or anyone employed directly by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of them 

may be liable in conjunction with this Contract or any Work performed hereunder. If an employee of 
Consultant, a subcontractor, anyone employed directly by any of them or anyone for whose acts any 

of them may be liable has a claim against UTA or another Indemnitee, Consultant’s indemnity obligation 
set forth above will not be limited by any limitation on the amount of damages, compensation or 

benefits payable under any employee benefit acts, including workers’ compensation or disability acts. 
 

16.2 NEITHER PARTY WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, 

RELIANCE, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES OR LOST OR IMPUTED PROFITS OR LOST DATA EVEN IF ADVISED 
OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. OTHER THAN WITH RESPECT TO FEES PAID OR PAYABLE 

BY CUSTOMER EACH PARTY’S TOTAL LIABILITY FOR ALL CLAIMS ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH 
ALL AGREEMENTS WILL BE LIMITED TO DIRECT DAMAGES IN AN AMOUNT EQUIVALENT TO THE 

FEES PAID OR PAYABLE TO VIA UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.  Customer must bring all claims and causes 

of action within six (6) months of their being discovered or one (1) year after expiration or termination 
of the Order out of which the claim arises, whichever occurs first.  The limitations and exclusions in 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



9 

 

this Section 16.2 apply to all claims or causes of action under whatever theory brought and regardless 
of whether a party was advised of the possibility of the claim.   

 
16.3 For the duration of this Contract, Consultant shall maintain at its own expense, and provide proof of 

said insurance to UTA, the following types of insurance: 

 
A. MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMITS OF INSURANCE:  Contractor shall provide coverage with 

limits of liability not less than those Stated below.  An excess liability policy or umbrella liability 
policy may be used to meet the minimum liability requirements provided that the coverage is 

written on a “following form” basis. 
 

1. Commercial General Liability – Occurrence Form 

Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage and broad form contractual liability 
coverage: 

 General Aggregate $4,000,000 

 Products – Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000 

 Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000 

 Each Occurrence $2,000,000 

 
a. The policy shall be endorsed to include the following additional insured language: "The 

Utah Transit Authority shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability 

arising out of the activities performed by, or on behalf of the Contractor". 
 

2. Automobile Liability 
  Bodily Injury and Property Damage for any owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles used 

in the performance of this Contract: 

 Combined Single Limit (CSL) $5,000,000 
 

a. The policy shall be endorsed to include the following additional insured language: "The 

Utah Transit Authority shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability 
arising out of the activities performed by, or on behalf of the Contractor, including 

automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Contractor". 
 

3. Worker's Compensation and Employers' Liability 

 Workers' Compensation Statutory 

 Employers' Liability  

o Each Accident $500,000 
o Disease – Each Employee $500,000 

o Disease – Policy Limit $500,000 
 

a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation against the Utah Transit Authority. 
b. This requirement shall not apply when a contractor or subcontractor is exempt under 

UCA, AND when such contractor or subcontractor executes the appropriate waiver form. 

 
B. ADDITIONAL INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS:  The policies shall include, or be endorsed to 

include, the following provisions: 
 

1. On insurance policies where the Utah Transit Authority is named as an additional insured, 

the Utah Transit Authority shall be an additional insured to the full limits of liability 
purchased by the Consultant. Insurance limits indicated in this agreement are minimum 

limits.  Larger limits may be indicated after the consultant’s assessment of the exposure 
for this contract; for their own protection and the protection of UTA. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



10 

 

2. The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance and non-contributory with 
respect to all other available sources. 

 
C. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION:  Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of 

this Contract shall provide the required coverage and shall not be suspended, voided or 

canceled except after thirty (30) days prior written notice has been given to the Utah Transit 
Authority, except when cancellation is for non-payment of premium, then ten (10) days prior 

notice may be given.  Such notice shall be sent directly to the Utah Transit Authority ATTN: 
Teressa Picket, 669 West 200 South Salt Lake City, Utah 84101. 

 
D. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS:  Insurance is to be placed with insurers duly licensed or 

authorized to do business in the State and with an “A.M. Best” rating of not less than A- VII.  

The Utah Transit Authority in no way warrants that the above-required minimum insurer rating 
is sufficient to protect the Contractor from potential insurer insolvency. 

 
E. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE:  Contractor shall furnish the Utah Transit Authority with 

certificates of insurance (ACORD form or equivalent approved by the Utah Transit Authority) 

as required by this Contract.  The certificates for each insurance policy are to be signed by a 
person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. 

 
All certificates and any required endorsements are to be received and approved by the Utah 

Transit Authority before work commences.  Each insurance policy required by this Contract 
must be in effect at or prior to commencement of work under this Contract and remain in effect 

for the duration of the project.  Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this 

Contract or to provide evidence of renewal is a material breach of contract. 
 

All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the Utah Transit Authority 
ATTN: Teressa Picket, 669 West 200 South Salt Lake City, Utah 84101.The Utah Transit 

Authority project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the certificate of 

insurance.  The Utah Transit Authority reserves the right to require complete, certified copies 
of all insurance policies required by this Contract at any time.  DO NOT SEND CERTIFICATES 

OF INSURANCE TO THE UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITYS CLAIMS AND INSURANCE 
DEPARTMENT. 

 

F. SUBCONTRACTORS:  Contractors’ certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as additional 
insureds under its policies or Contractor shall furnish to the Utah Transit Authority separate 

certificates and endorsements for each subcontractor.  All coverages for subcontractors shall 
be subject to the minimum requirements identified above. Sub-contractors maintaining 

separate insurance shall name Utah Transit Authority as an additional insured on their policy.  
Blanket additional insured endorsements are not acceptable from sub-contractors.  Utah 

Transit Authority must be scheduled as an additional insured on any sub-contractor policies. 

 
G. APPROVAL:  Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in this Contract 

shall be made by the Office of General Counsel or the Claims and Insurance Department, whose 
decision shall be final.  Such action will not require a formal Contract amendment, but may be 

made by administrative action. 

 

16.4 Consultant warrants that this Contract has been thoroughly reviewed by its insurance agent, broker 

or consultant, and that said agent/broker/ consultant has been instructed to procure for Consultant the 
insurance coverage and endorsements required herein. 

 

16.5 UTA, as a self-insured governmental entity, shall not be required to provide insurance coverage for the 
risk of loss to UTA premises and improvements or equipment owned by UTA. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



11 

 

ARTICLE 17.0 
Other Indemnities 

 
17.1 Consultant shall protect, release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless UTA and the other Indemnitees 

against and from any and all Claims of any kind or nature whatsoever on account of infringement of 

third party intellectual property relating to Consultant’s performance under this Contract. If notified 
promptly in writing and given authority, information and assistance, Consultant shall defend, or may 

settle at its expense, any suit or proceeding against UTA so far as based on a claimed infringement 
and Consultant shall pay all damages and costs awarded therein against UTA due to such breach. In 

case any portion of the Work is in such suit held to constitute such an infringement or an injunction is 
filed that interferes with UTA’s rights under this Contract, Consultant shall, at its expense and through 

mutual agreement between the UTA and Consultant, either procure for UTA any necessary intellectual 

property rights, or modify Consultant’s services or deliverables such that the claimed infringement is 
eliminated. 

 
17.2 Consultant shall: (i) protect, release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless UTA and the other 

Indemnitees against and from any and all liens or Claims made or filed against UTA or upon the Work 

or the property on which the Work is located on account of any labor performed or labor, services, and 
equipment furnished by subcontractors of any tier; and (ii) keep the Work and said property free and 

clear of all liens or claims arising from the performance of any Work covered by this Contract by 
Consultant or its subcontractors of any tier. If any lien arising out of this Contract is filed, before or 

after Work is completed, Consultant, within ten (10) calendar days after receiving from UTA written 
notice of such lien, shall obtain a release of or otherwise satisfy such lien. If Consultant fails to do so, 

UTA may take such steps and make such expenditures as in its discretion it deems advisable to obtain 

a release of or otherwise satisfy any such lien or liens, and Consultant shall upon demand reimburse 
UTA for all costs incurred and expenditures made by UTA in obtaining such release or satisfaction. If 

any non-payment claim is made directly against UTA arising out of non-payment to any subcontractor, 
Consultant shall assume the defense of such claim within ten (10) calendar days after receiving from 

UTA written notice of such claim. If Consultant fails to do so, Consultant shall upon demand reimburse 

UTA for all costs incurred and expenditures made by UTA to satisfy such claim. 
 

ARTICLE 18.0 
Independent Contractor 

 

18.1 Consultant is an independent contractor and agrees that its personnel will not represent themselves as, 
nor claim to be, an officer or employee of UTA by reason of this Contract. Consultant is responsible to 

provide and pay the cost of all its employees' benefits. 
 

ARTICLE 19.0 
Prohibited Interest 

 

19.1 No member, officer, agent, or employee of UTA during his or her tenure or for one year thereafter shall 
have any interest, direct or indirect, including prospective employment by Consultant in this Contract or 

the proceeds thereof without specific written authorization by UTA. 
 

ARTICLE 20.0 

Dispute Resolution 
 

20.1 The parties shall attempt to informally resolve all claims, counterclaims and other disputes through the 
escalation process described below. No party may bring a legal action to enforce any term of this 

Contract without first having exhausted such process. 
 

20.2 The time schedule for escalation of disputes, including disputed requests for Change Order, shall be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



12 

 

as follows: 
 

Level of Authority 
 

    

Time Limit 

UTA’s Project Manager/Consultant’s Project Manager Five calendar days 

UTA’s Chief Communications and Marketing Officer, 
Consultant’s/Consultant’s Chief Strategy Officer  

Five calendar days 

 

UTA’s Executive Director/Consultant’s CEO 

 
 

 

Five calendar days 

Unless otherwise directed by UTA’s Project Manager, Consultant shall diligently continue performance 
under this Contract while matters in dispute are being resolved. 

 

20.3 If the dispute cannot be resolved informally in accordance with the escalation procedures set forth 
above, then either party may commence legal action in accordance with the venue and law provisions 

of this Contract. If mutually agreed, the parties may also submit the dispute to arbitration or mediation. 
 

ARTICLE 21 
Successors and Assignees 

 

21.1 Consultant shall not assign, sublet, sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any interest in this 
Contract without prior written approval of UTA, and any attempted transfer in violation of this 

restriction shall be void. 
 

ARTICLE 22.0 

Nonwaiver 
 

22.1 No failure or waiver or successive failures or waivers on the part of either party in the enforcement 
of any condition, covenant, or article of this Contract shall operate as a discharge of any such condition, 

covenant, or article nor render the same invalid, nor impair the right of either party to enforce the same 
in the event of any subsequent breaches by the other party. 

 

ARTICLE 23.0 
Notices or Demands 

 
23.1 Any formal notice or demand to be given by one party to the other shall be given in writing by one of 

the following methods: (i) hand delivered; (ii) deposited in the mail, properly stamped with the required 

postage; (iii) sent via registered or certified mail; or (iv) sent via recognized overnight courier service.  
All such notices shall be addressed as follows: 

 
If to UTA:                                                        with a required copy to: 

Utah Transit Authority                                       Utah Transit Authority 

ATTN: Teressa Pickett                                       ATTN: Legal Department 
669 West 200 South                                         669 West 200 South 

Salt Lake City, UT 84101                                   Salt Lake City, UT 84101 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



13 

 

If to Consultant:  
River North Transit LLC 

95 Morton Street, 3rd Floor 

New York, NY 10014 
Legal-nyc@ridewithvia.com 

 

23.2 Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given, and shall be effective, on delivery to the notice 

address then applicable for the party to which the notice is directed; provided, however, that refusal 
to accept delivery of a notice or the inability to deliver a notice because of an address change which 

was not properly communicated shall not defeat or delay the giving of a notice. Either party may 
change the address at which such party desires to receive written notice by providing written notice 

of such change to any other party. 

 
23.3 Notwithstanding Section 23.1, the parties may, through mutual agreement, develop alternative 

communication protocols to address change notices, requests for information and similar categories of 
communications.  Communications provided pursuant to such agreed means shall be recognized as 

valid notices under this Contract. 

 

ARTICLE 24.0 
Contract Administrator 

 
24.1 UTA’s Contract Administrator for this Contract is Teressa Pickett or designee. All questions and 

correspondence relating to the contractual aspects of this Contract should be directed to said 
Contract Administrator, or designee. 

 

ARTICLE 25.0 
General Provisions 

 
25.1 Neither this Contract nor any interest herein may be assigned, in whole or in part, by either party 

hereto without the prior written consent of the other party, except that without securing such prior 

consent, either party shall have the right to assign this Contract to any successor or to such party by 
way of merger or consolidation or acquisition of substantially all of the entire business and assets of 

such party relating to the subject matter of this Contract, provided that such successor shall expressly 
assume all of the obligations and liabilities of such party under this Contract, and provided further, that 

such party shall remain liable and responsible to the other party hereto for the performance and 
observance of all such obligations. 

 

25.2 This Contract shall be interpreted in accordance with the substantive and procedural laws of the State of 
Utah. Any litigation between the parties arising out of or relating to this Contract will be conducted 

exclusively in federal or state courts in the State of Utah and Consultant consents to the jurisdiction of 
such courts. 

 

25.3 The headings of the articles, clauses, and sections of this Contract are inserted for reference purposes 
only and are not restrictive as to content. 

 

25.4 The parties enter in to this Contract for the sole benefit of the parties, in exclusion of any third party, 
and no third party beneficiary is intended or created by the execution of this Contract. 

 

25.5 Any provision of this Contract prohibited or rendered unenforceable by operation of law shall be 

ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



14 

 

provisions of this Contract. 

 

25.6 This Contract shall constitute the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the 
subject matter hereof, and shall supersede all offers, negotiations and other agreements with respect 

thereto.   

 

25.7 Any amendment to this Contract must be in writing and executed by the authorized representatives of 

each party. 

 

25.8 This Contract may be executed in any number of counterparts and by each of the parties hereto on 

separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all such 
counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.  Any signature page of this 

Contract may be detached from any counterpart and reattached to any other counterpart hereof.  The 
electronic transmission of a signed original of this Contract or any counterpart hereof and the 

retransmission of any signed facsimile transmission hereof shall be the same as delivery of an original. 

 

25.9 Provisions of this Contract intended by their nature and content to survive termination of this Contract 

shall so survive including, but not limited to, Articles 9, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20 and 25. 

 

ARTICLE 26.0 

Incorporated Documents 

 
26.1 UTA’s RFP UT 19-03043TP  including all federal clauses and other attachments, and Consultant’s 

Proposal, are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this Contract, except to the extent that such 
documents were changed or altered by subsequent negotiations as indicated by the terms of this 

Contract, including Exhibits A, B, C and D.  

 
ARTICLE 27.0 

Insurance Coverage Requirements for Consultant Employees 
 

27.1 The following requirements apply to the extent that: (i) the initial value of this Contract is equal to 

or in excess of $2 million; (ii) this Contract, with subsequent modifications, is reasonably anticipated 
to equal or exceed $2 million; (iii) Consultant has a subcontract at any tier that involves a sub-

consultant that has an initial subcontract equal to or in excess of $1 million; or (iv) any subcontract, 
with subsequent modifications, is reasonably anticipated to equal or exceed $1 million:  

 
A. Consultant shall, prior to the effective date of this Contract, demonstrate to UTA that Consultant 

has and will maintain an offer of qualified health insurance coverage (as defined by Utah Code 

Ann. § 17B-2a-818.5) for the Consultant’s employees and the employee’s dependents during the 
duration of this Contract. 

B. Consultant shall also demonstrate to UTA that subcontractors meeting the above-described 
subcontract value threshold have and will maintain an offer of qualified health insurance 

coverage (as defined by Utah Code Ann. § 17B-2a-818.5for the subcontractor’s employees and 

the employee’s dependents during the duration of the subcontract. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have made and executed this Contract as of the day and year first above 
written. 

 
 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



15 

 

Utah Transit Authority:    River North Transit, LLC: 

By_______________________    By_______________________ 

Name____________________    Name__Alex Lavoie_________ 

Title_____________________    Title__Manager____________ 

Date____________________    Date__July 2, 2019_________ 

 

By______________________     

Name____________________      

Title_____________________     

Date_____________________     

  

Approved as to Form and Content      

___________________       

Michael Bell 

Assistant Attorney General 

UTA Counsel      

  

 

                  

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A

7/2/2019



16 

 

Exhibit A 

The services to be provided pursuant to this agreement are the operation of a demand-responsive ride 

sharing service in a geographic area in the South Salt Lake County Region. The parties agree to put 

together a mutually agreed-upon Scope of Services based on the parameters included in RFP 19-

03043TP and included in Consultant’s Proposal by no later than August 15, 2019.  

The Scope of Services shall include, but not be limited to the following;  

 Exhibit B: Work Plan  

 Duration & Launch Date: target launch date* can only be guaranteed after Master Services 

Agreement is executed  

 Fees: pricing structure, including specifics generally aligned with the principles pricing 

proposal Consultant has previously provided 

 Optional Enhancements Services: additional features and product enhancements that can 

be added upon request  

 Service Parameters: service zone geographic boundaries (in accordance with Exhibit C), 

service days / hours, rider fare and payment structures, specifics about fleet and branding 

 Technology and Quality of Service Requirements: ride booking, trip characteristics, routing, 

passenger pick-up and drop-off, fare payment      

 Project Team: list of key Consultant employees who will provide services  

 Driver Partner Registration & Supply Management: details around sourcing independent 

contractor driver partners  

 Rider and Driver Partner Support: description of how drivers partners and riders can 

communicate with customer support  

 Marketing, Promotions, & Press: overview of plan and approach to marketing and 

promotions 

 Data Sharing & Reporting: itemized list of the data to be included in reports accessed / 

delivered to UTA 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



17 

 

Exhibit B: Work Plan 

Resources and Capabilities  

Via proposes to operate a turnkey on-demand microtransit service for South Salt Lake County that will 

better align customer demand with transit access, as well as attract new transit customers with flexible 

mobility options and top-shelf mobile applications. Our best-in-class ride aggregation and routing 

algorithms will group UTA customers traveling in similar directions, in real time. Trips will be delivered by 

local independent contractor drivers operating a fleet of co-branded Mercedes Metris vans (or other 

appropriate vehicle, per UTA’s preference) -- providing an extra layer of professionalism and attractiveness 

to the service. 

Resources: Via has built a team of full-time engineering professionals with deep experience in advanced 

algorithms, data science, digital mapping, database architecture, product management, and app 

development. To launch and operate new services, Via has built a team of full-time employees focused on 

operations, growth, member services, expansion, business development, and partner success. While Via is 

well capitalized and growing ambitiously, we carefully vet opportunities before pursuing them in order to 

ensure that they align with our business objectives and resources. We regard this opportunity to partner 

with UTA as a strategic priority for our public sector business and, as such, we will have access to the 

capabilities and resources required to launch and maintain a successful microtransit service. 

Since our founding in 2012, we have raised over $400 million from leading mobility and technology 

investors. Most recently, we closed a Series D funding round for over $250 million. Daimler AG (the parent 

company of Mercedes-Benz) led the Series D round and, as part of its sizeable investment, performed 

extensive due diligence on all aspects of Via.  

Capabilities: Via is the only on-demand transit company that offers a turnkey Transportation-as-a-Service 

(TaaS) solution as requested by UTA, which includes microtransit technology plus drivers, vehicles, and 

operations management. As part of our innovative approach, we customize our technology platform to the 

unique characteristics of each city we serve and apply our knowledge about transit optimization gained 

from providing rides across 16 countries. Further, our flexible fleet model allows us to add or remove 

vehicles in a manner that mirrors customer rider demand, hour-by-hour, and over longer periods of time.  

As illustrated in Project Team on page 9, we will assign to South Salt Lake County a team of launch and 

service support experts that will manage the successful deployment and operations of the pilot. After 

launch, our project managers will work closely with UTA to make any additional customizations to the 

County’s turnkey microtransit service. This process enables continuous improvement as the service 

matures.  

Integrations  

In this section, we demonstrate our experience and interest in all integration requests throughout the RFP, 

including routing, ride booking, trip planning, and fare payment systems and applications.  

Via is a leader in Mobility-as-a-Service (MaaS) models, which enable customers to seamlessly purchase 

multimodal transit services from a unified portal, such as a mobile application. To this end, Via has 

integrated with partner systems and applications in a variety of contexts, such as trip planning and fare 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



18 

 

payment. For example, Via has integrated with Transit App in New York, Chicago, and Washington, D.C., 

allowing riders to see on-demand transit journey times and costs alongside other transit options.  

In particular, we have significant experience providing integrated ticketing solutions and transit passes to 

ensure a seamless rider experience across different modes. For example, in Los Angeles, Via integrated 

with LA Metro’s TAP Card. In Sydney, Via has integrated with Transport New South Wales’ fare collection 

system -- OpalPay -- allowing passengers to pay for on-demand trips with the same payment card they use 

for all other local transit options. In Seattle, our integration with King County Metro’s Orca Card enables 

free transfers to the light rail service. We will evaluate similar integrations with UTA’s smart card for fare 

payment, FAREPAY, and mobile ticketing app, Go Ride, per UTA’s goals and requirements. 

We will work closely with UTA during the microtransit pilot to evaluate integration potential with existing 

and future UTA systems and third-party providers, as well as determine system design requirements and 

associated costs.  

Proposed Service Design  

In the section that follows, we address each aspect of the microtransit service described in Section 2.0 

Scope of Work. The customer journey map below demonstrates how a customer will initially learn about 

the microtransit service, experience an on-demand ride, and provide feedback to help inform our continuous 

improvement process.  

Use Cases: Via’s partners have leveraged our system for a variety of aims -- providing first- and last-mile 

connections to fixed transit stops and stations, replacing underperforming bus routes, providing coverage 

in areas without existing fixed-route service, and extending the hours of operation of existing bus services 

(for example, during off-peak or late-night hours, when fixed-route services are less efficient and more 

expensive to operate). In one example, Via partnered with the Capital Metropolitan Transportation Authority 

in Austin, TX to help phase out their deviated fixed route service with microtransit. By the final quarter of 

this one-year pilot, the service, Pickup, quadruped the daily ridership of the deviated fixed route service it 

replaced, while maintaining pickup times of just ten minutes and an average customer satisfaction of 4.8 

out of 5. Via was recently awarded a four-year contract to provide microtransit service in Austin at 

considerable scale.  

Our microtransit pilot for South Salt Lake County will initially focus on first mile/last mile trips to and from 

TRAX and FrontRunner stations, as well as local trips anywhere in the 65 square mile service zone, which 

includes key destinations like South Jordan and Draper Town Centers. Upon UTA’s request during the pilot, 

we can flexibly extend our service for late night and weekend coverage, as well as scale our microtransit 

service by increasing the number of vehicles or extending the zone.   

Draft Service Design: Via supports UTA’s chosen service design that covers 65 square miles and serves 

the communities of Herriman, Riverton, Draper, Bluffdale, as well as portions of Sandy and South Jordan. 

We address all service design parameters in the following sections.  

Hours of Operation: Via will provide microtransit service during the operating days and hours requested 

by UTA: Monday through Friday from 6am - 9pm, and reduced or no service on recognized UTA holidays. 

Via can easily and quickly expand operating hours and days of operations upon request by UTA.  

Projected Demand: As we describe in Vehicles on page 26, we propose to deploy 15 - 17 vehicles which 

we believe will best serve demand projections as stated in the RFP and achieve utilization rates of 2.5 - 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



19 

 

4.5. Utilization rates can fluctuate based on demand patterns, such as volume and location of customer 

requests.  

As riders become more familiar with the service and demand grows, the number of vehicles required to 

meet demand and maintain a high level of service will also increase. Via has estimated fleet size 

requirements by comparing South Salt Lake County’s zone size and population with similar zones among 

our nearly 40 live services. By identifying services with similar characteristics like population density, 

employment density, and mobility characteristics (such as demand for parking or vehicle ownership), we 

have made baseline assumptions around demand growth and required fleet size to achieve quality of service 

requirements as described in Trip Characteristics on page 27.  

Personnel: Through our independent contractor model, we will partner with all personnel required to 

operate and maintain the microtransit vehicle fleet. Our project team and customer support staff will 

manage administration of the service.  

Drivers: Via has a comprehensive set of initial safety checks we use when onboarding new drivers and 

ongoing evaluation procedures we use to continuously evaluate driver-partner performance. Via intends 

to partner with 1099 independent contractor drivers. For each driver applicant, we first confirm the 

following criteria:  

 Driver's license minimum history: 1 year  

 Driving record: no major incidents in the past seven years, no driving with a suspended or 

revoked license in the past three years, and no more than one moving violation within the past 

year. 

 Criminal record: No felonies in the past 7 years 

 Drug and alcohol testing: Via is experienced complying with requirements regarding drug and 

alcohol testing. In past deployments, we have conducted both pre-employment and random 

testing in addition to testing for probable cause and accident response.  

As part of the onboarding process, all drivers will participate in comprehensive training and an intensive 

“Introduction to the Via System,” including: 

 Basics of the Via Platform, including how rides are assigned and an overview of the rider 

experience 

 How to use the Via Driver App 

 Customer service tips, including how to handle tricky situations 

 Guidelines for safe and attentive driving addressing harsh braking, stop skipping, route 

skipping, unauthorized stops, etc. 

 Safety and emergency instructions, including how to handle accidents and major incidents 

We continuously make sure that we have the up-to-date and valid records of each driver: 

 Personal (DMV) driver’s license 

 Professional driver’s license (if applicable) 

 Vehicle professional license (if applicable) 

Additionally, we closely monitor driver performance and have several feedback systems in place: 

 Real-time text and phone support, allowing riders to report any driver issues to live support  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



20 

 

 Weekly driver rating report (including rider feedback, on-time performance, etc.) 

 Accident reporting and follow-up protocol, with disciplinary action and disaffiliation if needed 

 Incident (customer complaint) reporting and follow-up protocol, with disciplinary action and 

disaffiliation if needed 

Drivers transporting UTA paratransit eligible customers: Via is an experienced provider of ADA-

compliant paratransit services, including wheelchair transport services, and our paratransit drivers 

undergo additional screening and training as required by each community. For UTA, our paratransit 

drivers must: 

 Maintain a current commercial driver’s license as required in accordance with Utah law  

 Receive training for assisting those with disabilities according to CTAA’s RASS program  

 Pass a background check as required in Utah Code 62A-2-120(1)(a)(iv) 

 Receive approval for their initial background screening application according to Rule R501-14, 

utilizing the standards described in Utah Code 62A-5-103.5(5) 

 Review, sign, and comply with the DSPD Code of Conduct on an annual basis  

Maintenance Personnel: Via’s reputable leasing partner will manage fleet provision, maintenance, and 

storage.  

Administrative Personnel: Via will provide all administrative personnel required to manage and support 

the service, including our project managers and our main customer support center in Lehi, UT. Our 

customer support center in Lehi includes team leads, trainers, quality assurance, and support agents, 

who provide both live and offline support across all major channels (phone, in-app live chat, email, and 

social).  

Vehicles: We propose to deploy 15 - 17 Mercedes Metris 2018 vans. Via will also provide WAVs, which will 

be blended with the conventional fleet, and dispatched using the same app platform. For this service, Via 

proposes that 10-20% of the fleet are WAVs. Through our partnerships experience, we have found that 

the Metris has emerged as a consistent rider and driver favorite. The Metris is right-sized and has a 

comfortable and durable interior, easily accommodating a driver and 6 adults. Further, the Metris is 

accessible. The vans have electric sliding doors on both sides of the vehicle and seating formats that allow 

easy boarding and alighting. Vehicles can be easily retrofitted to accommodate wheelchairs and provide 

ADA-compliant trips. Finally, the Metris is fuel-efficient -- vans achieve up to 21 MPG in cities, compared to 

about 3 MPG for conventional city buses.   

Technology and Quality of Service Requirements: Below, we describe how we will meet and exceed 

UTA’s microtransit platform requirements.  

UTA Ride Booking Requirement Via Capability 
 

A consumer-facing smartphone 

application for a fully automated 
scheduling, dispatching and 

reserving demand responsive 

transit service. 

Via’s intuitive, easy-to-use Rider App matches users in real-time 

with the supply of available seats across the entire fleet, 
considering thousands of possible combinations in a matter of 

seconds before proposing a ride. The Rider App seamlessly 

connects with our end-to-end system, which includes powerful, 
fully automated routing and matching algorithms and 

dispatching tools. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



21 

 

A concierge service interface for 
UTA staff to book a trip on behalf of 

a customer for customers who do 

not have or do not choose to use a 
smart phone. 

Via is fully accessible to those without smartphones. South Salt 
Lake County customers without smartphones will have the 

ability to call our local customer support center in Lehi, UT to 

quickly book rides.  
Should UTA prefer, we also can provide a concierge service 

interface that would enable UTA staff to book trips on behalf of 
customers. In the Via Operational Controls (illustrated in 

Technical Approach on page 34), our Lehi dispatchers have the 
ability to book rides on behalf of customers in just a few clicks. 

If important to UTA, we can provide access to the Via 

Operational Controls for UTA to book rides on behalf of 
customers.  

Ability for caretakers to book a trip 

for select customers with 
disabilities, as determined by UTA 

By calling our Customer Support Center, caretakers will have the 

ability to book rides for select customers with disabilities. 

An intake system which is capable 
of intelligently pooling customer 

pick-ups and drop-offs 

Via’s platform was purpose-built to intelligently pool customer 
pickups and drop-offs. After a passenger selects their pickup 

and drop-off location on the Rider App (or through a 

dispatcher), our algorithms consider thousands of possible 
combinations in seconds in order to maximize ride sharing. Via 

provides the most powerful pooling infrastructure in the world. 
Based on publicly available data, we know that we are even two 

to three times more efficient -- in terms of rides per vehicle hour 

-- than Uber and Lyft. 

Ability to transport minors traveling 

with or without an adult as per UTA 
policies 

 

Our standard terms in our consumer and TaaS cities allow 

children between 13 and 17 to ride unaccompanied by an adult if 
they receive parental consent. We are open to discussion with 

UTA concerning the payment policy and age of minors to best 

accommodate the Agency’s needs. Further, we can configure the 
ability for certain +1s, such as children under 5, to ride for free 

with an adult.  

Customer access to account and 
ride history (when utilizing a 

smartphone application)  

Riders have the ability to review their account and ride history on 
the Rider App. These options are accessed on a user-friendly 

menu on the left side of the screen. Riders can also view ride 
receipts received by email.  

 

UTA Required Trip 

Characteristics 

Via Capability 

Pooled rides of 1 to 6 passengers. The Mercedes Metris seats up to 6 passengers and our shared 
ride platform will intelligently aggregate riders traveling in the 

same direction.  

Maximum wait time for pickup: 25 
minutes. 

Via can flexibly configure a maximum wait time constraint in our 
microtransit system.  

Average wait time for pickup: 15 
minutes or less. 

We expect our proposed fleet of 15 - 17 vehicles will meet the 
15 minute average wait time requirement.  

Percent of ride requests completed: 

80% or higher. 

Via expects to complete at least 80% of ride requests. To 

anticipate demand, the Via system gathers data from every ride 
request and, over time, learns how demand will change across 

the service zone and across the day.  

Average walk distance to stop: 0.10 
miles. 

With our proposed fleet, we expect to meet the average walking 
distance requirement of 0.10 miles.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



22 

 

Maximum walk distance to stop: 
0.25 miles. 

Via will configure a maximum walk distance constraint of 0.25 
miles.  

Maximum total trip time from 

boarding to alighting: Customer 
experience is an acceptable 

alternative to driving a personal 
vehicle. 

Via’s platform was purpose-built to provide shared rides that are 

acceptable alternatives to driving a personal vehicle or riding a 
taxi. When assigning a new ride request, our system considers 

the potential detours for onboard passengers.  

Equivalent service standards and 

pick-up wait times for WAV 
requests. 

Via will provide an equivalent level of curb-to-curb service for 

WAV requests. Riders can indicate the need for a wheelchair 
accessible vehicle (WAV) by simply adjusting the “Wheelchair 

Accessibility” toggle in the Rider App (riders booking by phone 

can simply convey their need for a WAV to a dispatcher, who 
will make a permanent note in the rider’s account). The Via 

Rider App supports all of the core accessibility features offered 
by the iOS and Android operating systems including VoiceOver, 

Adaptive Font Size and Switch Control, and Talkback. For non-
smartphone users, Via’s technology is configured to allow a 

dispatcher to book rides on behalf of riders, allowing users 

without smartphones to use the service over the phone.  

 

UTA Routing Requirement Via Capability 
 

A dynamic routing algorithm able to 
combine trips that generates pick-

up and drop-off locations as well as 

vehicle routing. 

Our dynamic routing and matching algorithms aggregate 
passengers traveling in the same direction and generate pickup 

and drop-off locations in real-time. Our algorithms intelligently 

determine the most efficient route for each ride based on all 
relevant factors. 

Scheduled service points are not a 

requirement for the pilot at this 
time. 

Although scheduled rides are not a UTA requirement for this 

pilot, Via’s platform can simultaneously manage both scheduled 
and on-demand rides, enabling riders to book either ride type 

from the Rider App (or dispatch hotline). 

Provide corner-to-corner service for 
customers for operational 

efficiencies (requiring customer to 
walk certain distances is 

acceptable). 

Via provides a corner-to-corner service where customers could 
be asked to walk a block or two to or from a particular location -

- or “virtual bus stop” -- for their pickup or drop-off, which 
enables more efficient routing and lower trip times. We will work 

with UTA to define the descriptions and locations of our virtual 
bus stops. 

Provide curb-to-curb service from 

the nearest accessible building 
entrance for select customers with 

mobility difficulties (to be 

determined by UTA). 

Via can offer curb-to-curb service from the nearest accessible 

building entrance for select customers with mobility difficulties. 
Across the entire service, Via uses a combination of corner-to-

corner and curb-to-curb services based on individual rider needs 

and local conditions, effectively balancing system efficiency and 
user experience. 

Ability to add passengers to a route 
in progress. 

 

As described in UTA Ride Booking Requirement on page 26, our 
algorithms add passengers to routes in real-time, efficiently 

aggregating riders traveling in the same direction.  

Maximum time added based on 
reroute to pick-up passengers: 

Customer experience is not more 

than 5 minutes late from the 
quoted time. 

We can configure our platform to cap the time a shared ride 
reroutes, or detours, each passenger’s trip. Accordingly, we will 

adjust this “detour threshold” to limit additional trip time to 5 

minutes or less than the quoted time.  
 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



23 

 

 

UTA Passenger Pickup and Drop-off 
Requirement 

Via Capability 
 

Safety for all users (including bicyclists and 

pedestrians) to be prioritized in all passenger 
pick-up locations (vendors should not pick up or 

drop off passengers in bike lanes or other areas 
that affect the safety of bicyclists or pedestrians). 

Our sophisticated service design tools allow us to 

designate permissible pickup and drop-off 
locations. We will work closely with UTA to obtain 

all necessary data to designate stops that do not 
endanger bicyclists or pedestrians.    

Maximum driver wait time for passenger pickup: 3 

minutes 
 

In the Driver App, we can configure how long 

drivers must wait for passengers at the 
designated pickup location. When a driver arrives 

at the passenger’s pickup location, the driver 

presses an “I’m Here” button on the Driver App. 
After a set amount of time, the driver can mark 

the rider as a no-show. We can configure this 
parameter to three minutes. Additionally, riders 

will receive text reminders that their vehicle has 
arrived and the vehicle may depart soon if they 

are nearing the maximum wait time.  

Customers to see pickup and drop-off locations 
and trip routing via smartphone app. 

When a ride is booked, our Rider App displays a 
map that visualizes the real-time movement of the 

assigned vehicle to the pickup location, and also 

displays a dynamically updated ETA above the 
pickup location on the map. After boarding the 

vehicle, the map shows the vehicle’s route to the 
drop-off location and dynamically updates as the 

ride progresses. Riders are also provided with 
walking directions in the app to pick up points, 

and from drop-off points to their final destination. 

If necessary, customers to communicate directly 
with driver to coordinate pick-up. 

After a rider is matched with a driver, the rider 
can call the driver in the Rider App by pressing a 

phone icon at the bottom of the screen to 

coordinate pickup.  

Coordinated connections with UTA paratransit 

services. 

Via will coordinate connections with UTA 

paratransit services and will bring experience 

coordinating with paratransit services in other 
deployments. For example, Via integrated with 

the Arlington’s paratransit system, Handitran, by 
connecting paratransit drivers with Via’s Driver 

App.  

 

UTA Fare Payment Requirement Via Capability 
 

Inclusion of UTA fare products transferable to 

other UTA services and modes. 

As described in more detail in Integrations on 

page 13, Via has multiple ways to enable 
multimodal transfers with the same fare payment. 

This can range from integration with UTA’s mobile 
ticketing app, Go Ride, and smart card, FAREPAY, 

to having riders simply show their electronic or 

printed ticket to the driver to receive a free 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



24 

 

transfer. Via will work with UTA to achieve its 
mode transfer objectives. 

Promotional or discounted fares for all riders 

during the pilot for customer acquisition. 

We can charge promotional or discounted fares 

for all riders during the pilot to support customer 
acquisition. We will work closely with UTA to 

determine the optimal fare amount to attract new 
riders.  

Fare structure that accommodates customer-

specific discounts (i.e. reduced senior rate). 

Via can charge different types of customers 

different fares, such as reduced senior and 
student rates, and can support fare discounts. We 

can do this in several ways: Customer Codes. 

Before their first ride, customers eligible for 
different fare types may enter a code into the Via 

app, which designates their account for a special 
fare class on any future ride, payable on a per-

ride basis. ViaPasses. Via can also enable different 
fare levels with the use of special ‘ViaPass’ options 

-- periodic subscriptions that allow participating 

customers to ride several times per day on a 
weekly or monthly basis (in Arlington, for 

example, Via riders can ride up to 4 times per day 
with a weekly Via pass).  

Payment to be verified/validated via smartphone 

or a physical ticket. 

The payment process is entirely automated. After 

passengers enter their credit card information in 
the Rider App, they are automatically charged for 

each trip on their smartphone. 

Fare revenue remitted to the agency or deducted 
from monthly billing. 

Via will process payments and remit fare revenue 
according to UTA, via its preferred fund transfer 

methodology. 

Auditable fare revenue collection process; flow of 
funds to be certified. 

Our fare collection process is auditable and the 
flow of funds will be certified.  

Ability to accept unbanked customers without 

access to debit or credit cards. 

For those without credit or debit cards, the Via 

system allows users to pay for service directly 
through the Rider App using a prepaid cash card 

(which allows those without a bank account to 
add cash to an electronic account). We can also 

implement a voucher system through which riders 
can sign up using pre-purchased ride credit. 

Alternatives to cash fare collection (UTA currently 

collects cash on all of its local services. The 
agency is open to testing alternatives to cash 

collection for this pilot program). 

As described directly above, prepaid cash cards or 

a voucher system could provide UTA alternatives 
to cash fare collection. We can test other methods 

as well during the pilot program and look forward 

to collaborating with UTA to determine a process 
for testing alternative payment methodologies.  

 

Customer Service: Via will provide high-touch human support staffed by our local Lehi, UT customer 

service headquarters. Our vetted and trained dispatchers will proactively monitor any irregularities in the 

service, and respond to customer inquiries by phone and text during all service hours. These dispatchers, 

who have undergone intensive training and honed their skills providing customer support to Via customers 

in our consumer markets and other partner deployments, will use Via's powerful and intuitive web-based 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



25 

 

tools to intervene when service anomalies occur -- or to simply book a ride for a customer without a 

smartphone. 

Vendor Administrative Offices and Vehicle Storage Facilities: Our local operations office for this 

service will be our customer service headquarters in Lehi (address provided in Section 2: Respondent 

History on page 6). A reputable vehicle leasing partner will manage fleet provision, maintenance, and 

storage. We will work closely with our leasing partner to best utilize UTA’s vehicle storage facilities, fueling 

facilities, Voyager Fuel Card, and other existing assets to achieve efficiencies and reduce operating costs.  

Incidentals: We have studied the insurance requirements outlined in the RFP and are confident that we 

comply with these. Via will provide a copy of our insurance certificates as required in the Sample Contract. 

Vehicle fuel, repair, and maintenance will be managed by our leasing partner.  

Regulations Compliance: Via complies with Title VI and ADA regulations and has worked diligently with 

partners to ensure transit access for all. Via abides by all federal regulations concerning the operation of a 

transportation service, and will meet comparable requirements for legally and safely operating a 

transportation service in the state of Utah. If required, we will take the necessary steps to register as a 

Transportation Network Company (TNC) with Utah’s Department of Commerce. 

Plans: Our standard operating procedures include the onboarding, training, and monitoring of our driver 

partners as described in Personnel on page 25. Additionally, our dispatchers in Lehi participate in an 

intensive, three-week customer service course before they can be approved to monitor live service. We 

provide our service implementation plan in Deployment Schedule and GANTT Chart below.  

Iterations: We demonstrate our comprehensive approach to iterating the microtransit service in Section 

6: Iterations on page 39.  

Marketing: Our extensive marketing plan can be found in Section 5: Marketing Plan on page 37.   

Metrics and Evaluation: To properly evaluate the microtransit pilot, Via will collect all metrics described 

in the RFP’s Section 2.0 Scope of Work on a monthly basis and will report these metrics to UTA on a regular 

basis, including in a quarterly report. Our quarterly reports will include proposed changes and iterations for 

the next reporting period. Via’s reporting and analytics module is both comprehensive and customizable; 

we can capture additional KPIs, and adjust the cadence of our reporting, as UTA’s objectives evolve.  

Data: UTA will fully own South Salt Lake County data. We will provide UTA with complete and easily 

digestible reports -- including granular data of every ride request. A more detailed discussion on our data 

and analytics capabilities can be found in Section 8: Data Sharing on page 41.  

UTA Provisions: Via will work closely with UTA to identify synergies and best utilize all provided UTA 

resources.  

Technical Approach  

In the pages that follow, we present the technical components of Via’s end-to-end system -- including 

routing and matching algorithms, rider and driver mobile applications, and backend monitoring tools -- that 

aggregates people traveling from multiple origins to multiple destinations in a highly efficient way, providing 

the convenience and flexibility of a custom ride at a much lower cost than conventional services.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



26 

 

Dynamic routing & matching algorithms 

Via’s powerful routing and matching algorithms optimize the balance between maximizing fleet utilization 

and providing each individual passenger with a high-quality experience. Our algorithm utilizes a Via-

patented technology called “virtual bus stops” (VBS), which use stopping points always within a short 

walking distance of the customer’s pickup request location. The use of VBS maximizes the overall system 

efficiency and enables Via’s dynamic routing service model.  

Rider App 

Via’s intuitive, easy-to-use Rider App matches users in real-time with the supply of available seats across 

the entire fleet.  

Registration   

A new rider creates an account by inputting an email address, password, and payment method. Riders can 

also opt to skip entering payment information during sign-up and wait until they book their first trip. 

Pickup and Drop-off location selection 

When opening the app, users will clearly see the geofenced zone in which service is offered and will be 

invited to set a pickup. Moving the pickup pin beyond this zone greys out the map and displays an “Out of 

Zone” message, so users always know where their on-demand service is available.  

Riders will also select the number of people traveling in their party at the time of booking. If a rider wishes 

to add or subtract passengers to their party, they will tap the “+” or “-” icon within the app (the maximum 

number of riders is configurable based on fleet capacity and preference.  

Trip Proposal and Confirmation 

Via’s system will automatically assign the new trip to the best-suited vehicle based on a number of factors.  

Within seconds of making a trip request, the customer will be presented with a trip proposal containing the 

vehicle’s estimated time of arrival (ETA), the pickup and drop-off addresses, the trip fare, and the estimated 

drop-off time.  

To confirm a trip, users will select a ride from the list of options and tap the large “Book Via” button at the 

bottom of the screen. Upon accepting a trip proposal, the app will immediately display a box at the bottom 

of the screen containing the vehicle’s ETA, pickup address, cost, ride credit, and vehicle information (vehicle 

model, color, license plate number, and more).  

Fare Collection 

The Via system allows users to pay for service directly through the app using a range of payment options 

including credit cards, transit passes, vouchers, and more.  

Fare Structure  

Via's software platform has the ability to apply different fare structures such as transfers and concession 

fares. We provide an intuitive platform that enables customers to pay different fares for trips of different 

types. Via has robust APIs and a talented tech team who can work on integrations to enable advanced fare 

and transfer features if required. 

Receipts 

Via will automatically email an itemized receipt at the end of each ride. Receipts will include the rider’s 

name, party size, trip date and time, pickup and drop-off locations, distance traveled, and the driver’s 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



27 

 

name. Via can configure the data fields as per partner requirements. The details of all rides are stored in 

the History screen, which can be accessed from the main menu of the app.  

Rider Support and Feedback 

Customers will be able to provide real-time and post-trip feedback. A rider who requires immediate support 

can simply reply to the SMS message received when the vehicle was two minutes away or the message 

received when the vehicle reached the pickup point.  

After every trip, riders will have the option to assign a star rating to their experience and choose from a 

menu of configurable, pre-selected descriptions correlated to the star rating (or manually input additional 

detail). Precise user feedback will provide insight into rider preferences, not only enabling dispatchers to 

respond to particular issues but also suggesting how the service model itself could be improved (i.e. should 

additional vehicles be added? Should the service zone be adjusted? etc.).  

Via’s Driver App 

After a ride is booked, the driver will be notified and immediately routed to the pickup. The Driver App will 

display the turn-by-turn directions at the top of the app, and the entire route to the pickup will be 

highlighted in blue. Should a driver miss a turn, the system will automatically recalculate the most efficient 

route to the pickup while, at the same time, considering the driver’s other pickups and drop-offs.  

For each pickup, drivers will see the pickup intersection, the rider’s first name, and the total number of 

passengers in the party. Drivers communicate with the system in a straightforward, easily learnable way. 

The system automatically presents the relevant actions and choices to the driver at the appropriate time, 

adjusting after the driver responds to the prompt.  

Administrative Tools  

Via’s map-based interface, the Visualizer, provides a comprehensive real-time overview of service. From 

the Visualizer, dispatchers can track vehicles and riders and their dynamically updated routes in real time. 

Dispatchers are able to access driver / vehicle and customer account information and histories from within 

Via’s Operational Controls, or the “VOC”.  

Software support & maintenance 

Following the launch of a new service, partners receive ongoing support and maintenance and the same 

system optimization deployed in Via’s own services. As Via services operate 24-hours a day, a rotating 

technical manager is on call for partners at all times.  

As an agile software developer, we constantly work to improve our product and systems in response to 

service performance metrics and based on user feedback. Via carefully plans and structures all new 

additions and improvements to our software. The deployment cycle for partners is synchronized with Via’s 

cycle of development sprints and deployment. 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



28 

 

Exhibit C: Proposed Microtransit Service Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



29 

 

Exhibit D: PRICING 

 

Total Compensation: The not-to-exceed total compensation for performance of the entire scope of 

services covered by this Agreement and all Addendum(s) which includes a base year and two additional 

option periods is seven million one hundred twenty-seven thousand eight hundred seventy-five dollars 

($7,127,875)*.  

Base Year General Description of cost elements (estimates): 

Not-to-Exceed (NTE) Pricing for the base year is $2,500,000 as shown below: 

Marketing: $350,000 (UTA may elect to perform all or some of this work in-house) 

Driver pay & vehicle cost: $1.35mm - $1.50mm 

Local operations support: $37,500 

Customer support: $97,500 

Other pilot operations: $340k - $360k 

Fare revenue discount (if applicable): ($115k) - ($130k) 

The specific pricing and milestone payment schedule shall be included in the Project Addendum(s) 

Additional Option Periods  

Two additional option periods are included in the contract which may be exercised upon mutual 

consent of both parties. 

Not-to-Exceed (NTE) Pricing for the option periods is shown below: 

  Option Period 1: $2,257,500 million* 

  Option Period 2: $2,370,375 million* 

Total Contract Value 

 The total NTE contract value for the base year plus two option periods = $7,127,875 million* 

*The prices for Option Period 1 and Option Period 2 are subject to the following conditions: 

 A mutual re-validation/adjustment of the option period pricing will occur at the end of the base 

period based upon changes made to the option period Scope of Service to be provided.  

 Option period pricing stated above includes operation and technology expenses only as defined 

within the Scope of Services. Any Consultant support for marketing and associated expenses for 

option periods are subject to mutual consent of both parties. 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



30 

 

SAMPLE Project Addendum(s) 

 

1. Detailed description of services to be provided: 

 

 

2. Detailed price broken down according to task: 

(Consultant to provide alternative pricing based on fixed price and also fixed 

price incentive arrangements) 

 

3. Milestone Billing Schedule: 

(Payments shall be made by UTA upon satisfactory completion of described 

milestones)  

 

 

4. Period of Performance at overall project and task levels 

  

5. Effective Date of Addendum: _______________________________________ 

 

a. The Effective Date shown above shall also be deemed to be the Authorization 

to Proceed Date for the Project described in this Addendum. 

 

 

 

6. OTHER 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have made and executed this Addendum as of the day and year shown below. 

UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY:    River North Transit, LLC 

By_______________________    By_______________________ 

Name____________________    Name____________________ 

Title_____________________    Title_____________________ 

Date____________________    Date_____________________ 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



31 

 

By______________________     

Name____________________      

Title_____________________     

Date_____________________     

  

Approved as to Form and Content      

___________________       

Assistant Attorney General 

UTA Counsel      

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1FECDBF-D4C6-4ED3-AA07-928C3E1AFA1A



����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	�����������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	

/01123�45678 9:; <=><?<@AB4C8DE6FD�/:FD7C8BECF0E:G:8D HIJ<HJ?H<@4568K:�LEM:ELE7K7862<?NO 4568K:�LEM:E<?NOPPQ12C6M<=><?<@R =R<=><?<@R <SRT7K5D�U672�/7K862�BE7CE7D3B78:DC1�V8K78::E78KL8�W023�?NX�?H<=�QAY�:8D:E:M�78DC�6�FC8DE6FD�Z7D5�B78:DC1�V8K78::E78K�DC�1EC[7M:�1EC\:;;7C862�;:E[7F:;�\CE�K:8:E62�78;D6226D7C8�68M�E:126F:G:8D�C\�FCG1C8:8D;�\CE�68M�C8�]:562\�C\�D5:�QD65�AE68;7D�Y0D5CE7D3�\CE�D5:�27K5D�E672�DE68;7D�;7K862�1E7CE7D3�;3;D:G�68M�DE6\\7F�;7K862�78D:E\6F:S�QAY�ZC02M�8CZ�27̂:�DC�:_:EF7;:�D5:�\7E;D�C1D7C8�3:6EX�Z57F5�Z6;�CE7K786223�FC8D:G126D:M�6D�D5:�]:K78878K�C\�D5:�1ECF0E:G:8DS�A5:�6GC08D�8CD>DC>:_F::M�\CE�68�6MM7D7C862�3:6E�7;�̀a=XHHHS
B7F̂:DDX�A:E:;;6 A786�b6ED5C2CG:Zb:K78878KIJ?NJ?H<= V8M78KIJ<J?H<@/VUcd4V/ UeB? IHOf <?.���������������	 9:; gC 	 U:8:Z62�A:EG;O�GCE:�C8:>3:6E�C1D7C8;�6[6726]2:



���������
	
������	���������
� �������������
�� ���������	���������
����� ���������� ���
�������������
����������  ��������
������������!�"��������������������
����!� ��������
�������������#
�����������
�����
����$�#
�����!�����
���	���� 	#�������%����	���&
����$�'�
���� (
�$����!�(
�$�����
���)�������������������*
�����
##����+�������������#������!� ��������������#������,�-������+�����������������������*
������
##���!�"�������
��+����"����� ��
�����	����+�����.����/���+���!�0�$��	��#������1�/��������
����$��##��/��������!� ����
����$�1�/���� ���##��/��������!�1��2��##��/��������!�3�$������$���3�$��� 4��5�'�6�3$�5�1735����	���+����	���+���� ����
��/��4���������(�����##��/��1�*
����� (�����##��/��4��89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

F=GA=�HG=;IJKJLMKN O<P�HG=;IJKJLMLMQR<G<ERGS�F;E=R9<TA9EUA;:;<=VLWMXMMMYMM VWZXMMMYMM V[LZXMMMYMMV VWZXMMMYMM\@S9GP ];> 9̂H;@;<P;<=�9<�=_;�<U:̀ ;A�9a�_9UA>�=_G=�bRSS�̀;�<;;P;P�a9A�=_R>�b9AcX�̀U=�<9=�=9�;dE;;P�VWZXMMM�G<<UGSSeY f<;g=R:; C;EUAAR<hijMMYZM[[NYKLk9EGS ];> 9̂VWZXMMMYMM ];> 9̂ ];> 9̂ Ĵ?];> 9̂ Ĵ??@@A9BGS�F;E=R9< l;SSX�mRc;];> 9̂ F=;;S;X�lAeG<];> 9̂];> 9̂lGA=_9S9:;bX�8_AR>=R<G�m kGm9AGX�n;aaA;ekGm9AGX�n;aaA;e�oGE=R<hp m;e;AX�qRSSRG:�F=;B;<TAR<=�=_R>�@Gh;



���������	
�	�	�������������������������������

	��

������������� !��"��"��!����"!�#�!�$%&$'$(! ��)*+,�-./01+,/�23�456+27�47/�62�82760916�:;0//</76�+,�*/0/=>�/76/0/?�6*+,�@@@@�?9>�23�@@@@@@@@A�BCDEA�=>�97?�=/6F//7�G):H�)I:JKL)�:G)H4IL)MA�9�5N=O+1�6097,+6�?+,60+16�20;97+P/?�N7?/0�6*/�O9F,�23�6*/�K696/�23�G69*A�Q*/0/+7936/0�RG):ST�97?�ULJ-)4U�-JVLJ--IKA�Q*/0/+7936/0�R8276091620STW�� I-8L):XK��YH-I-:KA�27�ZNO>�B[A�BCD\�G):�/76/0/?�+762�9�12760916�62�502]+?/�5023/,,+279O�,/0]+1/,�320�;/7/09O�+7,69OO96+27�97?�0/5O91/</76�23�12<527/76,�320�97�27�=/*9O3�23�6*/�G69*�)097,+6�:N6*20+6>�QG):T�320�6*/�O+;*6�09+O�6097,+6�,+;79O�50+20+6>�,>,6/<�97?�60933+1�,+;79O�+76/0391/̂�97?��YH-I-:KA�G):�0/_N+0/,�6*/�/./01+,/�23�456+27�M/90�D̂�97?����YH-I-:KA�G):�97?�6*/�8276091620�72F�?/,+0/�62�<2?+3>�6*/�82760916�:;0//</76�9,�,/6�3206*�*/0/+7W�� 84J)I:8)�:VI--̀ -J)��J4YA�)H-I-a4I-A�27�6*/�,696/?�I/1+69O,A�F*+1*�90/�+712052096/?�*/0/=>�+7�0/3/0/71/A�97?�320�97?�+7�127,+?/096+27�23�6*/�<N6N9O�12]/7976,�97?�9;0//</76,�*/0/936/0�,/6�3206*A�6*/�<N6N9O�=/7/3+6,�62�6*/�5906+/,�62�=/�?/0+]/?�*/0/�302<A�97?�320�26*/0�]9ON9=O/�127,+?/096+27A�6*/�0/1/+56�97?�,N33+1+/71>�23�F*+1*�6*/�5906+/,�91b72FO/?;/A�+6�+,�*/0/=>�9;0//?�9,�32OO2F,c��DW��)/0<c��)*/�12760916�+,�/.6/7?/?�320�9�5/0+2?�23�27/�QDT�>/90�,2�9,�62�502]+?/�320�6*/�12<5O/6+27�23�9OO�F20b�72�O96/0�6*97�ZNO>�DA�BCBCW�����BW��82<5/7,96+27�97?�a//,c��)*/�J26d62d-.1//?�F20b�,125/�=N?;/6�,*9OO�=/�+710/9,/?�=>�ef\ACCCA�320�9�6269O�502g/16�9<2N76�23�e[B\ACCCW��[W��46*/0�)/0<,�I/<9+7�+7�-33/16c��:OO�26*/0�6/0<,�97?�127?+6+27,�0/<9+7�N71*97;/?W����LJ�YL)J-KK�YH-I-4aA�6*/�5906+/,�*/0/62�*9]/�/./1N6/?�97?�?/O+]/0/?�6*/�:;0//</76�9,�62�6*/�?96/�F0+66/7�9=2]/W�� �"�!� ��"h�"����"hi� � � � j!#k�!�#"��!�#j!k���!li��mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm� � � � mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm�J9</�� � � � � � � YW�K6/]/�̀/>/0�)+6O/�@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@� � � � L76/0+<�-./1N6+]/�n+0/1620��n96/@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@�� � � � n96/�@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@���� � � � � � � � �opqrstu�vwpxryz�{|}tw~�}t���z�����



���������	
�	�	�������������������������������

���

���������������������������� � � � � � � � ���������� !"#�� � � � � � � � �$!%&�'(%)*+!",�'&&!-%)�� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �*+%����������������������� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �.(()/0%��*#�+/�1/) �*"���/"+%"+2���� � � � � � � � ���������������������������� � � � � � � � 3!-$*%4�5%44�6%,*4��/�"#%4�&/)�78.��











































����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	�����������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	
�������

/01123�45678 9:; <=>?@AABC4D8EF6GE�/:GE7D8CFDG0F:H:8E I@J<IJ?I<A4568K:�LFM:FLF7K7862 4568K:�LFM:FNOP@ QR12D6MS:F7M768�4L�T<�UDF�VD6FM�W11FDX62Y1MU�ZJ[DFH;J568\ ?Y??SV]:̂:F�VD_�̀2M:F�4D08E3�/0FX:3S:F7M768�̀8K78::F78KRBW�GD8EF6GE:M�a7E5�S:F7M768�̀8K78::F78K�ED�1FDX7M:�CFDU:;;7D862�̀8K78::F78K�;:FX7G:;�78G20M78K�bc/d�;0FX:378Kd�H61178Kd�68M�F7K5E>DU>a63�;011DFE�UDF�E5:�GDFF7MDF�1F:;:FX6E7D8�DU�E5:�[FD8Ee088:F�fDFE5�̀_E:8;7D8�E5FD0K5�]:̂:F�68M�VD_�2̀M:F�4D08E7:;Y�RBW�62;D�16FE8:F:M�a7E5�E5:�g7X7;7D8�DU�]6E:F�e:;D0FG:;�Zg]e:h�UDF�F7K5E>DU>a63�1F:;:FX6E7D8�UDF�6�;56F:M�GDFF7MDF�E5FD0K5�VD_�̀2M:F�4D08E3Y�B57;�G568K:�DFM:F�7;�UDF�6MM7E7D862�;GD1:�DU�6MM78K�B7E2:�/:6FG5:;�ED�S:F7M768i;�GD8EF6GEY�S:F7M768�a722�F:j0:;E�68M�GDDFM786E:�E5:�1F:16F6E7D8�DU�B7E2:�/:6FG5:;�DF�CF:27H786F3�e:1DFE;�6;�F:j0:;E:M�̂3�RBWd�UDF�E5D;:�16FG:2;�F:j07F78K�6Gj07;7E7D8Y�W2;Dd�E5:�E7E2:�78UDFH6E7D8�a722�5:21�;011DFE�E5:�;0FX:3DF�68M�:8X7FD8H:8E62�G2:6F68G:�:UUDFE;Y�B5:�E7E2:�;:6FG5:;�a722�̂:�GDH12:E:M�̂3�S:F7M768i;�;0̂GD8EF6GEDFd�k7GlH68�m68M�B7E2:�4DH1683�68M�F:X7:a:M�̂3�S:F7M768�̀8K78::F78K�̂:UDF:�;:8M78K�ED�E5:�1FDn:GE�E:6H�68M�6Gj07;7E7D8�6K:8E�UDF�0;:�78�8:KDE76E7D8;Y�B5:�GD;E�;127E�UDF�E57;�G568K:�DFM:F�7;�oNAdpII�UDF�RBW�68M�oPAdOII�UDF�g]e:Y
C7Gl:EEd�B:F:;;6 k62�qD58;D8V:K78878K<J?<J?I<A 8̀M78K@JPIJ?I?</̀ erc4̀ / e[sRPI I.���������������	 9:; fD/E6FE�g6E: 8̀M�g6E:



���������	
����������� ������������
��� �����
����	
��������������� ��������� ������������������������� ���� !��� ����
���������������"�!��� ����
������
��������#�� ����
������������������#�� ���"��
����	
��� 	�#�������
$���	
��%�������&
���� '�������"�'��������
����(����� ���
��������)�������##
���*�
����
� �����#�������"�!��� ��
� �����#�������+�,�������
*�� ���
����������� ����)��������##
��"�-���� �������*����-���� �!��������	����*�����.����/���*���"�0�����	
�#������1�/�����
��������##�
/���������"� �
�������1�/����!���##�
/���������"�1��2��##�
/���������"�3���������
�����3������� 4��5�&�6�3��5�
��173�	 ��*� ������/��4����
���'
�����##�
/���1�)������ '
�����##�
/���4���89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

FG<H<EGHI�J;E=G9<KA9ELA;:;<=MNNOPQRRSRR MTTPRRRSRR MUNVPQRRSRRM MW@I9HX Y;> Z9[<;\=G:; C;ELAAG<]OR\VQORSÛTQ_ J̀KQORa9EHI Y;> Z9MUNVPQRRSRR Y;> Z9 Y;> Z9 Zb?Y;> Z9 Zb??@@A9BHI�J;E=G9< c;IIP�̀Gd;Y;> Z9 J=;;I;P�cAeH<Y;> Z9Y;> Z9f9g<>9<P�hHI�C i;a9A;==9P�̀HAe�a9LG>;i;̀ ;A>P�̀GEgH;I�fH:;> WIGjHAAGP�kG:j;AIe�lHE=G<]mKAG<=�=gG>�@H];

















����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	�����������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	
�������

/01123�45678 9:; <=><?@=AB4C8DE6FD�/:FD7C8BECF0E:G:8D HIJ<HJKH<L4568M:�NEO:ENE7M7862 4568M:�NEO:EP@<Q RS12C6O/TU�A6;V�NEO:E�WI=E:X<YCE�ZC6EO[1OY�\J]CEG;J568Ô <[@_̀N8>4622�_678D:868F:�/D6F3�68O�T7DZ:FV�A6;V�NEO:E�WI=/D6F3�68O�T7DZ:FVSAa�FC8DE6FD:O�b7D5�/D6F3�68O�T7DZ:FV�YCE�6�D5E::�3:6E�C8>F622�G678D:868F:�FC8DE6FD�C8�<KJPHJKH<=�DC�1:EYCEG�1E:>FC8;DE0FD7C8�;:EX7F:;c�FC8;DE0FD7C8�G686M:G:8D�68O�6�X6E7:D3�CY�G678D:868F:�D6;V;�C8�SAad;�DE68;7D�;3;D:G[��a;�16ED�CY�D5:�C8>F622�FC8DE6FDc�D5:�FC;D;�6;;CF76D:O�b7D5�D5:�FC8DE6FDCEe;�G686M:G:8D�D:6G�\BECf:FD�_686M:EJ4C8;DE0FD7C8�_686M:Eg�6E:�8CD�78F20O:O�78�D5:�D6;V�CEO:E;[�A57;�FC;D�7;�Z722:O�GC8D523�YCE�6FD062�5C0E;�bCEV:Oc�8CD�DC�:hF::O�@H�5C0E;�1:E�b::V[�A5:�i@LQcH@H�YCE�D57;�D6;V�CEO:E�FCX:E;�D5:�Db:2X:�GC8D5;�CY�KH<L[�A57;�:86Z2:;�SAa�DC�F61�G686M:G:8D�FC;D;�C8�D6;V�CEO:E;�68O�1ECX7O:;�Y022�D7G:�6FF:;;�DC�D5:�FC8DE6FDCEe;�G686M:G:8D�D:6G[��aYD:E�D5:�Z722�7;�E:F:7X:O�D5:�5C0E;�6E:�D5:8�;127D�01�DC�D5:�X6E7C0;�D6;V�CEO:E;�D56D�b:E:�bCEV:O�C8�O0E78M�D5:�GC8D5[�a;�16ED�CY�D57;�FC8DE6FD�;:FD7C8�D5:�FC8DE6FDCEe;�G686M:G:8D�D:6G�7;�62;C�6X6726Z2:�YCE�:G:EM:8F3�E:;1C8;:�68O�5:2178M�b7D5�FC8;DE0FD6Z727D3�E:X7:b;�YCE�Y0D0E:�D6;V�CEO:E;[��A5:�DCD62�FC8DE6FD�6GC08D�CY�iPKc<<LcHIL�\78F20O:;�iQHQcP<=�YECG�;:16E6D:�A6;V�NEO:E�WIL�1:8O78M�̀C6EO�611ECX62g�7;�G6O:�01�YECG�IL�D6;V�CEO:E;�;78F:�KH<I[�j6F5�D6;V�CEO:E�7;�FCX:E:O�Z3�G02D712:�1ECf:FD�Z0OM:D;�YECG�KH<Ic�KH<?�68O�KH<L[��A5:�NE7M7862�N8>4622�_678D:868F:�4C8DE6FD�b6;�78F20O:O�b7D5�D5:�̀C6EO�NY�AE0;D::;�G::D78M�16FV:D�C8�_63�KLc�KH<L�68O�F68�Z:�YC08O�6D�D5:�278V�Z:2Cbk��5DD1;kJJbbb[E7O:0D6[FCGJ>JG:O76J]72:;J̀C6EO>CY>AE0;D::;J̀C6EO>aM:8O6>Bl];JKH<LJ_63JKH<LmHQKLm4C8DE6FDm̀C6EOm_::D78M[6;5hn26o:8B7FV:DDc�A:E:;;6 l6X:�p68FCFV:̀M78878M<KJPHJKH<= j8O78M<KJP<JKH<LA6;V�NEO:E; q]BP= K@.���������������	 9:; rC 	 q:8:b62�A:EG;A5:�FC8DE6FD�G63�Z:�:hD:8O:O�YCE�DbC�6OO7D7C862�C8:�3:6E�D:EG;c�6D�SAad;�;C2:�C1D7C8[/D6ED�l6D: j8O�l6D:



���������	
����������� ������������
��� �����
����	
��������������� ��������� ������������������������� ���� !��� ����
���������������"�!��� ����
������
��������#�� ����
������������������#�� ���"��
����	
��� 	�#�������
$���	
��%�������&
���� '�������"�'��������
����(����� ���
��������)�������##
���*�
����
� �����#�������"�!��� ��
� �����#�������+�,�������
*�� ���
����������� ����)��������##
��"�-���� �������*����-���� �!��������	����*�����.����/���*���"�0�����	
�#������1�/�����
��������##�
/���������"� �
�������1�/����!���##�
/���������"�1��2��##�
/���������"�3���������
�����3������� 4��5�&�6�3��5�
��173�	 ��*� ������/��4����
���'
�����##�
/���1�)������ '
�����##�
/���4���89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

FG<H<EGHI�J;E=G9<KA9ELA;:;<=MNOPQRSPTNUVTT MSUWPTSTVTT MNRPOOUPTXUVTTM MSUWPTSTVTTY@I9HZ [;> \9]<;̂=G:; C;ELAAG<_H̀AG9L> H̀AG9L>a9EHI [;> \9MSUWPTSTVTT [;> \9 [;> \9 \b?[;> \9 \b??@@A9BHI�J;E=G9< c;IIP�dGe;[;> \9 J=;;I;P�cAfH<[;> \9[;> \9gH<E9EeP�hHBGZ�i gH<E9EeP�hHBGZ�i8L:G<>P�h9<HIZ�j 8L:G<>P�h9<HIZ�j�kHE=G<_lKAG<=�=mG>�@H_;



����������	�
���������
���
����������������

������������� �!"���������������#�$�%&'(�)*+,-./01*2314./��+*543+0�6�-./01*2314./�#7/78+9+/1�:++0��)��;�-��-���$�<7*4.20�=��++��1173>+?���@	A���AB���C���DE�F��
�
@������������	�
���������
���
�	A���
���C�	�
�GH���C�G�
I�����
�@�����A	
�JK
@�	
H�L��JM���C�N
��H���C�O	
G��BP�Q��E�L��
���
�M��A�R�S���TG���UV
@P�WV��E���@	A���AB���C���	A�X��
�R�
@������������	�
���������
���
���C�	A�YZ����C�GH�
@��
��TA�
@���RE���@��XK�XA��R�
@	A���AB���C���	A�
�AX��	R	����H�C�R	���
@��A�X�P�A�@�CK��P��KTX�AKT�X�	��P���C�
@���
��TA��XX�	��G���
�
@��I�B�	C��
	R	�C�@���	�E�����J���C���
���
��@���GH��Y�����A�R��IA[�\]̂�� _̀ abc�ad�_cefg̀c_��@��A�X��R�I�B�R��
@����AB���C����F��	A�	C��
	R	�C�	��hi@	G	
���j�N�X��R�O�BP�I@	�@�	A�@���GH��

��@�C���C�	���X��
�C�	�
�
@	A���AB���C��E��k]̂�� _̀ lcmnoc��@��NKGA
��
	����TX��
	��S�
��R��
@	A���AB�	A�S���TG���U�A
P�WV�pE��@��q�Z��K���X���
	�A�S�
�A�R��
@	A���AB�	A�S���TG���U�A
P�WV�pE��@��r	����J���X
�����S�
��R��
@	A���AB�	A�S���TG���U�A
P�WV�pE�s]̂�� ontb�_nt�beg̀c��@��X�	���R��
@	A�
�AB��C���	A����
�
��i���C�u�pvPV�VE�Q�Z	��A�I	���G��G	���C���T�
@�H�G�A	A�R��I�B��TX��
�C�
�C�
�E�w]̂�� xbbog̀xygogz{�ad�dcmcexo�̀oxn_c_��@	A���AB���C���C�A�|�C�A��
�}�~�@��B�JXX�	��G����	���KC��R�C������AA	A
�����RK�CA�I@	�@����K	��A�
@���XX�	��
	��R�
@��r�C��������KA�A��XX��C�C��A�hi@	G	
�S�
�
@������������	�
���������
���
E��QD�OQ�DhNN�O�hqh�rP�
@	A���AB���C���@�A�G�����i��K
�C�GH���J���C�
@����
���
����	
A��XX	�
�C���X��A��
�
	Z�����J���qJDNQ��J����qQ��[� ��� �����������������N�J���JDS�OQ��h��P�QD�E[�� ���H[���������������������������������������������������H[�����������������������������������OE�N
�Z����H��P�Q�
��	T�hi��K
	Z��S	���
�������������S�
������������������������������������������������u�VVPVVV��H[��������������������������������������������������S�
�[�� � � � � ���������SE�hCCH��KT	�AP��@	�R��X���
	�Y��RR	�������������������S�
������������������������������������������������u�VVPVVV��H[���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������S�Z	C������BP�S	���
��R�JAA�
�����Y�T��
������S�
��������������������������������������������������uvVPVVV�





��������	��
����	������ �	���������������������	�������� ������������������������	� ������ ��� ����������!��	��������"#��$	�"��	%&'(�)*�+,,�)�-&./�01&(2�3('4(�54(6*178*'4( +9,:;9,,,<������� =;>?@A :?@9BB+>C=<���������� )0D=EE:E,�)�%&'(�)*�F(*G1.48H'(I�54(6*178*'4( ?+=9,,,<���������� ?>:=A +E9@:C>@=<������������� )0D=;=JKL76�5M&1I'(I�JN7'O>�F(6*&..�&*�5G(*1&.�L76�0&1&IG :=,9,,,<���������� :>@BA B9@==>EE<��������������� %)P:B@5M&1I'(I�JN7'O>�F(6*&..&*'4(�&*�)Q�5G(*1&.�-7R EC+9,,,<���������� E>EBA @C9E@=>E=<������������� %)P:B@SG.*&�F(*G1.48H'(I�54(6*178*'4( :9+E?9,,,<������� :+>:=A B?9?E?>B+<������������� )0D=;=01&2G�51466'(I�DGO.&8GTG(*6 ;,,9,,,<���������� C>CEA =;9=B,>==<������������� )0D=?=@,:?�D&'.�DGO.&8GTG(*�U41H :9E,,9,,,<������� :+>E=A C:9?@E>B:<������������� )0D=;E)*1&V�5711G(* @,,9,,,<���������� :>?+A ?9E?,>,;<��������������� )0D,+CL76�)*4O�DGO.&8GTG(*6 @,,9,,,<���������� :>?+A ?9E?,>,;<��������������� %)P:EE9EB9C=W*MG1�)0D�P14XG8*6 E,,9,,,<���������� +>;+A @=9?CE>@,<������������� )0DY4*&. ���Z������������ �������[�������������



��������	��
������������	��������������	����	����������������������		�����	� ��!"���#$%&'�(�)*$+,&-�./01,&$�2%3%4,/ 565789:;::<�#$%&'�(�)*$+,&-�=03>$/?&$*03�2%3%4,/ 5957:@:;::<�����! A�BC�A�D��E�FGH�IJ=KL�#)J�./01,&$�2%3%4,/ 56M75:6;::<�FGH�IJ=KL�#)J�=03>$/?&$*03�2%3%4,/ 5957N5@;::<�����! A�OC�O�D��E�#)J�./01,&$�2%3%4,/�P*QQ,/,3&, M7RNR;::<������ :;R9S#)J�=03>$/?&$*03�2%3%4,/�P*QQ,/,3&, ITT@;::L<�������� U:;MRSV	��W�XX	�	��	 �CO��D��E����� �D��YFGH�Z,$,/[*3,>�$\,�]/*&,�$0�+,�Q%*/�%3Z�/,%>03%+̂,�+%>,Z�?]03�$\,�Q%&$�$\%$$\,�&0[+*3,Z�Z*QQ,/,3&,�*3�]/*&,�*>�<M76:8�0/�;5RS�\*4\,/�$\%3�$\,�J=K



��������	�
�������������
���� �������������������������� �����
�!��"����# �
��$������%���&'()*�+),-.)*/�0123 4567558����� 9:5;5 894<:9<5755=>)*�?@'>A�0B23 44C7558����� 9:5;5 89<4:9;5755DEFG�HIJKL�MNOJP�QRNO�ON�ST�TUVTTLTLW XYZZ[ZDE\EE���]����	�
�������������
���� ����������̂��
	������$������������&'()*�+),-.)*/�0123 45_7558����� 9:5;5 999:̀C57558�� 67;;=>)*�?@'>AaBb..(*�Bc'(-d>*->*�0B23 4947558����� 9:5;5 9̀4:C;57558�� <764DEFe�HIJKL�MNOJP�QRNO�ON�ST�TUVTTLTLW YGY[DYE\EEX�f���g��������h����	�
�������������
����&'()*�+),-.)*/�0123 44474C8����� 9:5;5 964:9567448��Bb..(*�Bc'(-d>*->*�0B23 49C7998����� 9:5;5 9C9:̀9;79;8��ijklmnkop�qrst�uvnwp�xyknz�{|yk�ky�}o�o~�oopop� �t����s����� ����gg�����g�������������̂�
	���������������
����]
�%�������h��
���������
��
�
	������	����
���g�
�����������f

1'>�)'>/�&A��+)*>�Bbb.>A0<a44a4�3 4�b��4



����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	�����������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	
�������

/01123�45678 9:; <=><?@=AB4C8DE6FD�/:FD7C8BECF0E:G:8D HIJ<HJKH<L4568M:�NEO:ENE7M7862 4568M:�NEO:EP@<Q RS12C6OB6M:;�TECG�/D6F3�68O�U7DV:FW�A6;W�NEO:E�XIL�TCE�Y @Z<[\N8>4622�[678D:868F:�/D6F3�68O�U7DV:FW�A6;W�NEO:E�XIL>\20:�]78:�̂E6O:�4EC;;78M;/D6F3�68O�U7DV:FWA6;W�NEO:E�XIL�>�SA_�FC8DE6FD:O�̀7D5�/D6F3�68O�U7DV:FW�TCE�6�D5E::�3:6E�C8>F622�G678D:868F:�FC8DE6FD�C8�<KJPHJKH<=�DC�1:ETCEG�1E:>FC8;DE0FD7C8�;:Ea7F:;b�FC8;DE0FD7C8�G686M:G:8D�68O�6�a6E7:D3�CT�G678D:868F:�D6;W;�C8�SA_c;�DE68;7D�;3;D:GZ��A57;�A6;W�NEO:E�7;�TCE�D5:�E:GCa62�68O�E:126F:G:8D�CT�D5:�\20:�278:�27M5D�E672�ME6O:�FEC;;78M;�6D�KIHH�/�68O�KH<�U�d�=L=H�/�68O�=HH�UZ��]7M5D�E672�ME6O:�FEC;;78M;�8::O�DC�V:�E:126F:O�:a:E3�<Q>KH�3:6E;Z�A57;�/D6D:�CT�̂CCO�e:167E�1ECf:FD�V:M68�78�KH<@Z�_22�CT�D5:�CE7M7862�gCED5J/C0D5�27M5D�E672�ME6O:�FEC;;78M;�̀:E:�:a6206D:O�68O�1E7CE7D7h:O�DC�E:126F:�D5C;:�78�GC;D�8::O�CT�E:126F:G:8D�6;�V0OM:D�622C̀ :OZ��A5:E:�56a:�V::8�KK�FEC;;78M;�E:126F:O�;78F:�KH<@�68O�D57;�D6;W�CEO:E�7̀22�D6W:�F6E:�CT�K�CT�D5:�E:G67878M�=Z��A5:�DCD62�FC8DE6FD�6GC08D�CT�iP<b=K@bHPL�j78F20O78M�D57;�D6;W�CEO:Ek�7;�G6O:�01�TECG�IL�D6;W�CEO:E;�;78F:�KH<IZ�l6F5�D6;W�CEO:E�7;�FCa:E:O�V3�G02D712:�1ECf:FD�V0OM:D;�TECG�KH<Ib�KH<?�68O�KH<LZ��A5:�NE7M7862�N8>4622�[678D:868F:�4C8DE6FD�̀6;�78F20O:O�̀7D5�D5:�\C6EO�NT�AE0;D::;�G::D78M�16FW:D�C8�[63�KLb�KH<L�68O�F68�V:�TC08O�6D�D5:�Se]�V:2C̀ m��5DD1;mJJ̀`̀ ZE7O:0D6ZFCGJ>JG:O76Jn72:;J\C6EO>CT>AE0;D::;J\C6EO>_M:8O6>Bon;JKH<LJ[63JKH<LpHQKLp4C8DE6FDp\C6EOp[::D78MZ6;5qr26s:8B7FW:DDb�A:E:;;6 o6a:�t68FCFW\:M78878M<KJPHJKH<= l8O78M<KJP<JKH<LA6;W�NEO:E; enBP= K@.���������������	 9:; gC 	 e:8:̀ 62�A:EG;A5:�FC8DE6FD�G63�V:�:qD:8O:O�TCE�D̀C�6OO7D7C862�C8:�3:6E�D:EG;b�6D�SA_c;�;C2:�C1D7C8Z/D6ED�o6D: l8O�o6D:



���������	
����������� ������������
��� �����
����	
��������������� ��������� ������������������������� ���� !��� ����
���������������"�!��� ����
������
��������#�� ����
������������������#�� ���"��
����	
��� 	�#�������
$���	
��%�������&
���� '�������"�'��������
����(����� ���
��������)�������##
���*�
����
� �����#�������"�!��� ��
� �����#�������+�,�������
*�� ���
����������� ����)��������##
��"�-���� �������*����-���� �!��������	����*�����.����/���*���"�0�����	
�#������1�/�����
��������##�
/���������"� �
�������1�/����!���##�
/���������"�1��2��##�
/���������"�3���������
�����3������� 4��5�&�6�3��5�
��173�	 ��*� ������/��4����
���'
�����##�
/���1�)������ '
�����##�
/���4���89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

FG<H<EGHI�J;E=G9<KA9ELA;:;<=MNOPOOQPRSNTUU MVUVPNOWTUU MNOPWSXPUNYTUUM MZ[@I9H\KH];>�̂A_ XT_ ;̀> a9b<;c=G:; C;ELAAG<]XUcRNYNTWQYOS JdCNYNe9EHI ;̀> a9MVUVPNOWTUU ;̀> a9 ;̀> a9 af?;̀> a9 af??@@A9BHI�J;E=G9< g;IIP�hGi;;̀> a9 J=;;I;P�gAjH<;̀> a9;̀> a9kH<E9EiP�lHBG\�m kH<E9EiP�lHBG\�m8L:G<>P�l9<HI\�n 8L:G<>P�l9<HI\�n�oHE=G<]pRfOUfSUOY KAG<=�=qG>�@H];



On-Call Maintenance Contract # UT16-1846TP 

 

TASK ORDER NO. 79 

 

TASK ORDER NAME: 2700 S & 6960 S Grade Crossing Replacements for Light Rail 

 

PROJECT CODE: SGR393 40-7393.68912 

 

This Task Order No. 79 to the On Call Maintenance Contract is entered into by and between Utah 

Transit Authority (UTA) and Stacy and Witbeck, Inc. (Contractor) as of December 30th, 2016. 

 

This Task Order is part of the On Call Maintenance Contract and is governed by the terms thereof. 

 

The purpose of this Task Order is to specifically define the scope, schedule, lump sum price, and 

other terms applicable to the work identified herein.  

 

UTA and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

1.0  SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The scope of work for the Task Order #79 is identified in Exhibit 1 – Scope of Work, which is 

hereby attached and incorporated into this Task Order.  

2.0  SCHEDULE 

The Substantial Completion Date for this Task is December 31st, 2019. The Revenue Operations 

Dates for this Task is December 31st, 2019. The Final Acceptance Date for this Task is 

December 31st, 2019. 

3.0  LUMP SUM PRICE 

The price for this task order is a not to exceed $505,316.00. Invoices will be billed on monthly 

basis for work completed to date. 

4.0  APPLICABILITY OF FEDERAL CLAUSES 

This Task Order does ☐ does not ☒ [Check Applicable] include federal assistance funds which 

requires the application of the Federal Clauses appended as Exhibit D to the On Call Maintenance 

Contract. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Task Order has been executed by UTA and the Contractor or its 

appointed representative 

 

UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY:                     STACY AND WITBECK, INC.:   

 

By: _________________________________                By: ________________________  
        W. Steve Meyer, Interim Executive Director            Date 

                                            > $100,000 

By: _________________________________                Date:       
        D. Eddy Cumins, Chief Operating Officer                Date 

                                            < $100,000 

By:_________________________________                                               
             David Hancock, Director of Asset Management      Date  
                                             < $50,000 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C

6/17/2019

6/20/2019

6/20/2019



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



Task Order # 79 - 2700 S & 6960 Grade Crossing Replacements

Price Analysis

Stacy & Witbeck 2700 S Cost Estimate 245,207.00$ 

Stacy & Witbeck 6960 S Cost Estimate 260,109.00$ 

Total 505,316.00$ 

UTA 2700 S Independent Cost Estimate (ICE) 250,879.00$ 

UTA 6960 S Independent Cost Estimate (ICE) 254,092.00$ 

Total 504,971.00$ 

2700 S Difference (5,672.00)$    -2.26%

6960 S Difference 6,017.00$      2.37%

Net Difference 345.00$         0.07%

UTA determines the price to be fair and reasonable based upon the fact that

the combined difference in price is only $345 higher than the ICE's

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



2700 South Crossing Replacemet UTA Cost Estimate Date: 13-May-19

Prepared By: JBS

Design Type Rate/hr

PM/Programming/Simulation $175.00

Item Description Responsibility Qnty Unit Unit MH Total MH Unit Cost Total Price Engineering $125.00

Design Designer 0 Person 40 0 $125 $0 Construction PM $150.00

Quality Check Designer 0 Person 6 0 $125 $0 Construction-Labor $45.00

Document Control Designer 0 Person 3 0 $125 $0 Field Testing-Labor $95.00

0 Design Subtotal $0 Pickup Truck $18.00

Design Labor Fee Designer 1 Pct 11% - - $0.00 Backhoe $40.00

Contingency (including Con. Profit) Designer 1 Pct 10% - - $0 Bore Machine $85.00

TOTAL OVERHEAD COST $0 Const. Engineer $130.00

$0 Safety/Quality $100.00

Construction Estimate
General Conditions

Item Description Responsibility Qnty Unit Unit MH Total MH Unit Cost Total Price
Travel Contractor 0 EA 40 N/A $2,500 $0

Mobilization Contractor 1 LS N/A NA $12,500 $12,500

Over Time Labor Contractor 0 Person 48 0 $105 $0.00

Permitting Contractor 1 LS N/A N/A $1,000 $1,000.00

Traffic Control Contractor 2 EA N/A N/A $2,500 $5,000.00

Layout/Survey Contractor 2 Person 10 20 $130 $2,600

Quality/Safety Management Contractor 2 Person 20 40 $100 $4,000

Field Engineer/ Project Controls Contractor 1 Person 100 100 $130 $13,000

Construction Project Manager Contractor 1 Person 60 60 $150 $9,000

General Conditions Total $47,100

Material, Installation, and Field Testing

Item Description Responsibility Qnty Unit Unit MH Total MH Unit Labor Total Labor Unit Material Total Mat. Unit Equip. Total Equip. Total Price
Demolition of Existing Tubs Contractor 2265 sf 0.04 90.60 $45.00 $4,077.00 $1.00 $2,265.00 $210.00 $19,026.00 $25,368

Base Preparation/Installation Contractor 67 yd
3

1 67.44 $45.00 $3,035.00 $200.00 $13,488.89 $134.00 $9,037.56 $25,561

Temp Paving (AC) Contractor 75 sy 0.45 33.85 $45.00 $1,523.25 $15.00 $1,128.33 $112.00 $3,791.20 $6,443

Embedded Rail Construction Contractor 141 TF 1.25 176.46 $45.00 $7,940.63 $180.00 $25,410.00 $116.00 $20,469.17 $53,820

Ballast Track Construction Contractor 112 TF 0.25 28.08 $45.00 $1,263.75 $41.00 $4,605.67 $112.00 $3,145.33 $9,015

Final Paving (PCC) Contractor 118 sy 0.45 52.90 $45.00 $2,380.50 $134.37 $15,795.85 $112.00 $5,924.80 $24,101

Sidewalk Replacement Contractor 327 sf 0.05 16.35 $45.00 $735.75 $8.00 $2,616.00 $36.00 $588.60 $3,940

Curb and Gutter Replacement Contractor 36 LF 1 35.83 $45.00 $1,612.50 $12.00 $430.00 $36.00 $1,290.00 $3,333

Rail Welds (Thermite) Contractor 12 EA 2 24.00 $45.00 $1,080.00 $1,000.00 $12,000.00 $18.00 $216.00 $13,296

Rail Boot Contractor 141 TF 0.07 9.88 $45.00 $444.68 $30.00 $4,235.00 $18.00 $177.87 $4,858

General Field Labor/Material Hand. Contractor 3 Person 24 72.00 $45.00 $3,240.00 $200.00 $600.00 $174.00 $12,528.00 $16,368

Subtotals 607.40 $27,333.05 $82,574.74 $76,194.53 $186,102

Contractor Profit Contractor 1 Pct 5.25% $12,243.12

Contingency (including Con. Profit) Contractor 1 Pct 1.00% $2,454

SUBTOTAL CONSTRUCTION COST $247,900

Bonding Contractor 1 Pct 1% $2,479.00

Insurance Contractor 1 LS $500

CONSTRUCTION TOTAL $250,879

LOCATION GRAND TOTAL $250,879

Schedule of Rates

 Design Total

20190513 2700 South Xing Replacement-UTA ICE.xlsx

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



4'-11"

8'-0"

70
'-0

"

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



1'
-3

"

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



6960 South Crossing Replacemet UTA Cost Estimate Date: 14-May-19

Prepared By: JBS

Design Type Rate/hr

PM/Programming/Simulation $175.00

Item Description Responsibility Qnty Unit Unit MH Total MH Unit Cost Total Price Engineering $125.00

Design Designer 0 Person 40 0 $125 $0 Construction PM $150.00

Quality Check Designer 0 Person 6 0 $125 $0 Construction-Labor $45.00

Document Control Designer 0 Person 3 0 $125 $0 Field Testing-Labor $95.00

0 Design Subtotal $0 Pickup Truck $18.00

Design Labor Fee Designer 1 Pct 11% - - $0.00 Backhoe $40.00

Contingency (including Con. Profit) Designer 1 Pct 10% - - $0 Bore Machine $85.00

TOTAL OVERHEAD COST $0 Const. Engineer $130.00

$0 Safety/Quality $100.00

Construction Estimate
General Conditions

Item Description Responsibility Qnty Unit Unit MH Total MH Unit Cost Total Price
Travel Contractor 0 EA 40 N/A $2,500 $0

Mobilization Contractor 1 LS N/A NA $12,500 $12,500

Over Time Labor Contractor 0 Person 48 0 $105 $0.00

Permitting Contractor 1 LS N/A N/A $1,000 $1,000.00

Traffic Control Contractor 2 EA N/A N/A $1,500 $3,000.00

Layout/Survey Contractor 2 Person 10 20 $130 $2,600

Quality/Safety Management Contractor 2 Person 20 40 $100 $4,000

Field Engineer/ Project Controls Contractor 1 Person 100 100 $130 $13,000

Construction Project Manager Contractor 1 Person 60 60 $150 $9,000

General Conditions Total $45,100

Material, Installation, and Field Testing

Item Description Responsibility Qnty Unit Unit MH Total MH Unit Labor Total Labor Unit Material Total Mat. Unit Equip. Total Equip. Total Price
Demolition of Existing Tubs Contractor 2397 sf 0.04 95.88 $45.00 $4,314.60 $1.00 $2,397.00 $210.00 $20,134.80 $26,846

Base Preparation/Installation Contractor 82 yd
3

1 81.81 $45.00 $3,681.67 $200.00 $16,362.96 $134.00 $10,963.19 $31,008

Temp Paving (AC) Contractor 148 sy 0.45 66.50 $45.00 $2,992.50 $15.00 $2,216.67 $112.00 $7,448.00 $12,657

Embedded Rail Construction Contractor 122 TF 1.25 152.40 $45.00 $6,857.81 $180.00 $21,945.00 $116.00 $17,677.92 $46,481

Ballast Track Construction Contractor 113 TF 0.25 28.23 $45.00 $1,270.31 $41.00 $4,629.58 $112.00 $3,161.67 $9,062

Final Paving (PCC) Contractor 146 sy 0.45 65.75 $45.00 $2,958.75 $139.35 $20,360.67 $112.00 $7,364.00 $30,683

Sidewalk Replacement Contractor 0 sf 0.05 0.00 $45.00 $0.00 $8.00 $0.00 $36.00 $0.00 $0

Curb and Gutter Replacement Contractor 48 LF 1 47.75 $45.00 $2,148.75 $12.00 $573.00 $36.00 $1,719.00 $4,441

Rail Welds (Thermite) Contractor 12 EA 2 24.00 $45.00 $1,080.00 $1,000.00 $12,000.00 $18.00 $216.00 $13,296

Rail Boot Contractor 122 TF 0.07 8.53 $45.00 $384.04 $30.00 $3,657.50 $18.00 $153.62 $4,195

General Field Labor/Material Hand. Contractor 3 Person 18 54.00 $45.00 $2,430.00 $200.00 $600.00 $174.00 $9,396.00 $12,426

Subtotals 624.85 $28,118.43 $84,742.38 $78,234.18 $191,095

Contractor Profit Contractor 1 Pct 5.25% $12,400.24

Contingency (including Con. Profit) Contractor 1 Pct 1.00% $2,486

SUBTOTAL CONSTRUCTION COST $251,081

Bonding Contractor 1 Pct 1% $2,510.81

Insurance Contractor 1 LS $500

CONSTRUCTION TOTAL $254,092

LOCATION GRAND TOTAL $254,092

Schedule of Rates

 Design Total

20190514 6960 South Xing Replacement-UTA ICE.xlsx

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



60
'-0

"

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7D88FFBD-2639-4B9F-AEB7-E2AF9CFB410C



����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	�����������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	
�������

/01123�45678 9:; <=><?@=AB4C8DE6FD�/:FD7C8BECF0E:G:8D HIJ<HJKH<L4568M:�NEO:ENE7M7862 4568M:�NEO:EP@<Q RS12C6OA6;T�U?K�>�V:2D6�W8D:E2CFT78M�XC8M�X:6O�Y6D:E762�B0Z <[QPY\N8>4622�Y678D:868F:�/D6F3�68O�]7D̂:FT�A6;T�NEO:E�U?K>V:2D6�W8D:E2CFT78M�AE6FT_C/D6F3�68O�]7D̂:FTSÀ�FC8DE6FD:O�_7D5�/D6F3�68O�]7D̂:FT�aCE�6�D5E::�3:6E�C8>F622�G678D:868F:�FC8DE6FD�C8�<KJPHJKH<=�DC�1:EaCEG�1E:>FC8;DE0FD7C8�;:Eb7F:;c�FC8;DE0FD7C8�G686M:G:8D�68O�6�b6E7:D3�Ca�G678D:868F:�D6;T;�C8�SÀd;�DE68;7D�;3;D:G[�A57;�D6;T�CEO:E�7;�aCE�D5:�V:2D6�W8D:E2CFT78M�/1:F762�AE6FT_CET�BECF0E:G:8D�_57F5�78F20O:;�D5:�;1:F762�DE6FT_CET�;D::2c�:8F61;026D7C8c�̂CCD�68O�;D::2�D7:;[�A5:;:�6E:�622�2C8M�2:6O�7D:G;[�SÀ�7;;0:O�6�V7E:FD7C8�CE�̀0D5CE7e6D7C8�DC�BECF::O�fV̀ Bg�C8�PJLJKH<?�60D5CE7e78M�FC8DE6FDCE�/D6F3�68O�]7D̂:FT��DC�126F:�D5:�CEO:E�aCE�D5:;:�2C8M�2:6O�7D:G;�̂:aCE:�D5:�=h�:;F626D7C8�78�D5:�1E7F:�Ca�;D::2�_:8D�78DC�:aa:FD[��A5:�DCD62�aCE�D57;�D6;T�CEO:E�7;�iII?c???[HH�_57F5�̂E78M;�D5:�DCD62�/D6F3�68O�]7D̂:FT�N8>4622�Y678D:868F:�FC8DE6FD�6GC08D�DC�iPKc?LIcL=I�f78F20O:;�iQHQcP<=�68O�i@LQcH@H�aECG�;:16E6D:�D6;T�CEO:E;�UIL�j�UI=�1:8O78M�̂C6EO�611ECb62;g�G6O:�01�aECG�?H�D6;T�CEO:E;�;78F:�KH<I[�k6F5�D6;T�CEO:E�7;�FCb:E:O�̂3�G02D712:�1ECl:FD�̂0OM:D;�aECG�KH<Ic�KH<?�68O�KH<L[��A5:�NE7M7862�N8>4622�Y678D:868F:�4C8DE6FD�_6;�78F20O:O�_7D5�D5:�\C6EO�Na�AE0;D::;�G::D78M�16FT:D�C8�Y63�KLc�KH<L�68O�F68�̂:�aC08O�6D�D5:�SmX�̂:2C_n��5DD1;nJJ___[E7O:0D6[FCGJ>JG:O76Jo72:;J\C6EO>Ca>AE0;D::;J\C6EO>̀M:8O6>BVo;JKH<LJY63JKH<LpHQKLp4C8DE6FDp\C6EOpY::D78M[6;5qr26s:8B7FT:DDc�A:E:;;6 V6b:�t68FCFT\:M78878M<KJPHJKH<= k8O78M<KJP<JKH<LA6;T�NEO:E; moBP= K@.���������������	 9:; uC 	 m:8:_62�A:EG;A5:�FC8DE6FD�G63�̂:�:qD:8O:O�aCE�D_C�6OO7D7C862�C8:�3:6E�D:EG;c�6D�SÀd;�;C2:�C1D7C8[/D6ED�V6D: k8O�V6D:



���������	
����������� ������������
��� �����
����	
��������������� ��������� ������������������������� ���� !��� ����
���������������"�!��� ����
������
��������#�� ����
������������������#�� ���"��
����	
��� 	�#�������
$���	
��%�������&
���� '�������"�'��������
����(����� ���
��������)�������##
���*�
����
� �����#�������"�!��� ��
� �����#�������+�,�������
*�� ���
����������� ����)��������##
��"�-���� �������*����-���� �!��������	����*�����.����/���*���"�0�����	
�#������1�/�����
��������##�
/���������"� �
�������1�/����!���##�
/���������"�1��2��##�
/���������"�3���������
�����3������� 4��5�&�6�3��5�
��173�	 ��*� ������/��4����
���'
�����##�
/���1�)������ '
�����##�
/���4���89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

FG<H<EGHI�J;E=G9<KA9ELA;:;<=MNOPQQRPSTRUSS MTTVPVVVUSS MNOPVRTPRWTUSSM MX@I9HY Z;> [9\<;]=G:; C;ELAAG<̂_S]TNVNUWVRQO J̀ CNVNa9EHI Z;> [9MTTVPVVVUSS Z;> [9 Z;> [9 [b?Z;> [9 [b??@@A9BHI�J;E=G9< c;IIP�dGe;Z;> [9 J=;;I;P�cAfH<Z;> [9Z;> [9gH<E9EeP�hHBGY�i gH<E9EeP�hHBGY�i8L:G<>P�h9<HIY�j XIGkHAAGP�lG:k;AIf�mHE=G<̂nTbQSbOSQR KAG<=�=oG>�@Ĥ;



On-Call Maintenance Contract # UT16-1846TP 

 

TASK ORDER NO. 82 

 

TASK ORDER NAME: Delta Interlocking #10 SXO Material Purchase 

 

PROJECT CODE: SGR383 40-7383.68912 

 

This Task Order No. 82 to the On Call Maintenance Contract is entered into by and between Utah 

Transit Authority (UTA) and Stacy and Witbeck, Inc. (Contractor) as of December 30th, 2016. 

 

This Task Order is part of the On Call Maintenance Contract and is governed by the terms thereof. 

 

The purpose of this Task Order is to specifically define the scope, schedule, lump sum price, and 

other terms applicable to the work identified herein.  

 

UTA and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

1.0  SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The scope of work for the Task Order #82 is identified in Exhibit 1 – Scope of Work, which is 

hereby attached and incorporated into this Task Order.  

2.0  SCHEDULE 

The Substantial Completion Date for this Task is December 31st, 2019. The Revenue Operations 

Dates for this Task is December 31st, 2019. The Final Acceptance Date for this Task is 

December 31st, 2019. 

3.0  LUMP SUM PRICE 

The price for this task order is a not to exceed $778,888.00. Invoices will be billed on monthly 

basis for work completed to date. 

4.0  APPLICABILITY OF FEDERAL CLAUSES 

This Task Order does ☐ does not ☒ [Check Applicable] include federal assistance funds which 

requires the application of the Federal Clauses appended as Exhibit D to the On Call Maintenance 

Contract. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Task Order has been executed by UTA and the Contractor or its 

appointed representative 

 

UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY:                     STACY AND WITBECK, INC.:   

 

By: _________________________________                By: ________________________  
        W. Steve Meyer, Interim Executive Director            Date 

                                            > $100,000 

By: _________________________________                Date:       
        D. Eddy Cumins, Chief Operating Officer                Date 

                                            < $100,000 

By:_________________________________                                               
             David Hancock, Director of Asset Management      Date  
                                             < $50,000 













����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	���������������������	�����������������������������	�������������	����������������	�������������������� �!���������������"���#	

�����������������$����	�����������������������	%�&�&������������������������	������������	'����������������(�)��&	*���������������*������	 ����!	
������)����������	 	+����������)���(�,�����	+����������)�������-.//0123 4556.70 8090:2

;<603 =03 4>?@A@-.126<:2�B0:2C.1;<603 D0706CEF0G�-H066IJ�4 KKKL5J.<E?>MNO>PMP�QBRQS80701T0�-.126<:2�U:V0706CEF0WXY Z>[XP\D?>MNO>PMPSQBRQS80701T0�-.126<:2�8.T2C1F�U:VY [PXNN\D]32C/<20E�7<JT0�.̂�?>MNO>PMP�80701T0�-.126<:2�_Y M[X̀P\Da2H06QC7C3C.1�.̂�B067C:03�̂.6�R0.5J0�_C2H�QC3<VCJC2C03�UbQBRQbWBc4c]�a;�Lc4d�Q]R48ce]fc�a;�dLe4f�B]8gh-]B�-afc84-c�;a8�B]8gh-]B�R8aghQ]Q�D=�4�Lc4d�iag]8fe]fc4j�]fchc=�;a8�R484c84fBhc�c84fBRa8c4chafX��Lc4�C3�̂0E06<JJI�/<1E<20E�T1E06�2H0�4/06C:<1k3�lC2H�QC3<VCJC2C03�4:2�U4Q4W�2.�56.7CE0�5<6<26<13C2�3067C:0�2.�0JCFCVJ0�6CE063X��cH.30�30670E�T1E06�2HC3�-.126<:2�<60�5<6<26<13C2�0JCFCVJ0�6CE063X��L1E06�2H0�4Q4G�2H0�/<mC/T/�̂<60�Lc4�:<1�:H<6F0�5<6<26<13C2�6CE063�C3�E.TVJ0�2H0�<ETJ2�̂Cm0E�6<20�:<3H�̂<60X�cH0�:T66012�26C5�̂<60�̂.6�5<6<26<13C2�6CE063�C3�nZX>>X��L1E06�2H0�4Q4G�26<13C2�<F01:C03�:<1�:H<6F0�/.60�2H<1�2H0�32<1E<6E�5<6<26<13C2�̂<60�̂.6�b4F01:I�B5.13.60E�c6C53bX��Lc4�H<3�C120656020E�2H<2�60FTJ<2.6I�J<1FT<F0�2.�<55JI�2.�3067C:03�̂T1E0E�VI�-01206�̂.6�e0EC:<60�o�e0EC:<CE�B067C:03�U-eBW�2.�L2<H�Q05<62/012�.̂�d0<J2H�o�dT/<1�B067C:03�UQdBWpQC7C3C.1�.̂�B067C:03�̂.6�R0.5J0�_C2H�QC3<VCJC2C03�UQBRQWX��cH0�6CE063�T1E06�2HC3�<F600/012�qT<JĈI�̂.6�e0EC:<60�3067C:03�C1:JTEC1F�1.1O/0EC:<J�26<135.62<2C.1X���cHC3�C3�<�60701T0�:.126<:2�2H<2�60qTC603�<�?̀r�J.:<J�/<2:HX��L1E06�2H0�206/3�.̂�2HC3�<F600/012G�Lc4�C3�60qTC60E�2.�̂6.12�2H0�/<2:HX��cH0�T1CqT0�60qTC60/0123�̂.6�2HC3�<F600/012�<60�.T2JC10E�C1�2H0�56.:033�V0J._s��411T<J�R6.:033s�MX�Lc4�1.2ĈC03�QBRQ�.̂�2H0�<11T<J�6<20�C1:60<303X�?X�QdBp-eB�<556.70�2H0�6<20�C1:60<303X��[X�Lc4�<1E�QdBpQBRQ�/002�qT<6206JI�2.�032C/<20�2H0�̂.JJ._C1F�qT<6206t3�032C/<20E�VCJJC1F�:.32��ZX�Lc4�301E3�<�:H0:u�2.�QdBpQBRQ�qT<6206JI�̂.6�?̀r�.̂�2H0�032C/<20E�VCJJC1F�:.32�PX�QdBpQBRQ�301E3�2H030�̂T1E3�2.�-eB�2.�:.706�2H0�J.:<J�/<2:H�AX�Lc4�C17.C:03�QdBpQBRQ�/.12HJI�̂.6�M>>r�.̂�<:2T<J�26C53�2<u01�<2�2H0�<F600E�T5.1�6<20X�@X�QdBpQBRQ�C17.C:03�-eB�/.12HJI�̂.6�<:2T<J�26C53�2<u01�X̀�-eB�301E3�:H0:u�/.12HJI�2.�QdBpQBRQ�̂.6�M>>r�.̂�26C53�2<u01G�VT2�u0053�2H0�5607C.T3JI�3012�:H0:u�̂.6�?̀r�.̂�032C/<20E�:.32�NX�QdBpQBRQ�5<I3�M>>r�.̂�/.10I�̂.6�26C53�2<u01�2.�Lc4G�VT2�Lc4�10706�60:.7063�2H0�?̀r�2H0I�3012�0<6JC06�M>X�QdBpQBRQ�<1E�Lc4�/002�<11T<JJI�2.�:./5<60�032C/<203�2.�<:2T<J3�<1E�60:.1:CJ0�<::.6EC1FJI�������������	 D0FC11C1F>@p>Mp?>MN 	 ]1EC1F>Ap[>p?>?[;C1<1:C<J�B0:2C.1;<603 nMAGMZ[GMM̀X?>=03 f.U]32C/<20�Ĉ�506�26<13<:2C.1�:.32WcH0�411T<J�C1:60<30�2.�QBRQ�C3�NX@PrX�cH0�032C/<20E�60C/VT630/012p7<JT0�.̂�2HC3�<F600/012�C3�V<30E�.̂̂�2H0�<11T<J�C1:60<30G�<1E�032C/<20E�T3C1F�2H0�I0<6O01E�?>M̀�QBRQ�6CE063HC5�E<2<XM>>>XZ>?>M�-.126<:2�R<6<26<13C24556.7<J�B0:2C.1 D.H/<1G�jC3<�D6I106e.62.1G�e.1C:< -T/C13G�Q.1<JE�]e0I06G�lCJJC</�B20701 R6C12�2HC3�5<F0



 

Page 1 of 39 
 

 
Log # 35914        Contract # A02767 
 
 

STATE OF UTAH DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES  
CONTRACT FOR SERVICES PROVIDED BY A UTAH 

GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY 
 

CONTRACTING PARTIES:  This Contract is between the Utah Department of Human Services, 
which includes the Division of Services for People with Disabilities (hereinafter referred to as "DHS" or 
“DHS/DSPD”) and the following entity/person, hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”: 

 
Name:   Utah Transit Authority 
Legal Address:  669 W 200 S 
   Salt Lake City, UT  84101 
      
Legal status: A Utah governmental entity. 
 
CONTRACTOR CONTACT INFORMATION:  Contractor shall ensure DHS has accurate contact 
information for Contractor at all times throughout the duration of this Contract and throughout the 
duration of Contractor’s record retention responsibilities.  Contractor shall immediately notify DHS of 
any changes to contact information. 
 

TABLE OF PROVISIONS IN THIS CONTRACT 
 

PART I:  GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................... 2 
PART II:  PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND CLIENT OUTCOMES .................................. 22 
PART III:  PAYMENT TERMS AND BILLING INFORMATION ............................................. 24 
PART IV:  ACCOUNTING REQUIREMENTS AND FINANCIAL COMPLIANCE ............... 29 
PART V:  COMMONLY APPLICABLE LAWS .......................................................................... 35 
PART VI:  JURISDICTION, COPYRIGHT, AND OTHER GENERAL PROVISIONS .......... 38 

 
ATTACHMENT A: SCOPE OF WORK 

Template Updated 3/8/2019

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 2 of 39 
 

PART I: GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

SECTION A:  CONTRACT DESCRIPTION AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 
1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF CONTRACT:  To provide transportation services. 

 
The services and activities the Contractor shall provide are described in more detail in Part II and 
Part III in this Contract.   

 
2. CONTRACT PERIOD AND RENEWAL OPTIONS: 
 
 a. Contract Period:  This Contract is effective as of July 1, 2019 and terminates on June 

30, 2023, unless terminated sooner in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Contract.   

 
 b. Contract Renewal:  This Contract may not be renewed. 

 
3. AUTHORITY AND PROCUREMENT: 
 

a. The authority for this Contract is set forth in the Utah Procurement Code, the 
procurement rules in the Utah Administrative Code, and other related statutes authorizing 
purchases on behalf of the State. 

 
b. This Contract is with a governmental entity and is exempt from procurement. 
 

4. TYPE AND AMOUNT OF CONTRACT: 
 

This Contract is a:Non-Fixed Amount/Unit of Service (Rate-Based) Contract.  DHS has not 
set a limit or cap on the total amount the Contractor may receive for providing services pursuant 
to this Contract.  Payment to the Contractor shall be based on individual units of service 
provided by the Contractor, payable at the rate(s) specified in this Contract.   

 
5. DHS DISCRETION ABOUT CLIENT PLACEMENTS:  DHS makes no express or implied 

guarantee or representation that it will place or maintain any clients with the Contractor; that it 
will refer any clients to the Contractor; or that any clients will select the Contractor to provide or 
maintain services. The primary consideration in placing clients shall be the client’s needs as 
determined solely in the discretion of DHS.  

 
6. DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE: 
 
 a. All documents identified in this Contract. 
 
 b. All statutes, regulations, and federal policies that apply to this Contract. 
 
7. ORDER OF INTERPRETATION:  In the event of any conflict between this Contract and 

other documents, the conflict shall be resolved in the following order:  
 

a. This Contract and signed amendments. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 3 of 39 
 

b. The Attachments to this Contract.  
 
SECTION B: CONTRACTOR'S LEGAL STATUS, TRAINING, 

INDEMNIFICATION, AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
1. CONTRACTOR IS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR:  The Contractor is an 

independent contractor, and has no authorization, express or implied, to bind DHS or any state 
agency to any agreements, settlements, or liability.  Nothing in this Contract shall be construed 
to limit the Contractor's authority to bind itself to agreements, settlements or liability, as long as 
such agreements, settlements or liability affect only itself and not DHS.  The Contractor is not 
authorized to act as an agent for DHS, except as expressly provided in this Contract.  Persons 
employed by DHS and acting under direction of DHS shall not be deemed to be employees or 
agents of the Contractor.  Persons employed by the Contractor and acting under the direction of 
the Contractor shall not be deemed to be employees or agents of DHS except as expressly 
provided in this Contract.  As an independent contractor, the Contractor is responsible for its 
own operations and for providing the office space, supplies, equipment, tools, and other supports 
necessary to provide the services covered by this Contract unless specifically stated otherwise in 
the Contract.   

 
2. TAX INFORMATION:   It is the Contractor's responsibility to pay all applicable taxes.  If the 

Contractor needs any information regarding State tax liability, the Contractor should contact the 
Utah State Tax Commission.  If the Contractor needs any information specifically from DHS in 
order to facilitate the seeking of a State tax exemption, the Contractor may contact the DHS 
Bureau of Finance.  

 
3. TRAINING FOR CONTRACTOR'S STAFF:  The Contractor shall conduct all necessary 

training to ensure that its staff carries out its responsibilities under this Contract and that the staff 
is familiar with the requirements imposed by this Contract and applicable laws. 

 
4. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION REQUIREMENTS: 
 
 a. Neither the Contractor nor DHS waives any defenses otherwise available under the 

Governmental Immunity Act (“GIA”).  Subcontractors of the Contractor may not be 
protected by the GIA.  

 
 b. Required Insurance for Non-Governmental Subcontractors.  The Contractor shall 

ensure its non-governmental subcontractors maintain commercial insurance or self-
insurance that at a minimum meets the dollar amounts and types of coverage specified in 
this Contract.  The Contractor’s failure to fulfill the insurance requirements of this 
Contract constitutes a material breach of this Contract.  

 
  DHS may reject policies that contain exclusions or limitations that that are unacceptable 

to DHS.  DHS may, by written amendment, modify the requirements for insurance limits, 
coverages, or endorsements. 

 
 Any commercial insurance shall be obtained from insurance companies authorized to do 

business in the State of Utah and rated "A-" or better with a financial size category of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 4 of 39 
 

Class VII or larger, according to the ratings and financial size categories published by 
A.M. Best Company at the time this Contract is executed. 

 
  Commercial insurance may be obtained from an insurance company that does not meet 

the above stated A. M. Best Company rating and/or class size, if the Contractor provides 
documentation verifying the insurance company providing the Contractor’s insurance is 
reinsured by another affiliated insurance company that does meet the required rating and 
class size requirements. 

 
  Each of the subcontractor’s general liability insurance policies shall include an 

endorsement that names the State of Utah, DHS and their officers, and employees as 
additional insureds.  The additional insured endorsement shall provide the State of Utah, 
DHS, and their officers and employees with primary coverage (not contributing 
coverage) for any liability arising as a result of the subcontractor's acts or omissions in 
connection with this Contract.  The subcontractor is not required to obtain an "additional 
insured" endorsement for any automobile or Workers' Compensation insurance policy 
required by this Contract.  

 
 c. Deductibles and Similar Costs.  The subcontractor shall be responsible for paying any 

deductibles, self-insured retentions or self-insurance costs and similar items.  The 
deductibles, self-insured retentions, self-insurance costs, and similar items for the 
insurance policies required by this Contract may not exceed $10,000, unless the 
Contractor obtains prior written approval of a higher amount from the DHS Deputy 
Director for Support Services who may withhold approval for any reason.  Any 
deductibles, self-insured retentions, or similar items shall be stated on the certificate of 
insurance.  

  
 d. Types of Liability Protection the Contractor Shall Provide: 
 

(1) Private Contractor—Commercial Insurance Required:  If the Contractor is 
not a governmental entity of the State of Utah, the Contractor shall maintain the 
following policies of liability insurance at its sole expense during the term of this 
Contract, unless the subcontractor has already satisfied the requirements of the 
self-insurance provision below: 

 
(a) General Liability Insurance:  The Contractor shall maintain a policy of 

general liability insurance throughout the duration of this Contract that at a 
minimum covers the following types of liability: bodily injury or death, 
personal injury, property damage, broad form property damage, and 
liability for the property of others in the care, custody and control of the 
Contractor.  The policy shall provide for a combined single limit or the 
equivalent of not less than $1,000,000 per person per occurrence and 
$3,000,000 aggregate.  If the Contractor is providing services at more than 
one site, the general liability insurance must cover each of those sites.  If 
the general liability insurance coverage obtained by the Contractor is 
written on a "claims-made" basis, the policy shall be maintained 
continuously throughout the duration of this Contract.  Additionally, the 
claims-made policy shall be maintained continuously for a period of five 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 5 of 39 
 

years after the termination of this Contract or the Contractor shall obtain 
extended reporting coverage such that the policy covers claims reported 
up to five years beyond the date that this Contract is terminated.  At the 
time any extended reporting coverage is obtained to meet the requirements 
of this Contract, the Contractor shall email documentation of such 
coverage to DHS at bcm@utah.gov.  This paragraph survives the 
termination of this Contract. 

 
(b) Automobile Insurance:  If the Contractor's services involve transporting 

any clients or goods for DHS, the Contractor shall maintain a policy of 
automobile liability insurance covering property damage, personal injury 
protection, and liability for the vehicles used by the Contractor (including 
owned, hired and non-owned vehicles).  The policy shall provide for a 
combined single limit, or the equivalent, of not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  If the Contractor subcontracts with another entity or 
individual for transportation services, or services that include 
transportation, the Contractor may satisfy this insurance requirement by 
submitting proof that its subcontractor has complied with the requirements 
of the "Insurance and Indemnification" section of this Contract.   

 
If the Contractor provides individual residential care services by 
contracting with individual residential care homes, the Contractor shall 
maintain a policy of automobile liability insurance as indicated above, and 
each of the Contractor’s individual residential care homes shall maintain a 
policy of automobile liability insurance.  The automobile liability 
insurance required of individual residential care homes shall cover 
property damage, personal injury protection and liability with a combined 
single limit or the equivalent of not less than $100,000 per person and 
$300,000 for each accident/occurrence occurring during the course of their 
duties as an individual residential care home.  As used in this provision, 
the term "individual residential care" refers to twenty-four hour 
family-based care for one or more clients in foster/proctor care, a host 
home, or a professional parent setting. 

 
(c) Professional Liability Insurance: The Contractor shall maintain a policy 

of professional liability insurance (“malpractice insurance”) throughout 
the duration of this Contract with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per 
person per occurrence and $3,000,000 aggregate if any services provided 
pursuant to this Contract are performed by professionals who are licensed 
by a professional licensing organization or the Utah Division of 
Occupational and Professional Licensing, including but not limited to 
doctors, dentists, nurses, massage therapists, social workers, and mental 
health therapists.  This professional liability insurance shall cover 
damages caused by errors, omissions or negligence related to the 
professional services provided pursuant to this Contract.  If the 
professional liability insurance coverage obtained by the Contractor is 
written on a "claims-made" basis, the policy shall be maintained 
continuously throughout the duration of this Contract.  Additionally, the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 6 of 39 
 

claims-made policy shall be maintained continuously for a period of three 
years after the termination of this Contract or the Contractor shall obtain 
extended reporting coverage such that the policy covers claims reported 
up to three years beyond the date that this Contract is terminated.  At the 
time any extended reporting coverage is obtained to meet the requirements 
of this Contract, the Contractor shall email documentation of such 
coverage to DHS at bcm@utah.gov.  This paragraph survives the 
termination of this Contract. 

 
(2) Self-Insured Private Contractor—No Commercial Insurance Required, But 

Indemnification and Prior DHS Approval Required:  If the Contractor claims 
that it is self-insured, the Contractor shall provide DHS with evidence that the 
Contractor is financially solvent and has established financial arrangements (such 
as a written comprehensive self-insurance program, performance bonds or fidelity 
bonds) that will provide DHS with liability protection at least as adequate and 
extensive as the insurance otherwise required pursuant to this Contract for non-
governmental entities.  Specifically, the Contractor must show that its ability to 
process and pay claims adequately, fairly and in a timely manner is comparable to 
a commercial insurer that provides general liability insurance, automobile 
insurance and professional liability insurance.  Before executing this Contract, the 
Contractor shall obtain from the DHS Deputy Director for Support Services a 
written statement indicating that DHS has determined, based on the Contractor’s 
financial evidence and representations, that the Contractor’s self-insurance 
arrangements and indemnification agreements are sufficient to satisfy the 
requirements of this Contract, and the Contractor is therefore not required to 
obtain additional commercial liability insurance naming DHS as an insured party.  
If it sees fit, DHS may include in this statement any additional conditions 
designed to ensure that the Contractor’s self-insurance arrangements are 
comparable to the insurance required of other non-governmental contractors.  A 
copy of the Deputy Director’s statement is attached to this Contract, and is a 
material provision of this Contract.  Nothing in this provision shall be construed 
to require DHS to consent to any self-insurance arrangements, and DHS may 
withhold its approval for any reason. 

 
 e.  Workers' Compensation: The Contractor shall comply with the Utah Workers' 

Compensation Act which requires employers to provide workers' compensation coverage 
for their employees. 

 
f. Insurance Required of Subcontractors.  The Contractor shall require its subcontractors 

to satisfy the insurance and indemnification requirements applicable to them.  For 
example, if the Contractor is a governmental entity and the subcontractor is a private 
entity, the Contractor shall comply with the insurance and indemnification provisions 
applicable to governmental entities, and shall require the subcontractor to comply with 
the insurance and indemnification provisions applicable to non-governmental entities. 

  
 Before entering into any subcontracts for the provision of services pursuant to this 

Contract, the Contractor shall ensure its subcontractors obtain and provide the same 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 7 of 39 
 

additional insured endorsements from their general liability insurer(s) that meet the 
requirements as indicated in the Paragraph below. 

 
g. Certificate of Insurance, "Additional Insured" Endorsement and Evidence of 

Continued Coverage.  The Contractor  shall obtain from its general liability insurer(s) 
and shall provide to DHS certificates of insurance and "additional insured" endorsements 
that indicate that the required coverage is in effect and that the insurer shall give DHS 30 
days’ notice of any modification, cancellation or non-renewal of the policy.  The 
certificates of insurance shall list Department of Human Services, Bureau of Contract 
Management, Contractor Insurance Notices, 195 N. 1950 W., Salt Lake City, UT 84116 
in the certificate holder box.  The certificates and any notice of cancelation shall be 
emailed to DHS at: bcm@utah.gov.  Upon request from DHS, the Contractor shall 
provide DHS with a copy of the Contractor’s full insurance policy within 10 business 
days.  DHS’s receipt of any certificates of insurance, policy endorsements, or policies 
that do not comply with this Contract shall not waive or otherwise affect the requirements 
of this Contract. On an annual basis and upon request from DHS, a non-governmental 
contractor shall provide DHS with evidence that the Contractor or subcontractor has the 
insurance coverage required by this Contract. 

 
 h.  Indemnification.  Regardless of the type of insurance required by this section, the 

Contractor (and where applicable, the subcontractor) agrees to the following 
indemnification: 

 
(1) Indemnification by Non-Governmental Subcontractor:  If a subcontractor is 

not a governmental entity of the State of Utah, the Contractor shall require the 
subcontractor to defend, hold harmless and indemnify the State of Utah, DHS, 
and their officers and employees from and against any losses, damages, injuries, 
liabilities, suits, claims and proceedings arising out of the performance of this 
Contract or which are caused in whole or in part by the acts, failure to act, or 
negligence of the Contractor's officers, agents, volunteers, or employees, except 
where the claim arises out of the sole negligence of DHS. 

 
(2) Indemnification by Governmental Contractor:  If the Contractor is a 

governmental entity of the State of Utah and subject to the Utah Governmental 
Immunity Act (“GIA”), there is no indemnification required and the Contractor 
and DHS shall each be responsible for their own actions and defense of any 
claims or suits to the extent required by the GIA.  Nothing in this Contract shall 
be construed as a waiver by either party to this Contract of any rights, limits, 
protections or defenses provided by the GIA nor shall this Contract be construed, 
with respect to third parties, as a waiver of any governmental immunity to which 
a party to this Contract is entitled. 

 
(3) Definition of the Term “Claim”:  As used in these “Indemnification” provisions 

the term “claim” includes any and all claims, losses, damages, liabilities, 
judgments, costs, expenses, attorneys' fees and causes of action of every kind or 
character (including personal injury, death, and damages to property or business 
interests) arising because of, out of, or in any way connected with the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 8 of 39 
 

performance of this Contract or with a party's failure to comply with the 
provisions of this Contract. 

 
(4) Defense of Suits Brought Upon Claims:  The Contractor shall defend all suits 

brought upon claims and shall pay all costs and expenses including attorney’s 
fees, but DHS shall have the option to participate in the defense of any such suit 
in which DHS perceives that its interests are not being protected by the Contractor 
or where the Contractor believes, asserts, or claims that the claim arises out of the 
sole negligence of DHS.  In the latter situation, the Contractor shall notify DHS 
within 90 days of receiving notice of the claim against it that the Contractor 
believes, asserts or claims that the claim arises out of the sole negligence of DHS.  
In the event the Contractor fails to notify DHS within this timeframe, the 
Contractor shall defend and indemnify DHS even if the claim arises out of the 
sole negligence of DHS. The participation by DHS in the defense of a claim does 
not relieve the Contractor of any obligation pursuant to this Contract.  However, if 
DHS elects to retain independent counsel, DHS shall pay the attorney's fees and 
costs associated with such counsel except where DHS retains independent counsel 
due to a claim by the Contractor that the claim arises out of the sole negligence of 
DHS.  If a finding is later made that the claim did not arise out of the sole 
negligence of DHS, the Contractor shall reimburse DHS for all costs including 
attorney’s fees incurred by DHS. 

 
(5) No Subrogation or Contribution:  The Contractor has no right of subrogation or 

contribution from the State or DHS for any judgment rendered against the 
Contractor. 

 
6. EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN:  The Contractor 

shall use qualified personnel to perform all services in conformity with the requirements of this 
Contract and generally recognized standards.  The Contractor’s performance shall not be 
excused by force majeure.  The Contractor shall identify the critical functions or processes of 
its business operations essential for providing the services required in this Contract.  The 
Contractor shall also develop an emergency management and business continuity plan (“plan”) 
that will allow the Contractor to continue to operate those critical functions or processes during 
or following short-term or long-term emergencies, periods of declared pandemic, or other 
disruptions of normal business.  The plan shall address at least the following areas as they pertain 
to the services Contractor is providing: 

 
a. Evacuation procedures;  
 
b. Temporary or alternate living arrangements, including arrangements for isolation or 

quarantine;  
 

c. Maintenance, inspection, and replenishment of vital supplies, including food, water, 
clothing, first aid supplies, and other medical necessities, including client medications, 
and the supplies necessary for infection control or protection from hazardous materials, 
etc.; 

  
d. Communications (with Contractor staff, appropriate governmental agencies, and clients’ 

families); 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 9 of 39 
 

e. Transportation;  
 
f. Recovery and maintenance of client records; and  
 
g. Policies and procedures that:   

 
(1)  ensure maintenance of required staffing ratios; 
 
(2) address both leave for, and the recall of, Contractor's employees unable to work 

for extended periods due to illness during periods of declared pandemic; and  
 
(3)  ensure the timely discharge of the Contractor’s financial obligations, including 

payroll. 
 
In addition, the Contractor represents that it provides at least annual training for its staff on its 
plan and it acknowledges that DHS may rely upon this and the other representations of the 
Contractor in this paragraph. 

   
 The Contractor shall provide DHS with a copy of its plan upon execution of this Contract.  The 

Contractor shall evaluate its plan at least annually.  Any modifications to the Contractor’s plan 
shall be provided to DHS within 15 days of the time the modifications are made. 

 
SECTION C: CONTRACTOR'S COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS 

AND DHS POLICIES 
 
1. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS:  The Contractor shall comply with all 

applicable laws.  The term "applicable laws" refers to all federal and state statutes, regulations, 
and executive orders that apply to the Contractor's activities or that impose restrictions on the 
Contractor's use of federal or state funding or grants. It is the Contractor's responsibility to 
obtain legal advice about the laws governing its activities. 

 
2. CERTIFICATION OF NON-DEBARMENT:  The Contractor certifies that neither it nor its 

principals are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or 
voluntarily excluded from entering into this Contract by any governmental entity.  If the 
Contractor cannot so certify, the Contractor shall submit a written explanation and shall obtain 
prior written approval for this Contract from the DHS Deputy Director for Support Services.  
Failure of the Contractor to obtain such prior written approval shall be considered a material 
breach of this Contract. 

 
3. COMPLIANCE WITH BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT:  Title 31 United States 

Code (USC) § 1352 requires Contractors with a contract in excess of $100,000 to certify that 
they will not and have not used government appropriated funds to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency in connection with obtaining a contract, grant, or award.  If Contractor 
meets the criteria for disclosure set forth in the above-cited section, Contractor shall complete 
and submit to the required federal entity, a Disclosure of Lobbying Activities form.   

 
4. DEFICIT REDUCTION ACT - MEDICAID FRAUD AND ABUSE:  The Contractor shall 

meet requirements for Medicaid-specific Federal Assurances, Section 6032 of the Deficit 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 10 of 39 
 

Reduction Act of 2005 (Employee Education About False Claims Recovery).  The Contractor 
shall educate its employees, agents, and subcontractors about: 
 
a. The False Claims Act, 31 United States Code §§3729–3733; 

 
b. Administrative Remedies For False Claims and Statements, 31 United States Code 

§§3801–3812; 
 

c. The Utah False Claims Act, Utah Code § 26-20-1, et seq.;  
 

d. The Utah Protection of Public Employees Act, Utah Code § 67-21-1, et seq.; 
 

e. Policies and procedures for detecting and preventing fraud, waste, and abuse; 
 

f. How to report suspected fraud, waste and abuse of Medicaid funds;  
 

g. The whistleblower protections afforded employees that report suspected fraud, waste, and 
abuse of Medicaid funds in good faith; and 

 
h. The penalties for filing false or fraudulent claims for Medicaid payment. 
 

 If the Contractor maintains an employee handbook, the Contractor shall include the information 
described above and its policies and procedures for detecting and preventing Medicaid fraud, 
waste and abuse, in its employee handbook.  

 
 Additional information is available on the DHS website. 
 
5. FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT (FFATA):  If 

any of the funds received by the Contractor pursuant to this contract are identified as Federal 
awards the Contractor shall comply with the FFATA requirements applicable to sub-awardees 
and shall provide DHS with the following information, updating it as changes occur: 

 
 a. The Contractor's Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number; 
 

b. The names and compensation of the Contractor's five most highly compensated 
executives whenever the Contractor meets the criteria identified in FFATA for reporting 
executive compensation data; and 

 
c. The Contractor's principal place of performance. 
 

 Information entered by DHS in the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act Sub-
award Reporting System (FSRS) can be viewed at the following website:  USAspending.gov. 
 

6. COMPLIANCE WITH PRO-CHILDREN ACT OF 1994:  “In accordance with Part C of 
Public Law 103-227, the “Pro-Children Act of 1994”, smoking may not be permitted in any 
portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or contracted by an entity and used regularly for 
the provision of health, day care, education, or library services to children under the age of 18 if 
the services are funded by Federal programs whether directly or through State or local 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 11 of 39 
 

governments.  Federal programs include grants, cooperative agreements, loans and loan 
guarantees, and contracts.  The law does not apply to children’s services provided in private 
residences, facilities funded solely by Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities 
used for inpatient drug and alcohol treatment.”  By signing this Contract, the Contractor certifies 
that it will comply with the requirements of this Act. 

 
7. HUMAN SUBJECTS RESEARCH:  The Contractor may not conduct any research involving 

human subjects or their private data if the subjects are employees of DHS or individuals 
receiving services (whether direct or contracted) from DHS or individuals receiving services 
funded by DHS, unless the Contractor has obtained prior written approval from the DHS 
Institutional Review Board (IRB), and from any other federal or state agencies whose approval 
is required for research on human subjects.  Before conducting such research, the Contractor 
shall fully comply with any requirements or conditions, including requirements relating to 
informed consent, imposed by such IRB committees or agencies. 

 
8. COMPLIANCE WITH LICENSING STANDARDS AND OTHER LAWS:  The Contractor 

represents that it currently meets all applicable licensing standards and other requirements of 
federal and state law, and all applicable ordinances of the city or county in which services or 
care is provided.  The Contractor shall continue to comply with all such applicable standards, 
requirements and ordinances during the term of this Contract, and if the Contractor fails to do so, 
DHS may terminate this Contract immediately. 

 
9. COMPLIANCE WITH BACKGROUND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS: Contractor and 

any individuals associated with Contractor shall comply with the background screening 
requirements in Utah Code 62A-2-120 and Utah Administrative Code R501-14. 

 
10. COMPLIANCE WITH UTAH 211 INFORMATION REQUESTS:   The Contractor shall 

provide Utah 211 with information about the Contractor’s services for inclusion in the Utah 211 
statewide information and referral system.  Information shall be provided in the form determined 
by Utah 211. 

 
11. CONTRACT INFORMATION: DHS shall provide contact information to the Department of 

Workforce Services (DWS). The Contractor shall provide DWS with job vacancy and contact 
information upon request from DWS in accordance with Utah Code § 35A-2-203. 

 
12. COMPLIANCE WITH PROVIDER CODE OF CONDUCT:  The Contractor shall follow 

and enforce the Provider Code of Conduct.  
 
 a. Before allowing any employee or volunteer to work with clients pursuant to this Contract, 

the Contractor shall also comply with the following requirements: 
 
  (1) The Contractor shall provide a current copy of the Code of Conduct to each 

employee or volunteer currently working for the Contractor and to any new 
employees or volunteers; and 

 
  (2) The Contractor shall retain in each employee or volunteer's file a signed and dated 

statement in which that person certifies that he or she has read and understands 
the Code of Conduct and will comply with it. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 12 of 39 
 

 b. As used in this Paragraph, "volunteer" means a person who: 
 

(1) donates services to the Contractor without pay or other compensation, except for 
expenses incurred (such as meals and other travel costs); and  

 
(2) is a board member, officer, or other person who is substantially involved in the 

Contractor's decision-making processes, or is a person who has direct unsupervised 
contact with DHS clients. 

 
c. Annually, the Contractor shall obtain a copy of the current DHS Provider Code of 

Conduct poster.  The Contractor shall prominently display the poster where its employees 
and volunteers can see it.  The current DHS Provider Code of Conduct poster is posted on 
the DHS Bureau of Contract Management website.  

 
 d. If the Contractor is a Utah governmental entity, the Contractor may enforce its own 

written Code of Conduct for the provision of these services, which at least includes the 
elements of the DHS Provider Code of Conduct and is at least as stringent as the DHS 
Provider Code of Conduct. 

 
13. RESTRICTIONS ON CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: The Contractor shall not enter into any 

transaction that is improper or gives the appearance of being improper because of a conflict of 
interest.  

 
a. Definitions 
 

(1) “Business Entity” is as defined in Utah Code § 67-16-3. 
 
(2) “Conflict of Interest” means any situation where the Contractor has economic, 

social, political, familial, legal or other interests which interfere with, or have the 
potential to interfere with, the exercise of the Contractor’s duties, responsibilities, 
or judgment in connection with this Contract, or which involve conflicting 
loyalties to the Contractor and to another interest.  “Conflict of Interest” also 
includes any violation of the Ethics Acts. 

 
(3) “Contractor” includes all "representatives" of the Contractor.   
 
(4) “Disclosure Statement” means a written statement provided to DHS by the 

Contractor about a Conflict of Interest.  “Conflict of Interest Certification” and 
“Conflict of Interest – Disclosure Statement” forms are available from the DHS 
Contract Representative. 

 
(5) “Ethics Acts” means the Utah Public Officers’ and Employees’ Ethics Act (Utah 

Code § 67-16-1 et. seq.) and the Municipal Officers’ and Employees’ Ethics Act 
(Utah Code § 10-3-1301 et. seq.). 

 
(6) “Related Party” means: 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 13 of 39 
 

(a) any person related to the Contractor’s representative by blood or marriage 
including father, mother, husband, wife, son, daughter, sister, brother, 
grandfather, grandmother, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, 
sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, 
grandson, granddaughter, or first cousin; and   

 
(b) all business associates of the Contractor: 
 

(i) who are partners, directors, or officers in the same business entity 
as the Contractor; 

 
(ii) who have authority to make decisions or establish policies in the 

same business entity as the Contractor; or 
 
(iii) who directly or indirectly own 10% or  more in the same business 

entity as the Contractor. 
 

(7) “Representative” means any person or entity acting on behalf of the Contractor, 
and includes all employees, owners, partners, directors, officers, board members, 
subcontractors and agents, as well as any individuals with authority to establish 
policies or make decisions for the Contractor.  “Volunteers” are not 
“representatives” and are not required to be included in the Contractor’s 
Disclosure Statement, unless they are board members or officers, or are 
substantially involved in the Contractor's decision-making processes. 

 
(8) “Volunteer” means a person who donates services to the Contractor without 

compensation, except for expenses incurred (such as meals and travel costs).  
 
b. Compliance with the Ethics Acts.  The Contractor shall comply at all times with the 

applicable provisions of the Ethics Acts. 
 
c. Contractor Conflict of Interest Policy and Internal Review.  The Contractor shall 

implement a written policy that requires:  
 
(1) Its representatives to submit a disclosure statement upon hire and annually 

thereafter; 
 
(2) Its representatives to immediately disclose in writing to the Contractor all 

existing, potential, and contemplated conflicts of interest as they arise.  
  
(3) Annual review of all disclosure statements and its own operations to reasonably 

assure DHS that the Contractor avoids prohibited conflicts of interest. 
 
(4) Disclosure statements to be maintained in its personnel files.  
 
(5) The Contractor to train its representatives regarding: 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 14 of 39 
 

(a) The conflict of interest concept and the certification/disclosure 
requirements of this Contract; and 
 

(b) The applicable provisions of the Ethics Acts. 
 
d. Restrictions on Conflicts of Interest.  Transactions involving Conflicts of Interest are 

prohibited to the extent they are the result of undue influence, or have the potential to 
result in increased costs, decreased performance, the appearance of impropriety, or any 
other disadvantage to DHS.  Conflicts of Interest can occur in one of three ways: 
 
(1) Dual Employment.  Conflicts of interest can occur when a Contractor’s 

representative is also employed by the State of Utah or by another contractor's 
representatives.   

 
(2) Related-Party Transactions.  Conflicts of interest occur when the Contractor 

makes payments to a related party using money obtained from DHS through this 
Contract.  Conflicts of interest also occur when transactions, which affect the 
performance of this Contract, are made between the Contractor and a related 
party, whether or not payments are involved. 

 
(3) Independent Judgment Impaired.  Conflicts of interest occur when a 

Contractor’s representative participates in any transaction on the Contractor’s 
behalf and has a significant relationship or shared interest with another party to 
the transaction, which could affect the representative’s ability or willingness to 
exercise independent judgment, and which may affect the performance of this 
Contract.  Independent judgment may also be impaired when the Contractor or the 
Contractor's representative is involved in any administrative or legal action 
pending against the State, DHS, or any of their officers or employees. 

 
e. Disclosing Conflicts of Interest to DHS: 
 

(1) Requirements for Governmental Entities.  Before entering into this Contract or 
a subcontract related to this Contract, and annually thereafter, a governmental 
Contractor and any governmental subcontractors shall: 

 
(a) Submit to DHS a written certification that they maintain a written policy 

as required above, monitor for compliance with the conflict of interest 
provisions of this Contract, and reasonably assure DHS that 
representatives (including any non-governmental subcontractors) with an 
existing or potential conflict of interest do not: 

 
(i) make or influence decisions or set policies that affect this Contract; 

 
(ii) monitor the performance of this Contract; or 
 
(iii) become involved in or otherwise benefit from the performance of 

this Contract; and 
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 15 of 39 
 

(b) Disclose to DHS any existing or potential conflicts of interest that relate to 
this Contract or the services provided pursuant to this Contract by 
submitting a Disclosure Statement in accordance with the requirements for 
non-governmental entities, and complying with the requirements regarding 
the continuing duty to disclose these existing or potential conflicts of 
interest.   

 
(2) Requirements for Non-Governmental Entities:  Before entering into this 

Contract, or a subcontract related to this Contract, a non-governmental Contractor 
shall submit a Disclosure Statement to DHS in which the Contractor or, when 
applicable its subcontractor, discloses any existing or potential conflicts of 
interest, including all information required by the Ethics Acts and this Contract.   
 
(a) For Conflicts of Interest Involving Dual Employment, the following 

information is required: 
 

(i) the name of the representative engaged in dual employment; 
(ii) the titles or positions held by the representative engaged in dual 

employment; 
(iii)  the representative’s decision-making or monitoring authority with 

the employing entities, and how that representative’s authority 
affects this Contract or any subcontract relating to this Contract; 
and 

(iv) the measures taken to avoid potentially adverse effects resulting 
from the representative’s dual employment. 

  
(b) For Conflicts of Interest involving Related-Party Transactions or 

Independent Judgment Impaired, the following information is required: 
 

(i) the name of the representative having the conflict of interest; 
(ii) the name of the other party to the conflict of interest; 
(iii) the relationship between the individuals identified in (i) and (ii) 

above; 
(iv) the nature and value of the interest (if any) held by the 

representative in the other business entity; 
(v) a description of the transaction to which the conflict of interest 

applies and the dollar amount involved (if any); 
(vi) the decision-making or monitoring authority of the representative 

and the party identified in (ii) above, with respect to the applicable 
transaction or decision; 

(vii) the potential effect of the conflict of interest on this Contract or 
any subcontract relating to this Contract; and 

(viii) the measures taken by the Contractor to avoid potentially adverse 
effects resulting from the identified parties’ relationship. 

 
 (c) If the Contractor has no conflicts of interest, the Contractor shall so 

indicate on the Disclosure Statement.  By submitting a Disclosure 
Statement, the Contractor is certifying to DHS that it has checked its 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 16 of 39 
 

organization and has required its representatives to disclose their conflicts 
of interest, and that it has disclosed all known conflicts of interest to DHS. 

 
f. Continuing Duty to Disclose Conflicts of Interest.  The Contractor and its 

subcontractors have a continuing duty to immediately review updated Disclosure 
Statements and submit a copy to DHS whenever an existing or potential Conflict of 
Interest is disclosed.  The Contractor shall require its subcontractors to provide an 
updated Disclosure Statement to the Contractor, if at any time during the term of this 
Contract, they contemplate any transaction involving an existing or potential conflict of 
interest, or hire or affiliate with any individual with a potential conflict of interest, or 
discover any existing conflict of interest.  

 
g. Monitoring Compliance.  In addition to the remedies outlined in this Contract, DHS 

retains the right to do any of the following if DHS determines that a conflict of interest 
may exist: 
 
(1) Investigate any potential conflict of interest; 

 
(2) Require further information from the Contractor or the subcontractor;  

 
(3) Require specific remedial action; or  
 
(4) Disapprove identified transactions or require repayment of identified transactions. 
 

SECTION D:   ACCESS TO RECORDS, COMPLIANCE MONITORING, AND 
RECORD KEEPING RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
1. ACCESS TO RECORDS AND MONITORING OF PERFORMANCE:  DHS shall have 

immediate access to all records relating to this Contract, and the Contractor shall not limit or 
interfere with DHS' access rights.   

 
DHS shall have the right to monitor the Contractor's performance pursuant to this Contract.  
Monitoring of Contractor's performance shall be at the complete discretion of DHS.  
Performance monitoring may include both announced and unannounced visits.  The Contractor 
shall allow independent auditors State and federal auditors or contract reviewers to have access 
to any records related to this Contract, including all personnel, training, client, treatment and 
financial records (such as accounting records and supporting documentation) for audit review 
and inspection.  

 
2. RECORD-KEEPING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS:  The Contractor shall comply 

with all record-keeping and reporting requirements of this Contract.  The Contractor shall 
maintain or shall supervise the maintenance of all records necessary for the proper and efficient 
operation of the programs covered by this Contract, including records relating to screenings, 
assessments, applications, determination of clients' eligibility (if applicable), the provision of 
services, treatment, administrative costs, and any other records, such as statistical and fiscal 
records, necessary for complying with the reporting and accountability requirements of this 
Contract. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 17 of 39 
 

3. RETENTION OF RECORDS:  The Contractor shall retain all records related to this Contract 
for at least the following periods of time:  

 
a. Records Relating to Adult Clients:  The Contractor shall retain all adult client records 

(including records that support Title XIX reimbursements) for at least six years from the 
date of last service to the adult client.   
 

b. Records Relating to Child Clients:  The Contractor shall retain all records relating to 
clients under 18 years old (including records that support Title XIX reimbursements) for 
at least six years from the date of last service to the child client, or until the child client 
reaches the age of 22, whichever period is longest. 

 
c. Administrative Records:  The Contractor shall retain all administrative records relating 

to this Contract (including records that support Title XIX reimbursements) for at least six 
years after DHS makes the last payment on this Contract. 

 
d. Discontinued Operations:  If the Contractor discontinues its programs or ceases to 

provide services pursuant to this Contract, the Contractor shall protect DHS access rights 
by implementing one of the following options: 

 
 (1) Transfer the client records to a successor agency or entity which has: 
 

(a) entered into a contract with DHS to provide such services formerly 
provided by the Contractor; and 

 
(b) agreed to provide DHS with the same access to the records as required 

under the Contractor's contract with DHS; or 
 
(2) Deliver the client records to an office within the Contractor's organization under 

an arrangement by which the Contractor authorizes DHS to have continuing 
immediate access to the records. 

 
(3) With the prior written consent of DHS, which may be withheld for any reason, 

deliver the client records to DHS. 
 
(4) Alcohol and Drug Abuse Patient Records:  If the Contractor is bound by the 

requirements of 42 C.F.R. Part 2 ("Confidentiality of Alcohol and Drug Abuse 
Patient Records") and discontinues its alcohol or drug abuse program or ceases to 
provide its services pursuant to this Contract, the Contractor shall comply with the 
following requirements before destroying the records of any patients served 
pursuant to this Contract: 

 
(a) the Contractor shall notify DHS in writing at least 30 days before it 

discontinues its operations or ceases to provide its services; 
 
(b) upon request from DHS, the Contractor shall give each of its alcohol and 

drug abuse patients a consent form which meets the requirements of 42 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 18 of 39 
 

C.F.R. § 2.31, and which authorizes the Contractor to transfer its patient 
records to DHS; and 

 
(c) upon obtaining signed consent forms from patients, the Contractor shall 

deliver the consenting patients’ records to DHS. 
 

 e. Audits and Litigation:  The Contractor shall maintain all records related to any audits 
initiated by federal and state auditors or to any pending litigation until six years after all 
audits are completed or litigation is resolved, including any related appeals or the time for 
appeal has expired, or for six years from the date of termination of this Contract, 
whichever is longer. 

 
f. Method for Destruction of Client Records:  Client records which may be destroyed 

pursuant to this Contract shall be cross-shredded or burned to protect client 
confidentiality.  In the case of electronic records, the Contractor shall use a technique of 
destroying the records that adequately prevents unauthorized persons from reading or 
accessing the records. 

 
4. PROTECTING THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF CLIENT RECORDS:  Client records are 

confidential.  The Contractor shall restrict access to client records in accordance with State and 
federal laws.  Client records include but are not limited to hard copy records, electronic data, 
audio and video tapes, digital files, photographs, scans, and other images.  The Contractor shall, 
at a minimum, maintain all client records in locked rooms or cases or in password-protected 
electronic files.  If records are transported or contained on any electronic medium (including but 
not limited to computers, tablets, smart phones, zip-drives, etc.) the medium shall be password 
protected.  The Contractor shall not use or disclose any client information except as specifically 
provided by this Contract, or as required by law.  The Contractor's representatives shall have 
access only to those portions of the records directly related to their work assignments. 

 
5. LOSS OR DISCLOSURE OF CLIENT RECORDS OR INFORMATION:  The Contractor 

shall have and comply with policies and procedures to protect confidential client records and 
information from loss, unauthorized disclosure, or data breaches (hereinafter collectively referred 
to as “loss”), and shall make those policies available to DHS.  The policies and procedures shall 
address how client records and information will be maintained, transmitted, stored, and secured 
to protect against any loss.  The policies and procedures shall also address the steps that will be 
taken in the event of any loss to notify, protect and reimburse those impacted by the loss against 
potential damages as well as to prevent future losses. 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible for any loss of client records or client information by it or its 
representatives and for any and all costs, remediation (including but not limited to credit 
monitoring), and damages associated with such loss.  In the event of a loss, in addition to any 
actions required by the Contractor’s policies and procedures, the Contractor shall notify the 
following individuals of the loss no later than 24 hours after it is discovered: 
 
a. The DHS signatory on this Contract;  
 
b. The DHS Risk Manager; and  
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 19 of 39 
 

c. The client or the client’s parent(s) or legal guardian. 
 

SECTION E: SUBCONTRACTING, ASSIGNMENT, AMENDMENTS, AND 
DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURES 

 
1. SUBCONTRACTS: 
 

a. Definition of "Subcontractor":  As used in this Contract, "subcontractor" means an 
individual or entity that has entered into an agreement with the Contractor to perform 
services for which the Contractor is responsible pursuant to the terms of this Contract.  
"Subcontractor" also refers to individuals or entities that have entered into agreements 
with any subcontractor if those individuals or entities perform any of the subcontractor's 
duties pursuant to this Contract. 

 
 b. Is Subcontracting Allowed: The Contractor may subcontract to provide the services 

specified in the contract.  However, Contractor must notify DHS in writing of plans to 
enter into any subcontracts and must obtain DHS approval prior to entering into any 
subcontracts.   

 
c. When Subcontracting Is Allowed:  If Contractor is allowed to subcontract under 

Paragraph 1.b. above, the following provisions apply: 
 

(1) Contractor Responsibilities Regarding Subcontracts.  The Contractor retains 
full responsibility for contract compliance, whether the services are provided 
directly or by a subcontractor.   

 
(2) Provisions Required in Subcontracts.  When the Contractor subcontracts and 

pays the subcontractor for goods or services through federal and state funds, the 
Contractor shall, at a minimum, include provisions in its subcontract that require 
the subcontractor to comply with all: 

 
 (a) provisions of this Contract including the insurance and indemnification 

provisions; and  
 
 (b) applicable laws and contract provisions identified in 45 C.F.R. § 92, 

"Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative 
Agreements to State, Local, and Tribal Governments”. 

 
2. CONTRACT ASSIGNMENT:  The Contractor may not assign its benefits or obligations 

pursuant to this Contract to any other entity, without the prior written consent of both the DHS 
Director and the DHS Purchasing Agent, which may be withheld for any reason.   

 
3. CONTRACT AMENDMENTS:  The parties may modify this Contract only by written 

amendment signed by the parties and approved by the DHS Bureau of Contract Management 
with the exception of Paragraphs a., b., and c. below.  Any amendments shall be attached to the 
original signed copy of this Contract. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 20 of 39 
 

 a. Federal or State Budgetary Action:  If federal or State budgetary action necessitates or 
requires a change in the service rates or the payments to be made pursuant to this Contract, 
DHS shall advise the Contractor of the change via written notice signed by the DHS 
Director.  The notice shall identify the new rates or payments, and the effective date of the 
change.  A notice issued pursuant to this paragraph shall constitute an amendment to 
the Contract without the Contractor’s signature. 

 
 b. Utah State Department of Health (DOH) Mandated Changes to Medicaid Rates:  If 

the DOH requires a change in any Medicaid rates in this Contract, DHS shall advise the 
Contractor of the change via written notice signed by an authorized representative of 
DHS.  The notice shall identify the services affected, the new rate for each service, and the 
effective date of the change.  A notice issued pursuant to this paragraph shall 
constitute an amendment to the Contract without the Contractor’s signature. 

  
c. Financial Reporting Requirements:  If federal, State or DHS financial reporting 

requirements change, DHS may advise the Contractor of the changes via written notice 
signed by an authorized representative of DHS.  The notice shall specifically identify the 
new reporting requirement(s) and the effective date of the change.  A notice issued 
pursuant to this paragraph shall constitute an amendment to the Contract without 
the Contractor’s signature.  

 
4. REMEDIES:  If DHS determines that the Contractor or a subcontractor has failed to comply 

with any of the provisions of this Contract, DHS may do any of the following:  
 
 a. Disallow Contractor Expenditures.  DHS may disallow the Contractor’s and the 

subcontractor’s expenditures and adjust its payments to the Contractor by deducting such 
disallowed expenditures. 

 
 b. Withhold Payment.  DHS may withhold funds from the Contractor for contract non-

compliance, misuse of public funds, or failure to comply with State and federal law.   
 
  (1) If an audit finding or judicial determination is made that the Contractor or its 

subcontractor misused public funds, DHS may also withhold funds otherwise 
allocated to the Contractor to cover the costs of any audits, attorneys’ fees and 
other expenses.  DHS shall give the Contractor prior written notice that the 
payment(s) will be withheld.  The notice shall specify the reasons for such 
withholding.  DHS shall inform the Contractor whether any amounts withheld 
may be released, and if so, the actions that the Contractor must take to bring about 
the release of any amounts withheld. 

 
(2) If an independent CPA audit or DHS review determines that the payments made 

by DHS to the Contractor were incorrectly paid or were based on incorrect 
information from the Contractor, DHS may adjust or withhold the Contractor's 
payments for the remainder of the contract period or until DHS fully recoups the 
funds. 

 
c. Require Repayment.  Upon written request by DHS, any overpayments, disallowed 

expenditures, excess payments or questioned costs are immediately due and payable by 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 21 of 39 
 

the Contractor.  In the alternative DHS shall have the right to withhold any or all 
subsequent payments pursuant to this Contract until DHS fully recoups these funds.  In 
such cases, the Contractor shall not reduce the level of services required by the Contract.  

 
 d. Require Corrective Action.  The Contractor shall comply with the terms of any 

corrective action plan required by DHS.   
 

e. Client Placements.  DHS may remove clients from, suspend client placements with, 
and/or suspend client referrals to, the Contractor, if DHS determines the Contractor is not 
complying with the terms of this Contract.  DHS will provide written notice to the 
Contractor prior to implementing a suspension.  The notice will advise the Contractor of 
any actions required of it to lift the suspension. 

 
f. Terminate the Contract.  DHS may terminate this Contract in accordance with the 

contract termination provisions outlined below. 
 
g. Pursue Any Legal Remedy.  DHS and the Contractor may avail themselves of all 

remedies allowed by state or federal law. 
 

5. CONTRACT DISPUTES - ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW:  Prior to pursuing other legal 
remedies, the Contractor shall appeal any contract dispute with DHS by filing a written appeal 
with the DHS Deputy Director for Support Services within 30 days of the disputed DHS action 
or decision.  The Contractor’s written appeal shall identify the Contractor, the contract number, 
the disputed issue, pertinent contract provisions or legal authorities, and the contact person for 
the Contractor.  The Contractor shall also provide a copy of its appeal to the Director of DHS.  

 
The DHS Deputy Director shall have 60 days to issue DHS’ written response to the Contractor’s 
appeal.  The Deputy Director may designate another DHS employee to review and respond to the 
Contractor’s appeal. 

 
6. CONTRACT TERMINATION: 
 

a. Right to Terminate.  The parties may terminate this Contract, in whole or in part, with 
or without cause, in advance of the Contract's expiration date by mutual agreement in 
writing. 

 
Either party may terminate this Contract, with or without cause, in advance of the 
Contract's expiration date by giving the other party 30 days written notice. 

 
b. Immediate Termination.  If the Contractor's violation of this Contract creates or is 

likely to create a risk of harm to the clients served pursuant to this Contract, or if any 
other provision of this Contract allows DHS to terminate the Contract immediately for a 
violation of that provision, DHS may terminate this Contract immediately by notifying 
the Contractor in writing. 

 
c. Cooperative Efforts to Protect the Clients.  If either party elects to terminate this 

Contract, both parties shall use their best efforts to provide for uninterrupted client 
services. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 22 of 39 
 

d. Payments after Termination.  Upon termination of this Contract, the parties shall use 
the financial and accounting arrangements in this Contract to process payments for any 
undisputed services that the Contractor rendered before termination.  The Contractor 
shall have no claim for services not rendered.  DHS shall not pay Contractor for any of 
the Contractor’s obligations or expenses that extend beyond the termination date. This 
provision shall survive the termination of this Contract. 

 
e. Records Retention and Access after Termination.  The Contractor shall comply with 

the provisions of this Contract relating to the Contractor's record-keeping responsibilities 
and DHS access to records and shall ensure that the Contractor's staff properly maintains 
all records.  This provision shall survive the termination of this Contract. 

 
7. ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS:  If either party seeks to enforce this Contract upon a 

breach by the other party, or if one party seeks to defend itself against liability arising from the 
negligence of the other party, the prevailing party shall receive from the unsuccessful party all 
court costs and its reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 
8. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES FOR CLIENTS AND APPLICANTS:  The Contractor shall 

establish a grievance system for the clients and applicants of the programs covered by this 
Contract, and shall notify each client and applicant in writing that: 

 
 a. Clients and applicants have the right to present the Contractor with their grievances 

including but not limited to: 
 
  (1) denial of services covered by this Contract; 
 
  (2) exclusion from a program covered by this Contract; or 
 
  (3) inadequacies or inequities in the programs and services provided pursuant to this 

Contract; and 
 
 b. The Contractor shall establish and maintain a tracking system identifying the nature and 

outcome of each grievance.   
 

c. If the Contractor denies a grievance, or fails to respond to a grievance in a timely fashion, 
the client or applicant may contact the DHS Director in writing.  The DHS Director or 
designee will attempt to resolve the grievance. 

 

PART II: PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND CLIENT OUTCOMES 
 
The Contractor shall comply with the following objective based performance requirements: 
 
1. Performance Based Outcome Measures:  The Contractor shall cooperate and collaborate with 

DHS to assess and determine how closely its program(s) meets known principles of effective 
interventions based on empirically derived principles. 

 
2. Client Centered Objectives.  If a program or service covered by this Contract requires the 

development of client treatment plans, the treatment plans must include individualized treatment 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 23 of 39 
 

objectives that address the assessed needs of the client.  The treatment plans must prescribe an 
integrated program of therapies, activities, and experiences to meet the client’s treatment 
objectives and include reasonable measures to evaluate and ensure the Contractor meets the 
client’s treatment objectives.    

 
3. Internal Quality Management.  The Contractor is responsible to develop, implement, and 

maintain an internal quality management system that shall evaluate the Contractor’s programs as 
required in Part II of this Contract, and establish a system of self-correcting feedback that may 
be externally validated by DHS. 

 
4. Customer or Client Satisfaction Surveys:  The Contractor understands that DHS is committed 

to providing client-oriented services, and that DHS often conducts client-satisfaction surveys to 
ensure that services are appropriate for the clients served.  The Contractor and/or its 
subcontractor therefore agree to cooperate with all DHS initiated client or customer feedback 
activities. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 24 of 39 
 

PART III: PAYMENT TERMS AND BILLING INFORMATION 
 

 
SECTION A:  PAYMENT 
 
Payments made to the Contractor pursuant to the terms of this Contract shall be the Contractor's total 
compensation for Contract services provided.  With the exception of guaranteed payment amounts and 
budget based contracts, payments to the Contractor shall be made pursuant to this Contract only if 
clients are placed with, are referred to, or select the Contractor for services pursuant to this Contract 
AND only if the Contractor actually provides contract services to the clients. 
 
SECTION B:  PAYMENT RATES 
 
The Contractor shall be paid for services provided pursuant to this Contract based on the rates in the 
following table: 

 
Service Name Service Code Unit of Service Rate  

Paratransit Daily Fare UTP Daily $20.80
Adult Monthly Pass UTA Monthly Pass $115.00
Paratransit Trip Fare UTA Trip Ticket $4.85
Route Deviation UTD Trip Ticket $1.45
Trip + Route Deviation UTF Trip Ticket $6.30

 
SECTION C:  PAYMENT AND BILLING MEDICAID SERVICES 
 
The Contractor shall be paid for Medicaid services provided pursuant to this Contract in accordance 
with Medicaid rules and procedures. The Contractor may select one of the following options for 
payment of the Medicaid services it provides: 
 
1. Option 1- Utah Department of Health: The Contractor may request payment for Medicaid 

services provided pursuant to this Contract directly from the Utah Department of Health, 
Division of Medicaid and Health Financing (DOH) in accordance with DOH Medicaid rules and 
procedures. If the Contractor selects this option: 

 
a. All billings for Medicaid services provided, pursuant to this Contract, shall be submitted 

directly to DOH through its payment system in accordance with DOH Medicaid rules and 
procedures; 

 
b. The Contractor shall use the rate in this Contract to bill DOH. If the Contractor bills 

DOH for Medicaid services at rates greater than the rates in this Contract, the Contractor 
may be required to pay DHS the difference between the amount paid to the Contractor by 
DOH and the Contract amount; and 

 
c. DHS shall NOT pay the Contractor for any Medicaid services provided under any 

circumstances nor shall it be responsible for the payment of any Medicaid claims 
submitted to DOH by the Contractor and denied by DOH. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 25 of 39 
 

2. Option 2 – DHS/DSPD: The Contractor may authorize DHS/DSPD to bill DOH on behalf of the 
Contractor by completing a voluntary reassignment agreement with DHS/DSPD. If the 
Contractor selects this option: 

 
a. DHS shall pay the Contractor for the Medicaid services the Contractor provide pursuant 

to this Contract; and 
 
b.  The Contractor shall comply with the DHS billing requirements below. 

 
The Contractor shall NOT bill both DOH and DHS/DSPD for the same services. 
 
SECTION D: BILLING REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. BILLING FOR CONTRACT SERVICES:  To obtain payment from DHS for the services 

provided pursuant to this Contract, the Contractor shall submit to DHS the billing form specified 
below for its authorized services: 
 
Unit of Service (Rate-Based) Contracts:  The Contractor shall bill DHS only for actual units of 
services delivered, and shall maintain records that adequately support the delivery of such 
services. To obtain payment from DHS for the services provided pursuant to this Contract, the 
Contractor shall submit all billings to DHS using the “Electronic 520 Billing” process for its 
authorized services. The Contractor shall: 
 
a. Enter billing data directly into USTEPS Provider Interface (UPI), or 
 
b. Upload the billing data file directly into UPI in a format approved by DHS/DSPD 

USTEPS team. 
 
c. A paper 520 billing form may be submitted if there is a situation preventing the 

Contractor from using the Electronic 520 process 
 
2. BILLING PERIODS AND DEADLINES:  DHS may delay or deny payment to the Contractor 

for billings or claims for services that do not meet the billing deadlines outlined below. 
 
 a. Contractor Billing Period:  The Contractor’s billing period is Monthly.   
 
 b. Ongoing Billings:  The Contractor shall submit all billings and claims for services 

rendered during a given billing period within twenty (20) days after the last date of that 
billing period, EXCEPT that the Contractor shall submit all billings for services 
performed on or before June 30th of a given fiscal year pursuant to paragraph c. below. 

 
(1) The Contractor shall notify DHS/DSPD of any unpaid billings submitted to 

DHS/DSPD for payment within 45 calendar days from the date the billings were 
submitted. If the Contractor fails to notify DHS/DSPD within 45 day, DHS/DSPD 
may deny payment of the unpaid billing.  

 
(2) If the Contractor has elected to have DHS/DSPD bill DOH for Medicaid services 

provided by the Contractor, DHS/DSPD will notify the Contractor of any claims 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 26 of 39 
 

that have been denied by DOH. If the Contractor receives notification from 
DHS/DSPD of a denied claim, the Contract shall submit any necessary 
corrections or adjustments to DHS/DSPD within 14 calendar days of the 
notification.  If the Contractor fails to submit the necessary correction or 
adjustment within this time frame, DHS/DSPD may deny or recoup payment of 
the claim from the Contractor. 

 
 c. State Fiscal Year-End Billings:  The State Fiscal Year is from July 1st through June 

30th.The Contractor shall submit all billings for services performed on or before June 
30th of a given fiscal year no later than July 14th of the following fiscal year, regardless 
of the Contractor’s billing period or the expiration or termination date of this Contract. 

 
 d. Final Contract Billings:  The Contractor shall submit all final billings under this 

Contract within 14 days of expiration or termination of the Contract, regardless of the 
Contractor’s billing period.   

 
SECTION E:  ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. UNIFORM BILLING PRACTICES:  The Contractor guarantees that the amounts it charges 

for services to Clients pursuant to this Contract shall not be higher than the amounts the 
Contractor charges others for comparable services. 

 
2. NO IMPOSITION OF FEES:  The Contractor shall not charge clients for any services 

provided pursuant to this Contract, except as expressly authorized in Part II of this Contract. 
 
3. SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION:  The Contractor shall maintain the documentation 

necessary to support the services and/or costs billed by the Contractor and shall submit such 
documentation with the billings if requested.  The Contractor shall store and file required 
documentation in a systematic and consistent manner. 

 
4. QUESTIONED COSTS:  DHS may consider any billing by the Contractor to be a questioned 

cost if the billing is not supported by proper documentation verifying that the amounts billed for 
services provided or costs incurred pursuant to this Contract were actually provided or incurred 
in accordance with Contract provisions. 

 
5. THIRD-PARTY RESOURCES:  In addition to funds received from DHS, various other 

sources of funding, including Medicaid and private insurance, may be available to the Contractor 
for services delivered pursuant to this Contract.  Income from other state, federal and county 
programs may also be available.  All sources of funding other than funding received from DHS 
are referred to below as "third-party resources." 
 
a. Principles and Requirements: Where third-party resources are available, the parties are 

bound by the following principles and requirements: 
 

(1) The Contractor shall not obtain duplicate recovery from DHS and third-party 
resources for services delivered pursuant to this Contract. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 27 of 39 
 

(2) Except as specified in subsection b. below ("Exceptions to the Foregoing 
Principles and Requirements"), the Contractor shall seek payment from third-
party resources for services delivered pursuant to this Contract.   

 
(3) Upon successful recovery of funds from third-party resources, Contractor shall 

reimburse DHS for the full amount of the recovery. 
 
(4) If the amount of the recovery is greater than the amount that the Contractor 

received from DHS for the service(s) covered by the recovery, the Contractor is 
required to reimburse DHS only for the actual amount that the Contractor 
received from DHS for the service(s) covered by the recovery.  

 
b. Exceptions to the Foregoing Principles and Requirements:   

 
(1) Medicaid Enhancement; Home and Community-Based Services.  If the Contractor 

has opted to have DHS bill Medicaid on its behalf, the Contractor shall not seek 
reimbursement from Medicaid if the client is eligible for Medicaid Enhancement 
or for Home and Community-Based Services.  Instead, DHS will pay Contractor 
for services delivered, and DHS will bill the third-party resources directly, and the 
DHS Office of Recovery Services or Medicaid will then pursue reimbursement 
for amounts that DHS paid to Contractor for such services. 

 
 (2) No "Incentive Amount" for Budget Based Contracts.  No Incentive Amount is 

envisioned for budget based contracts.  In such budget based contracts, the 
Contractor may bill DHS for the cost of collecting from third-party resources only 
if the Contractor provides DHS with adequate documentation to show that the 
costs were necessary, reasonable and actually incurred by the Contractor.  The 
Contractor shall maintain financial records to support such costs for auditing 
purposes. 

 
6. REDUCTION AND UNDERUTILIZATION OF FUNDS:   
 a. If the State becomes subject to a legislative change, revocation of statutory authority, lack 

of appropriated funds or unavailability of funds, which would render the Contractor’s 
delivery or performance under this Contract impossible, or unnecessary, DHS may 
terminate this Contract in whole or in part.  If the legislature does not appropriate funds 
for paying the State’s obligations on this Contract, or if funding to the State is reduced 
due to an order by the Governor, or is required by State law, or if Federal funding (when 
applicable) is not provided, or requires any return or “giveback” of funds required for the 
State to continue payments or if the Executive Branch mandates any cuts or holdbacks in 
spending, or if the Executive Director of DHS decides to reduce the payments pursuant to 
this Contract, DHS may terminate this Contract or proportionately reduce the services 
required by this Contract and the amounts to be paid by DHS to the Contractor for such 
services.   

 
 b. If DHS determines that the Contractor is significantly underutilizing funds, DHS may, at 

its option, reduce the amount of funding under this Contract.  DHS shall give the 
Contractor notice of any such reduction.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, DHS shall 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 28 of 39 
 

reimburse the Contractor in accordance with the original provisions of this Contract for 
all services performed before the effective date of the reduction.   

 
SECTION F:  CONTRACTOR MATCH REQUIREMENTS  
 
1. MATCHING FUNDS:  Matching funds are not applicable to this Contract.   
 
2. NON-FEDERAL MATCH:  If this Contract requires a non-federal match, the match shall 

comply with the provisions of Title 45 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 74.  Other 
funding sources may require different non-federal match amounts, as shown above. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 29 of 39 
 

PART IV: ACCOUNTING REQUIREMENTS AND FINANCIAL 
COMPLIANCE 

SECTION A:  COST PRINCIPLES 
 
1. APPLICABLE COST PRINCIPLES:  Regardless of the Contractor’s entity type or the source 

of its funding, the Contractor shall comply with and determine allowable costs in accordance 
with the federal cost accounting principles described in 2 CFR Part 200 et seq. as well as any 
other applicable Parts.  

  
2. DHS GENERAL COST PRINCIPLES:  In addition to the federal cost principles, the 

Contractor shall comply with the following DHS general cost principles which apply to all 
types of DHS contracts. 

a. Related Party Costs:  The Contractor shall not make payments to related parties (as 
defined in the Conflict of Interest provisions of this Contract) in any category of 
expenditure (Administrative Costs, Capital Expenditures, or Program Costs) without the 
prior written consent of DHS. Payments to related parties may include, but are not limited 
to: salaries, wages, compensation under employment or service agreements, or payments 
under purchase, lease or rental agreements. Payments made by the Contractor to related 
parties without prior written consent may be disallowed and require repayment to DHS.   

 
b.  Personal Expenses: DHS will not reimburse Contractors for personal expenses. Travel 

that is not business related is an example of a personal expense that is not allowable. 
 
c.  Rate Based Contracts:  If this Contract is a DHS set rate based contract, the Contractor 

may be required to submit actual cost information to DHS for DHS’ use in setting rates.  
In submitting actual cost information, the DHS cost principles for budget based contracts 
also apply.  

 
3. DHS COST PRINCIPLES FOR BUDGET BASED CONTRACTS:  If this Contract is a 

budget based contract the Contractor shall also comply with the following additional DHS cost 
principles. 

 
a. Differentiation of Costs:  The contractor must differentiate administrative costs from 

program costs.  Administrative costs are costs that do not directly relate to a specific 
program such as legal counsel, accounting, budgeting, planning, risk management, and 
management information systems.  Program costs are costs that directly relate to a 
program activity such as client care and supervision, residential services, and client 
educational services provided by the contractor.  

 
 Personnel who have both administrative and program duties or who have duties related to 

multiple programs shall allocate their time to each function and program as appropriate 
and shall maintain time sheets or other comparable supporting documentation detailing 
the time spent in each function and program.  Costs that support more than one function 
or program, such as office supplies; telephone; facility (including depreciation and 
interest); data processing equipment and support; transportation; fringe benefits etc., shall 
also be appropriately allocated to the applicable function and program.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 30 of 39 
 

 
b.  Administrative Costs:  The administrative costs of this Contract shall not exceed 25% of 

the program costs of this Contract in any given Contractor fiscal year. 
 

SECTION B:  CONTRACTOR'S COST ACCOUNTING SYSTEM 
 
1. At a minimum, the Contractor's accounting system shall provide for a General Ledger and cost 

accounting records adequate to assure that costs incurred pursuant to this Contract are 
reasonable, allowable, and allocable to Contract objectives, and separate from costs associated 
with other business activities of the Contractor.  The Contractor’s accounting system shall also 
provide for the timely development of all necessary cost data in the form required by the 
Contract. 

   
2. If the Contractor must meet federal, State, or DHS reporting requirements, the Contractor’s 

accounting system shall be capable of producing the information and documentation necessary to 
comply with those reporting requirements. 

 
SECTION C:  QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
For purposes of this Contract, "Questioned Costs" means costs that are questioned because of 
monitoring or audit findings, including but not limited to findings: 

 
1. Which result from a violation or possible violation of a provision of law, statute, regulation, 

contract, grant, cooperative agreement, or other agreement or document governing the use of 
State or federal funds, including the terms and conditions of a federal award as well as funds 
used to match federal funds; 

 
2. Where the costs, at the time of the audit, are not supported by adequate documentation; or 
 
3. Where the costs incurred appear unreasonable and do not reflect the actions a prudent person 

would take in the circumstances. 
 
SECTION D:  BUDGET REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. ADJUSTMENTS TO CONTRACTOR’S BUDGET:  If this Contract requires a budget from 

the Contractor, the budget(s) attached to this Contract shall be the basis for DHS's payments to 
the Contractor.  The Contractor shall not transfer budgeted funds from “Program Costs” 
(Category III in the DHS Budget form) to either "Administrative Costs" (Category I in the DHS 
Budget form) or "Capital Expenditures" (Category II in the DHS Budget form) without prior 
written approval by the DHS Financial Manager.  Nor shall the Contractor transfer budgeted 
funds between Administrative Costs and Capital Expenditures without prior written approval by 
the DHS Financial Manager.  The Contractor may, however, transfer funds from Administrative 
Costs or Capital Expenditures to Program Costs without prior approval.  The Contractor may also 
transfer funds between subcategories within each major category without prior approval so long 
as there are no restrictions on expenditures within those subcategories. 

 
2. EXPENDITURES  IN EXCESS OF THOSE BUDGETED:  If this Contract requires a 

budget, DHS may consider any amounts in excess of the total amount budgeted in either 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 31 of 39 
 

Administrative Costs or Capital Expenditures to be questioned costs that will normally require 
the Contractor to refund such excesses to DHS.  Amounts in excess of the total amount budgeted 
in Program Costs will not normally result in questioned costs unless DHS has placed restrictions 
on subcategories within this major category.  When this Contract restricts expenditures within 
defined subcategories, DHS will consider any unapproved excesses to be a questioned cost. 

 
SECTION E:  FINANCIAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. DEFINITIONS:  The following definitions are provided for the Contractor’s convenience and 

so that the Contractor may comply with its federal, State, and DHS financial reporting 
requirements:  
 
a. “CFR” means the Code of Federal Regulations 
 
b. "Federal Audit Clearinghouse" is as defined in 2 CFR § 200.36.  
 
c. "Federal Awards" is as defined in 2 CFR § 200.38. 
 
d. “Financial Reports” means audits, reviews, compilations, statements of functional 

expenses, balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flow, or the preparer’s 
notes to the financial reports, etc. 

 
e. "GAAP" means Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, a combination of 

authoritative accounting principles, standards and procedures (set by policy boards).   
 
f. "GAAS" means Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, issued by the American 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). 
 
g. "GAS/GAGAS" means Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 

General of the United States (also known as “Yellow Book” standards).  GAS is often 
referred to as Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards ("GAGAS").  
GAGAS incorporates the generally accepted standards issued by the AICPA. 

 
h. "OMB" means the federal Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and 

Budget. 
  
i. "Pass-Through Entity" is as defined in 2 CFR § 200.74.   
 
j. "Subrecipient" is as defined in 2 CFR § 200.93. 
 
k. "Uniform Guidance" means the “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 

Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards” in 2 CFR Part 200 et seq. 
 

2. TYPE OF FINANCIAL REPORT REQUIRED.  Whether or not the Contractor is required to 
obtain and submit an annual audit or other type of financial report is determined by the 
Contractor's entity type and the amount and source of its funds, revenues and/or expenditures 
during the Contractor’s fiscal year.   
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 32 of 39 
 

3. TYPE OF CONTRACTOR.  If this Contract is funded in whole or in part with federal funds 
the Contractor may have federal reporting requirements if the Contractor meets the definition of 
a Subrecipient.  The Contractor: is not a Subrecipient under this Contract. 

 
4. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL AND STATE REPORTING 

REQUIREMENTS.  The Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal and State laws, 
rules, and requirements regarding financial reporting as set forth in the:  
a. Uniform Guidance, and  

 
b.  Utah Code § 51-2a-101 et. seq.  

 
A summary of Federal and State reporting requirements is provided in Table 1 below. 

 
5. COMPLIANCE WITH REPORTING REQUIREMENTS TO DHS. 
 

a. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable financial reporting requirements to DHS 
as set forth in Table 2 below.  

 
b. Extensions:  If the Contractor needs an extension to submit required reports to DHS, the 

Contractor shall submit a written request to the Bureau of Contract Management (BCM) 
Rate Manager at the following email:  

 
dhsfinancialreports@utah.gov 

 
Requests for extensions shall include the following information: 
 
(1) The length of time for which the extension is requested; 
 
(2) The Contractor’s justification for the requested extension; and 

 
(3) The name, phone number, and email address of the person requesting the 

extension.  
 

Extensions shall be granted at the sole discretion of the BCM Rate Manager. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 33 of 39 
 

Table 1: Summary of Federal and State Annual Financial Reporting Requirements 
 

Federal Reporting Requirements 
Per 2 CFR Part 200 (OMB Uniform Guidance) 

Utah State Reporting Requirements 
Per Utah Code § 51-2a-201 

Utah State Reporting Requirements 
Per Utah Code § 51-2a-201.5 

 
TYPE OF ENTITY 
Non-Federal Entities 

TYPE OF ENTITY 
Government Entities, School Districts, and Charter Schools

TYPE OF ENTITY
Non-Profit Corporations with Revenues or Expenditures of 

MORE than $25,000 in Federal Pass Through, State, or 
Local Funds as Defined in § 51-2a-201.5 

TYPE OF FINANCIAL REPORT REQUIRED 
1. If $750,000 or more in federal awards is expended, a 

Single or Program Specific Audit using GAGAS 
standards and prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of OMB Uniform Guidance is required, 
including:   
a.  The data collection form described in§ 200.512. 
b.  The Reporting Package described in § 200.512 

including: 
(1)  Financial statements and schedule of 

expenditures of federal awards; 
(2)  A summary schedule of prior audit findings: 
(3)  The auditor’s report(s); and 
(4)  A corrective action plan for any current year 

audit findings.  
c.  Any Management Letter(s) issued by the auditor.

TYPE OF FINANCIAL REPORT REQUIRED 
The reporting requirements for entities in this category 
may be found on the Utah State Auditor’s website at: 
 

auditor.utah.gov 
 

Reporting requirements depend on the entity’s total annual 
revenues or expenditures which are tiered as follows: 

TYPE OF FINANCIAL REPORT REQUIRED 
The reporting requirements for entities in this category 
may be found on the Utah State Auditor’s website at: 
 

auditor.utah.gov 
 
Reporting requirements depend on the entity’s total annual 

revenues or expenditures which are tiered as follows: 

 
 
1. Revenues or expenditures are $1,000,000 or more 

(audit). 

 
 
1.  Revenues or expenditures are $1,000,000 or more 

(audit). 

2. If less than $750,000 in federal awards is expended, no 
audit is required, except as noted in § 200.503, but 
records must be available for review or audit. 

2.  Revenues or expenditures are less than $1,000,000 as 
prescribed by the state auditor.  

2.  Revenues or expenditures are less than $1,000,000 but 
at least $350,000 (review). 

3.  Revenues or expenditures are less than $350,000 but at 
least $100,000 (compilation). 

4.  Revenues or expenditures are less than $100,000 but 
greater than $25,000 (fiscal report). 

SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

Reports shall be submitted to the Federal Audit 
Clearinghouse within 30 calendar days after receipt of the 
auditor’s report(s), or nine months after the end of the audit 
period, whichever is earlier. 

Government Entities:  Reports shall be submitted to the 
State Auditor within 180 days after the Contractor’s fiscal 
year end. 
 
School Districts and Charter Schools:  Reports shall be 
submitted to the Office of Education by November 30th 
and to the State Auditor by December 31st.   

Reports shall be submitted to the State Auditor within six 
months after the Contractor’s fiscal year end. 

Disclaimer:  The information provided in this Table is summary information only.  Any discrepancies between the requirements in this Table and the requirements in federal or state 
law or rule shall be resolved in favor of the requirements in the applicable law or rule. The Contractor is advised to review the applicable law and rules or seek professional advice to 
determine whether it is subject to federal and/or Utah State financial reporting requirements and if so, the type of report(s) required for compliance. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 34 of 39 
 

Table 2:  Annual Financial Reporting Requirements to DHS 
 

  TYPE OF ENTITY 

Entities with a Federal 
Reporting Obligation 

Pursuant to the 
OMB Uniform Guidance 

Government Entities 
with a Utah State 

Reporting Obligation 
Pursuant to Utah Code 

§ 51-2a-201 

Nonprofit Corporations 
Subject to 
Utah Code 

§ 51-2a-201.5 

All Entities Receiving 
Pass Through Money as 

Defined in Utah Code 
§ 63J-1-220 

 
All Entities that DO NOT have a Federal or State Reporting 
Obligation Pursuant to Table 1 Requirements shall submit to 

DHS the required report indicated below: 

 
No additional reporting 
obligation for DHS 

 
No additional reporting 
obligation for DHS 

Shall Annually Disclose 
to DHS: 
 
1.  Whether the nonprofit 

met or exceeded the 
dollar amounts listed in 
§ 51-2a-201.5(2) in the 
previous fiscal year of 
the nonprofit; and 

 
2.  Whether the nonprofit 

anticipates meeting or 
exceeding the dollar 
amounts listed in § 51-
2a-201.5(2) in the 
fiscal year the money 
is disbursed.  

Shall Annually Provide 
to DHS: 
 
1.  A written description 

and an itemized report 
detailing the 
expenditure of the state 
money, or the intended 
expenditure of any 
state money that has 
not been spent; and 

 
2. A final written 

itemized report when 
all the state money is 
spent. 

If $1,000,000 or MORE is received from DHS in the 
Contractor’s fiscal year:  
 
A CPA Audit performed in accordance with GAGAS.  Also, the 
auditor’s Management Letter must be included if the audit report 
disclosed any audit findings.

If LESS THAN $1,000,000 but at least $750,000 or MORE is 
received from DHS in the Contractor’s fiscal year: 
 
A CPA Review.

If LESS THAN $750,000 but at least $500,000 or MORE is 
received from DHS during the Contractor’s fiscal year: 
 
A CPA Compilation. 

If LESS THAN $500,000 but at least $250,000 or MORE is 
received from DHS during the Contractor’s fiscal year: 
 
Financial statements prepared by the contractor or by an outside 
accounting or bookkeeping service.

If LESS THAN $250,000 is received from DHS during the 
Contractor’s fiscal year: 
 
No report is required.

SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

See Table 1 See Table 1 Disclosure shall be made 
to the DHS Contract 
Representative for this 
Contract at the time of 
entering into this 
Contract and annually 
thereafter within six (6) 
months after the end of 
Contractor's fiscal year 

Reports shall be submitted 
to the DHS Contract 
Representative for this 
Contract no later than 
July 31st each year or 
within 30 days of the 
expenditure of all State 
funds, whichever is 
earlier 

Reports shall be submitted within six (6) months after the end 
of Contractor's fiscal year to: 
 

dhsfinancialreports@utah.gov 
 

OR 
 

Department of Human Services 
Bureau of Contract Management 

Attention:  Rate Manager 
195 N. 1950 W. 

Salt Lake City, UT  84116

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 35 of 39 
 

PART V: COMMONLY APPLICABLE LAWS  
 

SECTION A: COMPLIANCE WITH ADMINISTRATIVE GRANTS 
 

The Contractor is bound by federal law, which establishes fiscal and administrative rules applicable to 
entities that receive federal grants.  These rules are published in OMB Circular A-110 and in the OMB 
Common Rule, which is codified in 45 C.F.R. Part 92 (1999) and 45 C.F.R. Part 74.  
 
SECTION B: COMPLIANCE WITH STATE AND FEDERAL LAWS 

 
The Contractor is required to comply with all anti-discrimination and drug-free workplace laws, and all 
laws governing research involving human subjects.  When the Contractor receives state or federal funds 
pursuant to this Contract, certain state and federal requirements may also apply.  The Contractor shall 
comply with these laws and regulations to the extent they apply to the subject matter of this Contract and 
are required by the amount of state and federal funds involved in this Contract. 

 
Table 1, “Federal and State Laws,” is provided as a reference guide to various laws and requirements.  
The information contained in this table is not exhaustive and the Contractor understands that it is 
obligated to seek independent legal advice in these matters. 

 
Table 1: Federal and State Laws 

Description of Act 
Applicable  

Federal Law 
Applicable 
State Law 

Discrimination and Employment Related Laws 

Age Discrimination Act of 1975 42 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6107; 45 C.F.R. 
Part 91 

 

Americans with Disabilities Act 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.;  
28 C.F.R. Part 35, Part 39 

 

Civil Rights Act of 1964 as 
amended, Title VI 

45 C.F.R. Part 80 
42 U.S.C. § 2000d et. seq. 

 

Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title 
VII 

42 U.S.C. § 2000e et. seq. Utah Code § 13-7-1 et seq. 

Contract Work Hours and Safety 
Standards Act 

40 U.S.C. §§ 3701-3704; 29 C.F.R. 
Part 5 

 

Copeland Anti-Kickback Act 45C.F.R. 2543.82, 18 U.S.C. § 874, 
29 C.F.R. Part 3  

 

Davis-Bacon Act 40 U.S.C. § 3142;  
29 C.F.R. Part 5 

 

Drug-Free Workplace 
Requirements 

41 U.S.C. § 701 through 707, Drug 
Free Workplace Act of 1988 

Utah Code § 34-41-101 et seq.; Utah 
Code § 34-38-1 et seq.; Utah Code § 67-
19-36 et seq.; Utah Administrative Code, 
R477-14-1 et seq.  

Education Amendments of 1972, 
Title IX 

20 U.S.C. § 1681et. seq.; 
45 C.F.R. Part 86  

 

Employment Eligibility 
Verification 

8 U.S.C. § 1324a Utah Code § 63G-12-302 

Equal Employment Opportunity Exec. Order No. 11246 (1965), as 
amended by Exec. Order No. 11375; 
41 C.F.R. Part 60 

 

Equal Pay Act 29 U.S.C. § 206(d)  
Fair Labor Standards Act 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 36 of 39 
 

Description of Act 
Applicable  

Federal Law 
Applicable 
State Law 

Immigration Control and Reform 
Act 

8 U.S.C. § 1324  

Protection and Advocacy for 
Individuals with Mental Illness 
Act  

42 U.S.C. § 10801 et seq.  

Public Health Service Act, 
Section 522 and Section 526 

45 C.F.R. Part 84.53  

Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 
amended, Section 504 

29 U.S.C. § 794; 
45 C.F.R. Part 84 

 

Utah Antidiscrimination Act -- 
(Includes the prohibition of 
unlawful harassment) 

 Utah Code § 34A-5-101, et seq.   
 
(See also Utah Executive Order March 
17, 1993, which prohibits sexual 
harassment of state employees and 
employees of public and higher 
education) 

Utah Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 

 Utah Code § 34A-6-101, et seq.  

Property Laws 

Energy Policy and Conservation 
Act 

42 U.S.C. § 6322  

Federal Clean Air Act 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.  Utah Code § 26-38-1, et seq. 
Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act 

33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.  

Flood Disaster Act of 1973 and 
other flood hazard provisions 

42 U.S.C. § 4106  

National Environmental Policy 
Act of 1969 ("NEPA") 

42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq.; 40 C.F.R. 
Part 1500 et seq. 

 

National Historic Preservation 
Act ("NHPA") of 1966 

16 U.S.C. § 470, et seq.; 36 C.F.R. 
Part 800, et seq. 

 

Pro-Children Act of 1994   20 U.S.C. § 6081, et seq.   

Medicaid and Utah False Claims Reporting Laws 

Civil False Claims Act 31 U.S.C. § 3729-3733 and Chapter 38  
Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 Public L. 109-171 (2006)  
Utah False Claims Act  Utah Code § 26-20-1 et seq. 
Utah Protection of Public 
Employees Act   Utah Code § 67-21-1 et. seq. 

Procurement Laws 

Utah Procurement Code  Utah Code § 63G-6a-101 et seq. 

Utah State Procurement Rules  
Utah Administrative Code, Rule R33-1, 
et seq. 

Debarment and Suspension 

45 C.F.R. Part 76; 
Exec. Order No. 12549; and  
Exec. Order 12689 Utah Code § 63G-6a-904 

Miscellaneous Laws 
Abuse Reporting Requirements  Utah Code § 62A-4a-403; Utah Code § 

62A-3-305 
Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment 31 U.S.C. § 1352;  

45 C.F.R. Part 93 
 

Ethics Acts  Utah Code § 67-16-1 et. seq. and § 10-3-
1301 et. seq.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 37 of 39 
 

Description of Act 
Applicable  

Federal Law 
Applicable 
State Law 

Federal Funding and 
Accountability and Transparency 
Act (FFATA) 

P.L. 109-282, as amended by Section 
6202 of P.L. 110-252.  Guidance 
issued by the Office of Management 
and Budget may be found in the 
Federal Register (Volume 75, No. 
177, September 14, 2010, 2 CFR Part 
170) that establishes reporting 
requirements. 

 

Government Records Access and 
Management Act (GRAMA),  

 Utah Code § 63G-2-101 et. seq. 

Hatch Act 5 U.S.C. § 1501, et. seq. Utah Code § 67-19-19 
Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act of 1996 
(HIPAA) 

45 C.F.R. Parts 160, 162, and 164  

Public Health Service Act, 
Section 474(a), Protection of 
Human Subjects 

42 U.S.C. § 2899; 45 C.F.R. Part 46; 
21 C.F.R. 50 & 21 C.F.R. 56 

 

Substance Abuse and Mental 
Health confidentiality of 
substance abuse and mental 
health records 

42. U.S.C. § 290dd-2; 42 C.F.R. § 2 
and 2a 

 

Uniform Administrative 
Requirements for Grants and 
Cooperative Agreements to State,  
Local, and Tribal Government 

45 C.F.R. § 92  

Utah Human Services Code   Utah Code Title 62A 
Utah Referral Information 
Network 

 Utah Code § 62A-17-101 et. seq. 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



 

Page 38 of 39 
 

PART VI: JURISDICTION, COPYRIGHT, AND OTHER GENERAL 
PROVISIONS 

 
1. CONTRACT JURISDICTION, CHOICE OF LAW, AND VENUE:  The provisions of this 

Contract shall be governed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Utah.  The 
parties will submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Utah for any dispute arising out 
of this Contract or the beach thereof.  Venue shall be in Salt Lake City, in the Third District 
Court for Salt Lake County. 

 
2. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE:  A final determination that any provision of this Contract is 

illegal or void shall not affect the legality or enforceability of any other provision of this 
Contract. 

 
3. COPYRIGHT:  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Contract, DHS owns the 

copyright for all materials developed by the Contractor for DHS.  If the Contractor develops any 
materials for its own use in connection with this Contract, and if such materials are not required 
by this Contract or requested by DHS as part of the Contractor's performance, the Contractor 
may use those materials free of charge, and without obtaining prior permission.   

 
The Contractor shall release, indemnify and hold the State, its officers, agents and employees 
harmless from liability of any kind or nature, including the Contractor’s use of any copyrighted 
or un-copyrighted program, composition, secret process, patented or un-patented program, 
invention, article or appliance furnished or used in the performance of this Contract. 
 
The Contractor is not entitled to use human subjects information generated in connection with 
this Contract for any purpose, including scholarly publications or research purposes, unless the 
Contractor obtained written approval of its research protocol from the DHS IRB prior to the 
commencement of any research efforts. 
 

4. ABILITY TO COMPLY WITH CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS:  The Contractor 
represents that it has the financial, managerial and institutional capacity to fully comply with the 
requirements of this Contract. 

 
5. AUTHORITY OF PERSON SIGNING FOR THE CONTRACTOR:  The Contractor 

represents that the person who has signed this Contract on behalf of the Contractor has full legal 
authority to bind the Contractor and to execute this Contract. 

 
6. CONTRACTOR HAS NOT ALTERED THIS CONTRACT:  By signing this Contract, the 

Contractor represents that neither it nor its employees or representatives have in any way altered 
the language or provisions in the Contract, and that this Contract contains exactly the same 
provisions that appeared in this document and its exhibits when DHS originally sent it to the 
Contractor. 

 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



Page 39 of 39 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties executed this Contract: 

CONTRACTOR 

By:   
Type or Print Name:   
Title/Position:   
Utah Transit Authority 
Date:    

DHS 

By:   
Type or Print Name:   
Title/Position:   
Division of Services for People with Disabilities 
Date:    

Log # 35914 Contract # A02767 

Approved as to form by UTA Compliance Officer 

By:  _______________________________
Date: ______________________________ 

By:___________________________
Date:_________________________

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5

April 16, 2019



1 
 

ATTACHMENT A: SCOPE OF WORK 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE SERVICES OR SUPPORTS TO BE PROVIDED PURSUANT 
TO THIS CONTRACT. 
 
A. Background.  This Contract is for specialized transportation needs and the paratransit 

services provided under it shall meet the service requirements outlined below.  The 
Contractor is a public transit district provider of fixed-route, rail, paratransit, and route 
deviation transit services in all or part of Salt Lake, Tooele, Utah, Weber, Davis, and Box 
Elder Counties.  Contractor agrees to pay the Medicaid match seed funds from funds 
generated by local sales and use taxes. As consideration for UTA providing the local 
Medicaid match, DHS/DSPD agrees to annually negotiate a fare for transportation 
services provided by UTA under this Agreement, as approved by the State of Utah, 
Department of Health (DOH) or United States Department of Health and Human 
Services, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). 

 
B. General Description.  An individual or individuals receiving services pursuant to this 

Contract are referred to as a “Person” or “Persons”.  Utah Transit Payment (UTP) service 
provides paratransit to and from a Person’s home or living facility to community 
habilitation programs or facilities that provide day supports. 

 
C. Limitations.  The Contractor shall not: 

 
1. Provide transportation to medical appointments under this contract or bill 

DHS/DSPD for UTP transportation to medical appointments. 
 
2. Notwithstanding any statute, regulation, or policy that permits the termination of 

services to Persons, including but not limited to 49 CFR 37.5, suspend services 
for safety without first completing a review with the DHS/DSPD Director or 
designee to ensure due process. 

 
 

3. Provide UTP services in privately owned vehicles.  Services shall only be 
provided in transit vehicles, as defined in Utah Code § 17B-2a-802. 

 
4. Become the legal guardian or conservator of any Person receiving services 

pursuant to this Contract. 
 
D. Population Served.  The Contractor shall provide UTP services only to Persons currently 

receiving services from, and referred by, DHS/DSPD with Intellectual Disabilities (ID), 
Related Conditions (RC), and adults 18 year of age or older with Acquired Brain Injury 
(ABI), as defined in the Utah Administrative Code R539-1-3. 
 

E. Contractor Qualifications.  The Contractor shall: 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



2 
 

1. Comply with all state and local laws and regulations in accordance with Utah 
Code §§ 17B-2a-819 and 825. 

 
2. Be enrolled as an approved Medicaid Provider with the Utah Department of 

Health, Division of Medicaid and Health Financing (UDOH/DMHF) and have the 
option to allow DHS/DSPD to bill Medicaid on its behalf for covered Medicaid 
services included in the rate paid by DHS/DSPD to the Contractor. 
 

3. Participate in all UDOH/DMHF or DHS/DSPD provided Medicaid training. 
 
F. Contractor’s Staff Requirements.  The Contractor shall ensure its staff directly providing 

UTP transportation services: 
 

1. Maintain a current Commercial Driver License as required in accordance with 
Utah law, while providing services pursuant to this Contract. 

 
 
2. Are not permitted to provide UTP services without direct line-of-sight supervision 

until the staff receives training working with Persons with disabilities, as 
documented by the Contractor, and until the staff passes a background check as 
required in Utah Code 62A-2-120. 

 
3. Are approved per initial hire background screening application approvals, as 

described in R501-14, utilizing the standards described in Utah Code 62A-5-
103.5(5) for Direct Service by Utah Transportation Authority drivers. 

 
4. Are familiar with, and annually review, sign, and comply with the DSPD Code of 

Conduct, as found at 
https://dspd.utah.gov/pdf/1.20%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf, in addition to the 
DHS Code of Conduct referenced in PART I. 

 
G. General Service Requirements.   
 

1. Maintain approval as an atypical Medicaid Provider for the Community Support 
Waiver and Acquired Brain Injury Waiver with the UDOH/DMHF. Contractor 
shall maintain approval by submitting required documentation as requested by 
DHS Contract Team. 

 
2. Have a current active DHS/DSPD USTEPS Provider Interface (UPI) account, 

comply with UPI requirements pursuant to this contract, and comply with 
electronic access and process changes as they develop.  UPI access forms are on 
the DHS/DSPD web page: dspd.utah.gov. 

 
3. Incident and Critical Incident Reports and Critical Incident Investigations.  When 

the Contractor or any of its staff has reason to believe a reportable incident has 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



3 
 

occurred as defined in G.3.a. below, the Contractor or its staff shall initiate the 
Incident Report (IR) process as described in Section I.2. below. 

 
a. Reportable Incidents.  All of the following incidents and other incidents that 

are comparable to the incidents listed below require an incident report to be 
submitted to UPI. If any aspect of the following are witnessed by 
Contractor’s staff: 

 
(1) Self-injurious behaviors Any incident requiring medical treatment; 

 
(2) Suicidal attempts; 

 
(3) Aspiration or choking; 

 
(4) Evidence of seizure or seizure like behavior; 

 
(5) Human rights violations that include but are not limited to 

unauthorized use of physical, mechanical, or chemical restraints; 
 

(6) A Person left unattended in any of the Contractor’s vehicles; 
 
(7) A Person's disruptive behavior creating an unsafe situation during 

transportation that requires driver intervention; 
 
(8) Significant property damage, estimated damage totaling $500.00 or 

more; 
 
(9) Physical injury to a Person, or by a Person, during transportation; 
 
(10) Assault involving a Person; 
 
(11) Threats of harm to other passengers or the driver; 
 
(12) Law enforcement involvement affecting the Person or the UTP 

driver during transport; 
 
(13) Any use of Emergency Interventions as defined in Utah 

Administrative Code R539-4-6; 
 
(14) Incidents of suspected or known abuse, neglect and maltreatment 

during transport. 
 

(15) Incidents related to the provision of services to those with ID.RC 
and ABI but not directly involving a specific Person in services, 
that do involve: 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



4 
 

(a) The Contractor; 
 
(b) Staff of the Contractor, or 
 
(c) Facilities of the Contractor; shall be reported to the 

Department of Human Services, Office of Licensing 
(DHS/OL) Incident Reporting Team and may require a 
critical incident investigation, but not a Person-specific 
incident report. 

 
(16) Any incident involving a DSPD client for which Contractor has 

received inquiries from the media. 
 

b. The Contractor and its staff shall cooperate with any investigation and 
mitigation activities taken by DHS, DOH and the Person’s Support 
Coordinator (SC) by providing additional information as requested. 

 
H. Use of UPI: The Contractor administrative staff that supervise UPI access by the 

Contractor’s assigned IR and Financial staff shall: 
 
1. Complete the DHS/DSPD form “0-9 USTEPS Provider Interface (UPI) Provider 

Company Designee Access Form”; 
 
2. Complete the DHS/DSPD form “0-8 USTEPS Provider Interface (UPI) Individual 

User Access Form” for at least one staff; 
 
3. Ensure that access to UPI is granted only to staff that need to know the information 

in UPI to provide or coordinate DHS/DSPD services; 
 
4. Ensure staff with UPI access is trained in HIPAA privacy requirements; 
 
5. Approve or reject the DHS/DSPD Form 1056 through UPI within 15 business days 

of the creation of a new or adjusted DHS/DSPD Form 1056; 
 
6. If the Contractor rejects the DHS/DSPD Form 1056, the Contractor shall 

coordinate with the Person’s SC to adjust the DHS/DSPD Form 1056, or 
transition the service to a non-Contractor service; 

 
7. Ensure that there is agreement between the Person’s usage of the services and the 

service utilization with the approved DHS/DSPD Form 1056. If the Person is at 
risk of exhausting the units allocated in the DHS/DSPD Form 1056, the 
Contractor shall notify the Person’s SC and arrange for appropriate changes to be 
made to the Person’s Person-Centered Support Plan (PCSP); 

 
8. Use the UPI “Provider Organization” section to create and maintain a Contractor 

organizational group structure.  The Contractor determines how they want their 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



5 
 

structure to exist.  The organizational group structure defines what data an 
employee can see based on where they appear in the organizational group 
structure and what Persons in services are assigned to it.  The organizational 
group structure will restrict UPI users from seeing Person information that is not 
required to provide transportation services or coordinate DHS/DSPD services.   

 
9. Assign and maintain staff with UPI access to the appropriate organizational 

group(s) created as required in Section H.8. above; 
 
10. Assign and maintain each staff with UPI access, email and notification preference; 
 
11. Assign and maintain each Person to the appropriate organizational group(s); 
 
12. Remove terminated staff from the “Provider Organization” within one business 

day of termination; 
 
13. Remove staff access from an organizational group within one business day of the 

staff  no longer having a need to know the information in UPI to provide or 
coordinate DHS/DSPD services; and 

 
14. Remove a Person from the “Provider Organization” within one business day when 

the Contractor is no longer providing services to that Person. 
 
I. Removal for Safety Purposes.  
 

1. If a Person’s disruptive behavior creates an unsafe situation while receiving 
transportation services in the Contractor’s vehicle of any kind, and  

 
a. Results in the suspension or removal of that Person for the safety of the 

Person, the safety of other passengers and Contractor’s employees, the 
Contractor shall follow their policy for safety-driven removal, and;  

 
b. The Contractor shall immediately notify the: 
 

(1) Person’s SC and the Person’s guardian, if applicable; or 
 
(2) DHS/DSPD service provider; and 
(3) Appropriate protective service agency. 

 
2. The following IR process shall be followed: 

 
a. Within 24 hours or the next business day of the occurrence of the event or 

the date of discovery, Contractor’s UPI staff shall initiate an IR in the UPI 
system. 

 
b. Within five (5) business days, the Contractor shall: 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



6 
 

 
(1) Fully complete the initial IR in the DHS/DSPD USTEPS/UPI 

system with any additional information available. 
 
(2) Respond to follow-up questions regarding any IR or Critical 

Incident Investigation from DHS and the UDOH/DMHF. The 
Contractor and its staff shall support any of these investigations 
and mitigation activities taken by DHS and UDOH/DMHF. 

 
J. Direct Service Requirements.  The Contractor and its staff providing UTP services shall 

ensure: 
 
1. It provides UTP services that do not exceed the amount and frequency scheduled 

by the Person and authorized by the Person’s annual/current Purchased Service 
Authorization Form 1056. Form 1056 is generated by the Person’s SC on the 
anniversary of the Person’s annual PCSP or earlier as needed. 

 
2. Persons are not left unattended in the vehicle without line of sight of the driver. 
 
3. Persons remain seated while the vehicle is in motion. 
 
4. Persons do not access the vehicle operating controls while the vehicle is running. 
 
5. All Persons in wheelchairs use seat belts or locking mechanisms to immobilize 

wheelchairs during travel and safe use of a mechanical lift. 
 
6. Persons are transported using safety restraint seats when required by Utah State 

law. 
 
7. Vehicles used for transporting Persons have working doors and that doors are 

closed while the vehicle is moving. 
 
8. A Person’s safety while in the vehicle and ensure the Person arrives safely at the 

scheduled time and destination. The Contractor shall ensure no one is left alone 
along the way to or from day supports, even in emergency situations, or when the 
health and safety of others may be in question.  

 
K. Staff Training Requirements.  The Contractor shall: 

 
1. Ensure its staff providing UTP complete and achieve competency as determined 

by the Contractor in the following training areas within 30 days of employment 
and before working alone with a Person:  

 
a. Emergency Procedures, and when to call 911 because of emergency, the 

requirement to report incidents; 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



7 
 

b. Orientation to Persons with Intellectual Disabilities (ID), Related 
Conditions (RC), and Acquired Brain Injury (ABI); 

 
c. Catastrophic Emergency and Civil Crisis Procedures; 
 
d. Legal Rights of Persons with Disabilities including Human Rights as 

found in Utah Administrative Code R539-3; 
 
e. Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation and mandatory reporting laws; 
 
f. DHS Provider Code of Conduct and DHS/DSPD Code of Conduct; 
 
g. Confidentiality; 
 
h. The Contractor’s policy, philosophy, and mission; and 
 
i. The provisions of the law, including but not limited to, the Americans with 

Disabilities Act (ADA) that regulate the services provided pursuant to this 
Contract. 

 
2. Ensure the above training is conducted by trainers with knowledge and 

experience in providing services and supports to Persons with ID.RC, and ABI. 
 

L. Quality Monitoring Process.  The Contractor shall have an internal agency self-
assessment or quality assurance monitoring process for UTP services that may be 
externally validated by DHS. At a minimum this process shall include the following:- 

 
1. An established method for responding to and resolving concerns identified by the 

Contractor's internal monitoring efforts. 
 
2. A procedure for responding to DHS corrective action requirements within the 

timeframe specified in this Contract. The Contractor shall respond to each 
identified deficiency, including proposed method of correction, task assignments, 
and supervision. 

 
3. If the Contractor's response is determined unacceptable by DHS, the Contractor 

shall submit a revised plan of correction within five (5) working days. 
 
4. If a revised plan of correction is unsatisfactory, DHS may initiate sanctions 

pursuant to Utah Code § 62A-5-103(2)(i). The Contractor may appeal sanctions in 
writing to the DHS/DSPD Director within 30 days from the imposition of the 
sanction(s).  

 
M. Mandatory Reporting.  When a reason to believe an incident of abuse, neglect, 

exploitation, or maltreatment has occurred as described in the DHS/DSPD Code of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



8 
 

Conduct, Utah Code § 62A-03-301 et seq. for adults; or Utah Code § 62A-04a- 101 et 
seq. for children; the Contractor or its staff shall immediately notify the appropriate: 

 
1. Adult Protective Services; or 
 
2. Child Protective Services; or 
 
3. Law enforcement agency. 

 
N. Protective Services Investigation. 

 
1. The Contractor shall cooperate with the Child Protective Services, Adult 

Protective Services, or any law enforcement agency, if they are investigating 
allegations of abuse, neglect, and exploitation of a Person(s), until their 
investigation has been completed. 

 
2. If an allegation of abuse, neglect or exploitation is made against a member of the 

Contractor's staff, the Contractor shall not allow the identified staff member to 
have any contact with that Person(s) until: 

 
a. The investigation is completed and the finding of the allegation is not 

substantiated or supported; or 
 
b. The Contractor conducts an internal investigation and can guarantee the 

safety of the alleged victims and any other vulnerable Persons. 
 
3. Concerns regarding the investigation shall be directed to the investigating agency. 

 
O. Record Keeping.  The Contractor shall: 
 

1. Maintain complete, accurate supporting documentation of all requirements of this 
Contract, including but not limited to driver personnel and training records, 
transportation service records, pick-up and delivery sheets, and time sheets 
recording the delivery of UTP services. 

 
2. Make all supporting documentation available at Contractor’s business location or 

as agreed for State or Federal audit and review purposes within 24 hours of 
request. 

 
3. Document all direct services provided as identified below: 
 

a. The name of the Person served; 
 
b. The name of the person who delivered the service; 
 
c. The specific service provided; 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



9 
 

 
d. The date and time the service was provided; and 
 
e. The duration (number of service units) of the service. 
 

4. Maintain the same documentation requirements outlined herein for any of its sub-
contractors providing UTP services pursuant to this Contract. 

 
5. The Contractor shall maintain DHS/DSPD Purchase Service Authorization Form 

1056, along with supporting documentation on file including the DHS Monthly 
Billing Form 520.  

 
P. Reports and Billing Forms.  The Contractor shall submit the reports and billing form 

listed below by the specified due date. If required reports and billing forms are not 
submitted within the timeframes outlined below, payment may be denied. 
 

REPORTS DUE DATE SUBMIT 

Incident Report  
On or before five business days from 
the occurrence or discovery of the 
event. 

USTEPS/UPI 
System 

DHS 520 Billing Forms   
30 days after the receipt of the 
DHS/DSPD generated 520 billings 
forms. 

The Person’s SC 

Response to DHS 
Corrective Action Plan 
Requests 

Major deficiency:  within 24 hours of 
notification. Significant deficiency:  
within 10 days of notification. Minor 
deficiency: within 30 days of 
notification. (The definition of Major, 
Significant and Minor deficiencies are 
in the DHS: QA Manual, Monitoring 
Components, Section IV, which may 
be found at the DHS Office of Fiscal 
Operations website.) 

DHS Quality 
Assurance Team 

 
Q. Rate:  UTP is a daily rate for paratransit to and from a Person’s home or living facility to 

community habilitation programs or facilities that provide day supports. It is a flat rate 
paid on an individual basis for transportation services provided to a Person. 

 
R. Additional Public Transportation Fares also available under this contract to Persons 

served under this contract: 
 

1. UTA-P Utah Transit Authority Transportation Supports/Bus-monthly pass; used 
to help the Person access other supports which are needed for them to live in the 
community  

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



10 
 

2. UTA-T Utah Transit Authority Transportation Supports/Bus-single trip or ticket; 
used to help the Person access other supports which are needed for them to live in 
the community. 

 
3. UTD-T Utah Transit Authority Route Deviation Fee; to allow Person to utilize 

UTA route deviation fixed bus routes (where available) to gain access to UTP 
paratransit by dropping Person at UTP paratransit service points by these 
deviation bus routes that are within ¾ mile distance from a fixed bus route. 

 
4. UTF-T Utah Transit Authority Combined UTA-T and UTD-T; to accommodate 

those Persons that use both codes during one trip, so that the rates are not billed 
separately when submitted for payment. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 59C9F42F-C57C-4353-97EE-DC2D0542A8D5



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: 59C9F42FC57C435397EEDC2D0542A8D5 Status: Sent

Subject: Please DocuSign: 35914 Utah Transit Authority (Gov).pdf

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 49 Signatures: 1 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 4 Initials: 0 Lisa James

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-07:00) Mountain Time (US & Canada)

195 N 1950 W

Salt Lake City, UT  84116

lisahewittjames@utah.gov

IP Address: 168.178.211.143

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             4/9/2019 11:44:27 AM

Holder: Lisa James

             lisahewittjames@utah.gov

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Cherryl Beveridge

CBeveridge@rideuta.com

Special Services General Manager

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None) Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 204.126.146.202

Sent: 4/9/2019 11:51:23 AM

Viewed: 4/15/2019 9:39:41 AM 

Signed: 4/16/2019 9:26:55 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 4/15/2019 9:39:41 AM
      ID: 15d52660-a5de-4755-adcb-253deabcfeea

Lisa Bohman

lbohman@rideuta.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 4/16/2019 9:26:56 AM

Viewed: 4/18/2019 11:13:44 AM 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 4/18/2019 11:13:44 AM
      ID: 90255773-bb26-453e-b5a3-ee4c4d23c6ac

Steve Meyer

Smeyer@rideuta.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Angella Pinna

apinna@utah.gov

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp



Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp
Ray Winger

raywinger@utah.gov

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 4/9/2019 11:51:23 AM

Viewed: 4/9/2019 12:24:02 PM 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 4/16/2019 9:26:56 AM

Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure



CONSUMER DISCLOSURES

Obtaining copies of documents

You will have the ability to download and print documents we send to you through the DocuSign

system during and immediately after signing session and, if you elect to create a DocuSign

signer account, you may access them for a limited period of time (usually 30 days) after such

documents are first sent to you. 

To advise State of Utah Department of Human Services of your new e-mail address

To let us know of a change in your e-mail address where we should send notices or amendments

electronically to you, you must send an email message to us at bcmcontracts@gmail.com and in

the body of such request you must state: your previous e-mail address, your new e-mail address.

We do not require any other information from you to change your email address. 

In addition, you must notify DocuSign, Inc. to arrange for your new email address to be reflected

in your DocuSign account by following the process for changing e-mail in the DocuSign system. 

Required hardware and software

Operating Systems: Windows® 2000, Windows® XP, Windows

Vista®; Mac OS® X 

Browsers: Final release versions of Internet Explorer® 6.0

or above (Windows only); Mozilla Firefox 2.0

or above (Windows and Mac); Safari™ 3.0 or

above (Mac only) 

PDF Reader: Acrobat® or similar software may be required

to view and print PDF files 

Screen Resolution: 800 x 600 minimum 

Enabled Security Settings: Allow per session cookies

 

** These minimum requirements are subject to change. If these requirements change, you will be

asked to re-accept the disclosure. Pre-release (e.g. beta) versions of operating systems and

browsers are not supported. 

Acknowledging your access and consent to receive materials electronically

To confirm to us that you can access this information electronically, which will be similar to

other electronic notices and disclosures that we will provide to you, please verify that you were

able to read this electronic disclosure and that you also were able to print on paper or

electronically save this page for your future reference and access or that you were able to e-mail

this disclosure and consent to an address where you will be able to print on paper or save it for

your future reference and access. Further, if you consent to receiving notices and disclosures

exclusively in electronic format on the terms and conditions described above, please let us know

by clicking the ‘I agree’ button below. 

By checking the ‘I agree’ box, I confirm that: 

• I can access and read this Electronic CONSENT TO ELECTRONIC RECEIPT OF

ELECTRONIC CONSUMER DISCLOSURES document; and

 

• I can print on paper the disclosure or save or send the disclosure to a place where I can

print it, for future reference and access; and

 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 8/8/2017 4:16:14 PM
Parties agreed to: Cherryl Beveridge, Lisa Bohman



• I consent to receive through electronic means contracts, amendments, notices, disclosures,

authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided

or made available to me by  State of Utah Department of Human Services during the

course of my relationship with you.

 



Billed Amount

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Grand total Rate Rate

2013 $1,181,728.04 $12.14 $13.25

2014 $1,453,274.95 $13.25 $14.35

2015 $128,231.60 $123,955.30 $142,811.20 $140,084.70 $129,523.10 $140,084.70 $151,105.50 $155,153.25 $156,586.50 $162,981.00 $141,435.00 $148,002.75 $1,719,954.60 $14.35 $15.75

2016 $148,916.25 $151,420.50 $171,816.75 $159,327.00 $159,957.00 $160,492.50 $152,499.50 $184,954.30 $169,315.10 $162,758.40 $157,257.00 $153,468.30 $1,932,182.60 $15.75 $17.30

2017 $161,841.50 $152,326.50 $214,213.25 $160,180.70 $176,183.20 $170,872.10 $159,980.00 $199,633.00 $176,700.00 $195,434.00 $179,018.00 $163,799.00 $2,110,181.25 $17.30 $19.00

2018 $191,995.00 $171,741.00 $195,643.00 $184,737.00 $196,935.00 $182,514.00 $189,737.60 $224,660.80 $188,427.20 $222,206.40 $194,396.80 $171,704.00 $2,314,697.80 $19.00 $20.80

2019 $251,313.50 $183,768.00 $214,177.60 $202,238.40 $215,592.00 $199,804.80 $208,237.02 $246,565.23 $206,798.85 $243,871.52 $213,350.49 $188,445.14 $2,574,162.55 $20.80 $22.83

Estimated 

matching Seed 

@ 28%

Estimated 2019-2020 $22.83 $2,657,202.03 744,016.57$      

Estimated 2020-2021 rate $25.06 $2,916,534.73 816,629.72$      

Estimated 2021-2022 rate $27.50 $3,200,896.86 896,251.12$      

Estimated 2022-2023 rate $30.18 $3,512,984.31 983,635.61$      

Estimated 2023-2024 rate $33.12 $3,855,500.28 1,079,540.08$   

$16,143,118.20

Net Revenue

Total Agreement Value $16,143,118.20 4,520,073.10$   11,623,045.10$   

Number of Units

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Grand total

2013 93,088            

2014 105,249          

2015 8936 8638 9952 9762 9026 9762 9587 9851 9942 10348 8980 9397 114,181          

2016 9455 9614 10909 10116 10156 10190 8815 10691 9787 9523 9090 8871 117,217          

2017 9355 8805 10653 9259 10184 9877 8420 10507 9300 10286 9422 8621 114,689          

2018 10105 9039 10297 9723 10365 9606 9122 10801 9059 10683 9346 8255 116,401          -                  

2019 10187 8835 19,022            

DSPD: UTP-D Daily Rate



����������	 
���������������� ����������������������������������������	�����������������������������	�������������	����������������	����������� ��������!�"���������������#���$	

�����������������%����	�����������������������	&����������������������������	������������	'���� �����������(�)���	*������ ��������*������	 ����"	
������)����������	 	+����������)���(�,�����	+����������)�������-.//0123 4556.70 8090:2

;<603 =03 >?@;AABC-.126<:2�D0:2E.1;<603 FG1H0IJ�F0130K LM5I.<NDO-�PE70QRA>?Q;ST4OU5NV�WX;.6/3XY<1NI063XN.Z1[ B\]U]F̂_.7061/012�4̀01:KD<I2�O<H0�-E2K�-.65.6<2E.1�WPE70�a<33bcYE3�E3�<�5<33�5G6:Y<30�<1N�<N/E1E326<2E.1�<̀600/012�d02Z001�M2<Y�c6<13E2�4G2Y.6E2K�<1N�D<I2�O<H0�-E2K�-.65.6<2E.1U�cYE3�:.126<:2�300H3�2.�6010Z�2Y0�:G66012�PE70�a<33�:.126<:2�ZY060E1J�Mc4�<̀6003�2.�30II�<1N�DO-�-.65.6<2E.1�<̀6003�2.�5G6:Y<30�D2<1N<6N�4NGI2�O.:<I�e.12YIK�a<3303�<1N�D2<1N<6N�4NGI2�a60/EG/�e.12YIK�a<3303�V6./�Mc4�<2�<�RAf�NE3:.G12�.VV�2Y0�32<1N<6N�56E:0�V.6�3G:Y�5<3303U�DO-�-.65.6<2E.1�<̀6003�2.�VG62Y06�NE3:.G12�2Y0�a<3303�<1�<NNE2E.1<I�]Af�<1N�30II�Mc4g3�5<3303�2.�4G2Y.6Eh0N�G3063�<2�<�iAf�NE3:.G12�.VV�2Y0�:.32�.V�2Y0�a<3303U�cYE3�56.̀6</�E3�d<30N�.1�2Y0�Mc4�-.@j5�56.̀6</J�ZYE:Y�Z<3�5607E.G3IK�<556.70N�E1�803.IG2E.1�T.U�RA>C@A\@AkU��S1�<NNE2E.1�2.�2Y0�D2<1N<6N�O.:<I�<1N�a60/EG/�a<3303J�Mc4�4̀6003�2.�30II�<1N�4N/E1E326<2.6�<̀6003�2.�5G6:Y<30�<1�411G<I�l.G:Y06�a<33�V.6�m]\AU�cY0�l.G:Y06�a<33�3Y<II�d0�E33G0N�2.�I.Z�E1:./0�5<62E:E5<123�E1�0n:Y<1̀0�V.6�<�D2<20�.V�M2<Y�l.G:Y06U�c.2<I�7<IG0�.V�2Y0�:.126<:2�E3�032E/<20N�d<30N�.1�2Y0�:G66012�:.126<:2�60701G0U�oGIK�RA>C@e<K�RA>?�<60�<:2G<I�</.G123�E17.E:0N�<1N�oG10�RA>?�E3�032E/<20N�G3E1̀�oG10�RA>C�1G/d063U�cYE3�2.2<I3�m>JAAiJAAAU

�������������	 0̂̀E11E1̀AkXA>XRA>? 	 p1NE1̀A\X]AXRARA;E1<1:E<I�D0:2E.1;<603 m>JAAiJAAAUAA=03 T.Wp32E/<20�EV�506�26<13<:2E.1�:.32bc.2<I�7<IG0�.V�2Y0�:.126<:2�E3�032E/<20N�d<30N�.1�2Y0�:G66012�:.126<:2�60701G0U�oGIK�RA>C@e<K�RA>?�<60�<:2G<I�</.G123�E17.E:0N�<1N�oG10�RA>?�E3�032E/<20N�G3E1̀�oG10�RA>C�1G/d063U�cYE3�2.2<I3�m>JAAiJAAAU>AAAUBARB>�_.7061/0124556.7<I�D0:2E.1 0̂IIJ�eEH0FG1H0IJ�F0130K e.62.1J�e.1E:<�W<:2E1̀be0K06J�qEIIE</�D20701 a6E12�2YE3�5<̀0





















Board Review Date: 7/10/2019 Document Type: Other

Action Requested: Motion to approve the memorandum of understanding

Criteria:

Contract Title: Contract # NA

Project Manager: Contract Administrator: NA

Impacted Areas: Included in budget? Yes

Procurement method: Contractor: UDOT/FTA

FTA/UDOT Funds  $                1,406,000 

Sole-Source Reason: Required Match (UTA Funds)  $                    351,500 

Additional Funds (UTA)  $                    471,524 

Total MOU Budget  $                2,229,024 

Contract term (Months) TBD MOU Start Date When signed

Contract options (Months) TBD

MOU End Date

With Executed 

Formal Agreement

N/A

UTA_2020_Funding Award & MOU UDOT & UTA

MOU for Tooele Bus 

Storage Facility

Detailed Contract Description & Purpose

Grey Turner

Attachments:

•UTA through UDOT (Utah Department of Transportation) was selected in 2017 to receive Fiscal Year 2020 FTA 

(Federal Transit Administration) Bus and Bus Facilities grant funding in the amount of $1,406,000 to purchase and 

renovate the Tooele Bus  Storage Facility (UTA leased the building for 9 years prior to the sale).  5339(b) Rural 

Funding is required to be a pass through via UDOT.  The FTA grant also requires matching funds (which are provided 

by UTA capital project funds in the amount of $351,500.00.  UTA will also provide $471,524 in additional matching 

funds.  

•The building was purchased December 2018 and UTA is getting ready to release an RFP for the design of the 

renovation work. 

•Before UTA can proceed with the RFP, UDOT is requiring that we have a MOU in place to identify what the grant 

funding will pay for and what the UTA required match and additional match will pay for.

•The MOU was requested by UDOT to make clear to both parties the budget restraints and assumed risk by UTA 

(the funding is dependent on Federal Apportionments being made available in 2020).

•Funding cannot be reimbursed until the 2020 funds have been apportioned by FTA. 

•UTA has pre-award authority under the FTA regulations of 5339(b) and the FAST Act to proceed with  the purchase 

and renovation.

•The project costs are included in the UTA capital budget.

 

General Description & Purpose:

Contract is > $1,000,000

Tooele

Rev.122718















UTA Grant Review 
 Go/No-Go Determination Decision Form 

Form date: 5/21/2019 

Grant Agency: Department of Transportation Due Date: July 15, 2019 

Grant Title: BUILD – Vineyard Station and Double Tracking 

Award Criteria: Funds are for surface transportation infrastructure projects that will have a 
significant local or regional impact.  

Grant Lead: Alma Haskell Grant Prep 
Cost: 

Staff Time, WSP - $14K, 
Zions (BCA) - $10K 

Project Mgr: Grey Turner 

Chief Officer: Eddy Cumins (Michael DeMers at time of submission of grant)  

Grant Team 
Members: 

Grey Turner, Bruce Cardon, Kerry Doane, Patti Garver, Mary DeLoretto, Hal 
Johnson, Alma Haskell, Tracy Young. 

Proposed 
Project: 

The proposed project includes Vineyard Station ($3.5 million), Vineyard double 
tracking ($11 million of which $1M is ROW in-kind) and double tracking from 
Draper to South Jordan ($22 million of which $2M is ROW in-kind). We are also 
applying for wayfinding at Vineyard, Draper and South Jordan stations ($486K). 

Project 
Benefits/ROI: 

Vineyard station has received legislative support to be built. Double tracking is 
needed for the station to be operational. Double tracking along the corridor will 
improve reliability. Reliability is reduced when trains are delayed due to large 
passenger loads, equipment malfunctions or other incidents. Modifications to 
FrontRunner’s train control system in order to comply with federal Positive 
Train Control (PTC) requirements will further challenge reliability. 
Improvements to the FrontRunner system capacity, reliability and speeds could 
be made through additional double tracking, adding additional passenger cars 
to the trains and, ultimately, electrifying the system. Other financial benefits 
are also being considered for the required benefit cost analysis. 

Considerations: All other double tracking priorities for FrontRunner corridor will be listed as 
future projects* in the application. This is a strategy to possibly allow the DOT 
the option of scaling the project if award funding is insufficient for Vineyard and 
Draper to South Jordan.  

Total Cost: $36,986,000 Grant Request: $25,000,000 Local Match: $11,986,000 

Source of Local 
Match: 

The legislature committed $4 million in funding for Vineyard Station. Of this 
amount, $3.5 million will be used as match (An estimated $0.5 million will be 
expended for design before award selection and is ineligible for match). ROW 
will be an in-kind match of $3 million.  

The remaining match amount of $5,243,000 will need to be committed to by 
UTA; however, UTA will concurrently seek Transit Transportation Investment 
Funds (TTIF) funding through UDOT, legislative funding, and/or and SLCo 4th 
Quarter Sales Tax as possible sources of match. If additional funding is received 



UTA Grant Review 
 Go/No-Go Determination Decision Form 

Form date: 5/21/2019 

from any of these other sources, UTA’s commitment would be reduced 
accordingly.  

Annual O&M: No additional funding will be needed for operating the trains. MOW will need 
more personnel for system and rail maintenance, estimated at $100k - $150k 
per year. MOW perform inspections twice a week on track and weekly on 
switches. Vineyard station annual O&M will be up to $100,000/year, which 
includes snow removal, utilities, cleaning, repairs, etc. 

Cost Estimates Preparer: Matt Carter, GJ 
LaBonty, Dave 
Hancock 

Reviewer: Grey Turner 

VPC group Approval? Y  Date: 6/4/2019 

 

*Additional double track cost estimates: Woods Cross to Centerville $14.3 million, Roy south 1.7 miles $10.8 

million, Kaysville to Layton $15.3 million 

 



����������	 
���������������� ������������������������������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	
�������

/01123�45678 9:; <=>?@?A@4B8CD6EC�/:EC7B8FDBE0D:G:8C ?AH<?HI?<=FD:>FDBE0D:G:8CJD7K7862LB8: M12B6NMOP�J1:D6CBD�M87QBDG;LBC�N:C:DG78:N�3:CO57;�RSF�7;�QBD�6�8:T�EB8CD6EC�CB�1DBU7N:�611DBU:N�087QBDG;�CB�622�V0;�68N�OD678�J1:D6CBD;W�O5:�E0DD:8C�EB8CD6EC�:X17D:;�B8�/:1C:GY:D�@<ZI?<=W��O5:�6T6DN:N�[:8NBD�T722�6EE:1C�B1:D6CBD;\�3:6D23�622BT68E:�B8�MOP�7;;0:N�N:Y7C>E6DN;�6;�163G:8CW�[:8NBD�T722�TBD]�E2B;:23�T7C5�MOP\;�087QBDG�EBGG7CC::�G6]78K�;0D:�622�087QBDG�:X1:EC6C7B8;�6D:�015:2NW�4B;C;�QBD�087QBDG;�6D:�Y0NK:C:N�Y3�C5:�B1:D6CBD;\�D:;1:EC7U:�Y0;78:;;�087C;W��O5:�EB8CD6EC�T722�78E20N:�;57DC;Z�168C;Z�̂6E]:C;Z�EB6C;Z�;BE];Z�Y:2C;Z�16CE5:;Z�;08�K26;;:;Z�68N�683�BC5:D�7C:G;�C5:�MOP�087QBDG�EBGG7CC::�611DBU:;�QBD�10DE56;:W
V0DCB8Z�PG68N6 _6DC78:̀Z�45D7;C78:V:K78878K<?H<HI?<= a8N78K<?H@<HI?IbcBBN; RSF�dV:;C>U620:ef? ?.���������������	 9:; LB/C6DC�g6C: a8N�g6C:



���������	
����������� ������������
��� �����
����	
��������������� ��������� ������������������������� ���� !��� ����
���������������"�#
������� ������������������"�!��� ����
������
��������$�� ����
������������������$�� ���"��
����	
��� 	�$�������
%���	
��&�������'
���� (�������"�(��������
����)����� ���
��������*�������$$
���+�
����
� �����$�������"�!��� ��
� �����$�������,�-�������
+�� ���
����������� ����*��������$$
��"�#���� �������+����#���� �!��������	����+�����.����/���+���"�0�����	
�$������1�/�����
��������$$�
/���������"�!���$$�
/���������"�1��2��$$�
/���������"�3���������
�����3������� 4��5�'�6�3��5�
��173�	 ��+� ������/��4����
���(
�����$$�
/���1�*������ (
�����$$�
/���4���89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

FG<H<EGHI�J;E=G9<KA9ELA;:;<=M M MNOPQQOQQQRQQM MSTQOQQQRQQU@I9HV W;> X9YH>;V�9<�XL:Y;A�9Z�ELAA;<=�9@;AH=9A>�=G:;>�ELAA;<=�U<GZ9A:�HII9=:;<=R[<;\=G:; C;ELAAG<][@;AH=9A�HII9=:;<=9̂EHI W;> X9MNOPQQOQQQRQQ W;> X9 W;> X9 X_?W;> X9 X_??@@A9BHI�J;E=G9< L̀A=9<O�?:H<VHW;> X9W;> X9W;> X9aHA=G<;bO�8cAG>=G<; ;̀B;AGV];O�8c;AAdI�?8L:G<>O�e9<HIV�f a;d;AO�gGIIGH:�J=;B;<KAG<=�=cG>�@H];



����������	 
���������������� 
����������������������	�����������������	�������������	������������ !������!�����"������������������������"���	������������!�	���������������	�����������#� �����	
���������$�����������	  ��%����&������	�������������
''�����������	 	�������������	  �����������&��"��	��������'�����������(��� )�*�!����'������+�����������������������������,&���"-	 ���������.������,&���"-	
�������

/01123�45678 9:; <=>?@?A?4B8CD6EC�/:EC7B8FDBE0D:G:8C ?HI<?IJ?<=FD:>FDBE0D:G:8CKD7L7862AM@A NO12B6PQ:R07;7C7B8S1PT�UIVBDG;I568P2:D;IPBW82B6P6CC6E5GX <YZSZH[\J?<=�]R071G:8C�̂:6;:�F0DE56;:�V7868E78L�/:D_7E:;\̀aOC65�̀D68;7C�b0C5BD7C3�;::c;�CB�D:C678�C5:�;:D_7E:;�BT�6�R0627T7:P�T7868E762�78;C7C0C7B8�CB�1DB_7P:�2:6;:>10DE56;:�T08P78L�TBD�E617C62�:R071G:8C�78�J?<=S��<J�9:6D�̂:6;:�̀:DG�>�Òb�P:;7D:;�T7868E78L�TBD�<?�d0;:;�TBD�/̂4K�:e168;7B8�78�C5:�611DBe7G6C:�6GB08C�BT�fZg<=?g???S��̀57;�PB:;�8BC�78E20P:�683�6PP>B8�:R071G:8CS��Z�9:6D�̂:6;:�̀:DG�>�Òb�P:;7D:;�T7868E78L�TBD�@?�V2:eIF6D6CD68;7C�_:57E2:;g�68P�6PP>B8�:R071G:8C�78E20P78L�F6D6CD68;7C�T6D�dBe:;g�D6P7B;g�E6G:D6�:R071G:8Cg�V2:eIF6D6CD68;7C�:2:ECDB87E�T6D:�EB22:EC7B8�U]V4h�:R071G:8Cg�d0;�E6G:D6;g�D6P7B�78�C5:�611DBe7G6C:�6GB08C�BT�fJgH@?g???S??S��̀57;�6PP>B8�:R071G:8C�W722�56_:�6�C317E62�0;:T02�27T:�BT�611DBe7G6C:23�Z�3:6D;S��Y�9:6D�̂:6;:�̀:DG�>�Òb�P:;7D:;�T7868E78L�TBD�YZ>ZZ�Q7P:;56D:�_68;�78�C5:�611DBe7G6C:�6GB08C�BT�f<g=A?g???S��̀57;�6GB08C�G63�78E20P:�683�6PP>B8�:R071G:8C�6;�8:E:;;6D3S���̀5:D:�7;�62;B�fZZ?g???�78E20P:P�78�C5:�d0PL:C�TBD�J?<=�2:6;:�78C:D:;CSFB;C:22g�F6CD7E76 a76ig�]G723\:L78878LHI@<IJ?<= ]8P78LHI@<IJ?JY/:D_7E:; QVF�U\:;C>_620:hA? ?.���������������	 9:; jB/C6DC�a6C: ]8P�a6C:



���������	
����������� ������������
��� �����
����	
��������������� ��������� ������������������������� ���� !��� ����
���������������"�#
������� ������������������"�!��� ����
������
��������$�� ����
������������������$�� ���"��
����	
��� 	�$�������
%���	
��&�������'
���� (�������"�(��������
����)����� ���
��������*�������$$
���+�
����
� �����$�������"�!��� ��
� �����$�������,�-�������
+�� ���
����������� ����*��������$$
��"�#���� �������+����#���� �!��������	����+�����.����/���+���"�0�����	
�$������1�/�����
��������$$�
/���������"� �
�������1�/����!���$$�
/���������"�1��2��$$�
/���������"�3���������
�����3������� 4��5�'�6�3��5�
��173�	 ��+� ������/��4����
���(
�����$$�
/���1�*������ (
�����$$�
/���4���89::;<=> ?@@A9B; C;D;E=

FG<H<EGHI�J;E=G9<KA9ELA;:;<=MNONN MNONN MPNQRSNQNNNONNM MNONNTU@I9HVC;WLG>G=GX PRX Y;> Z9[\;�;>=G:H=;V�EHIELIH=G9<�9]�<L:̂ ;A�9]�̂L>;>�H<V�]I;_̀@HAH=AH<>G=�B;\GEI;>�=9�̂;�@LAE\H>;VO a<;b=G:; C;ELAAG<cPOddPNeOdNPfPdYCg9EHI Y;> Z9MPNQhRNQNNNONN Y;> Z9 Y;> Z9 Z̀?Y;> Z9 Z̀??@@A9BHI�J;E=G9< K9>=;IIQ�KH=AGEGHY;> Z9 J=;;I;Q�iAjH<Y;> Z9Y;> Z9kGHlQ�m:GIj iG<c\H:Q�[A9jn9A=9<Q�n9<GEH�oHE=G<cp n;j;AQ�qGIIGH:�J=;B;<KAG<=�=\G>�@Hc;



RS7RSSREQ REQUISITION FOR PURCHASE-RSS Page-

Requisition Number 6836 OU Department 5800 CHIEFFINANCEOFFICER Requested By 1481555 Diaz, Emily Date 614/201c
Request Date

Title 2019 Lease Funds Justification UTAIs seeking a Bank to lease funds for all 2019 Paratransit, Vanpool and

Buses. The terms and amount are as floolows:

12 Year Lease Term

UTA desires financing for 10 buses for SLCO expansion in the approximate amount

of $5,250,000.Octmis does not include any add-on equipment.

5 Year Lease Term

UTAdesires financing for 30 Flex/Paratransitvehicles, and add-on equipment

including Paratransit fare boxes, radios, camera equip, Flex/Paratransit EFC

equip, bus cameras, radio and EFC equipment in the approximate amount of

S2,880,000.0O.This add-on equipment will have a typical useful life of

approximately 5 years.

4 Year Lease Term

UTAdesires financing for 45-55 Rideshare vans in the approximate amount of

$1 ,960,000.This amount may include any add-on equipment as necessary.

Line Description Qty UoM Unit Price Extended Line status Account Number Subledger-Type Percent

1.000 2ol9LeaseFunds .0000 5,250,000.00 Approved 1.22105.201912YR 100.0000

2.000 2019 Lease Funds .0000 2,880,000.00 Approved l.22105.20195YR 100.0000

3.000 2019 Lease Funds .0000 1,960,000.00 Approved l.22l05.20194YR 100.0000

4.000 2019 Lease Interest .0000 550,000.00 Approved 9900.55 122.20I9L 100.0000

Approval History

Process ID Line No. Approver Numberand Name ApproverAction Taken Date and Time Updated

656 OrderLevel t455470 Riles, Robert Approved 6/4/2019 193906

656 OrderLevel 4835 Meyer.William Steven Approved 6/4/2019 215519



  
 
Fares  
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Board of Trustees Policy No. 4.1 

 

Application:  Board of Trustees  

I. Purpose:   The purpose of this policy is to establish and maintain an effective fare system for the 

Authority. 

 

II. Definitions:   
 

“Charter Service” is transportation provided by the Authority at the request of a third party for 
the exclusive use of a bus or van for a negotiated price.   
 
“Complimentary Passes” are free passes granting access to the Authority’s transportation 
services.   
 
“Complimentary Service” is free transportation service provided by the Authority for which no 
fares or operation costs are collected.   
 
“Sponsored Fare” means transportation fares paid for in part of in full by a third party for service 
that is not Charter Service.   
 
“Sponsored Service” means transportation service paid in part or in full by a third party for 
service that is not Charter Service.     

 
III. Policy:     
 

A. The Board of Trustees will evaluate and establish the Authority’s base fare rates in 
compliance with federal and state requirements.   

 
B. The Executive Director will present the following to the Board of Trustees for approval: 

1. Special fare rates including pilot programs, promotions, bulk fare purchases, 
period pass fare products, specially priced programs and products, and pre-paid 
fare products 

2. Discounts to base fare rates 
3. Market segments or groups that are exempt from fare payment 
4. Adoption of new fare media and modifications to existing fare media  
5. Requests for Charter Service 
6. Requests for Sponsored Fare 
7. Requests for Sponsored Service 
8. Requests for Complimentary Service 

 
C. The Executive Director will provide notice to the Board of Trustees of the following: 

1. The status of Education Pass negotiations with public colleges and universities 



 

 

 

2. The status of negotiations for bulk pass purchases over $200,000 
3. Requests for complimentary passes that exceed $5,000 
4. Fare suspensions or reductions resulting from a declared emergency 
 

D. The Board of Trustees may delegate approval authority under this Policy to a designee.   
 
IV. Cross References:   49 U.S. Code §5307; 42 U.S. Code §12101 et seq.; 49 CFR Part 604; 49 U.S. 

Code §5323(d); FTA Circular 4703.1; Americans with Disabilities Act; Public Transit District Act; 
UTA Policy 4.2.1 – Emergency and Disaster Preparedness.   

 
Revision/Review History:   

 

Local Advisory 
Council Review 

Board of Trustees 
Review 

Resolution Action  

    



 
 
 
 
 

REQUEST FOR RECORDS 
Government Records Access & Management Act (GRAMA) Request 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UTA FEE SCHEDULE 
(Approved May 25, 2016) 

1. Reviewing a record to determine whether it is subject to disclosure: No Charge unless the quantity of subject records is 
extraordinary. 

2. Inspection of record: No Charge to requesting person unless records must be produced from a proprietary secure electronic 
database. 

3. Copies for media: The Authority may fulfill a record request for an employee or representative of the print or electronic media 
demonstrating proper credentials within 5 working days of the request. If the request is voluminous, extra time may be required. 
Standard copying fees will be charged. 

4. Impecunious: The Authority to fulfill a record request for Persons without charge when the person making the request: 1) Files a 
sworn written affidavit with the Authority stating that the person is impecunious and cannot pay the fee or charge; 2) the person 
making the request is the real party in interest; and 3) that the request is not for a large or voluminous quantity of records; and 4) 
the request does not require more than 30 minutes of staff time to assemble records responsive to the request. 

5. Government Entity: The Authority may waive the charging of a fee when the requesting person is another governmental entity or 
quasi‐governmental entity with whom the Authority follows the practice, has a policy, or an agreement to waive similar fees on 
documents requested by the Authority. 

6. Records and associated fees: 
Cost* Description 

.50 per page 8 ½” x 11” black and white page of copy 
$1.00 per page 8 ½” x 11” color copy 
$1.00 per page 11” x 17” black and white page of copy 
$2.00 per page 11” x 17” color copy 
$1.00 per page Faxing documents 
Staff hourly rate If research or preparation of information is required (such as redaction, pixilation, 

voice alterations), exceeding 15 minutes of time, an hourly charge is assessed. The 
hourly rate will depend upon the lowest hourly rate of the employee with proper 
security clearance required to perform the task. See Utah State Code §63G‐2‐203(2) 
et. Seq. 

Actual cost of 
reproduction plus 
staff time to 
produce 

Oversized copy and/or graphics 

Standard U.S. 
Postage Rates 

Standard U.S. Postage Rates will apply to all requests. 

$2.00 Per certification, if the record is required to be certified. 
$15.00 Transit Police Report Request: Transit Police Reports primarily contain 

information classified as private. Secondary classifications may exist depending on 
the record content. Transit Police Reports will only be provided to the subject of the 
record, or individuals or entities provided an original notarized release from the 
subject of the record specifically allowing UTA to provide the private information. 
Additional fees may apply. 

$20.00 Video: Additional editing (redaction, pixilation, voice alterations) fees may apply. 
$20.00 Per USB or Thumb Drive, plus staff time to scan the records to electronic format if 

necessary. 
$25.00 Archived records retrieval, for retrieval of record(s) from a Records Retention 

Center or other storage location removed from the place of business of the 
department or division, which maintains the record(s). 

*If costs associated with the request are anticipated to exceed $50.00, pre‐payment for the requested documents will be required. If the pre‐payment amount exceeds the 
actual cost of producing the records, a refund of the amount difference will be generated. Additionally, if a requestor has not properly paid for previously received materials, 
the Authority will hold the current request until the outstanding payment is full for the prior requests is received, pursuant to Utah State Code §63G‐2‐203(8) et. Seq. 

 
If records are copied at a bonded copy center, the actual cost of copying the document will be charged rather than the published rate above. This option is only available for 
records classified as “public” that are not subject to Federal regulations mandating the records be maintained on the Authority premises at all times. 



 
 
 
 
 

REQUEST FOR RECORDS 
Government Records Access & Management Act (GRAMA) Request 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UTA FEE SCHEDULE  
(Approved_________________) 

1. Reviewing a record to determine whether it is subject to disclosure: No Charge unless the quantity of subject records is 
extraordinary. 

2. Inspection of record: No Charge to requesting person unless records must be produced from a proprietary secure electronic 
database. 

3. Copies for media: The Authority may fulfill a record request for an employee or representative of the print or electronic media 
demonstrating proper credentials within 5 working days of the request. If the request is voluminous, extra time may be required. 
Standard copying fees will be charged. 

4. Impecunious: The Authority to fulfill a record request for Persons without charge when the person making the request: 1) Files a 
sworn written affidavit with the Authority stating that the person is impecunious and cannot pay the fee or charge; 2) the person 
making the request is the real party in interest; and 3) that the request is not for a large or voluminous quantity of records; and 4) 
the request does not require more than 30 minutes of staff time to assemble records responsive to the request. 

5. Government Entity: The Authority may waive the charging of a fee when the requesting person is another governmental entity or 
quasi‐governmental entity with whom the Authority follows the practice, has a policy, or an agreement to waive similar fees on 
documents requested by the Authority. 

6. Records and associated fees* (See Utah State Code §63G‐2‐203(2) et. Seq.): 
 Cost   Description 

 
 

  Staff Time  
 1. Staff hourly rate If research, manipulation, or preparation of information is required (such as redaction, 
pixilation, voice alterations), exceeding 15 minutes of time, an hourly charge is assessed. 
The hourly rate will depend upon the lowest hourly rate of the employee with proper 
security clearance required to perform the task. 

2. Actual cost of reproduction 
plus staff time to produce 

Oversized copy and/or graphics 

3. $25.00 Archived records retrieval, for retrieval of record(s) from a Records Retention 
Center or other storage location removed from the place of business of the 
department or division, which maintains the record(s). 

 
 
 
 

 Police Records 
4. $15.00 – additional fees may 

apply. See staff time. 
Transit Police Reports and copies of Citations: Transit Police Reports will only be provided 
to the subject of the record, or individuals or entities providing an original notarized release 
from the subject of the record specifically allowing UTA to provide the private information.  
 

  Electronic Records 
 5. $25.00 – additional fees may 

apply. See staff time. 
Video  

6. $20.00 – additional fees may 
apply. See staff time. 

Per USB or Thumb Drive, plus staff time to scan the records to electronic format if 
necessary. 

  Physical Copies of Records 
7. .50 per page 8 ½” x 11” black and white page of copy 
8. $1.00 per page 8 ½” x 11” color copy 
9. 
 
 

$1.00 per page 11” x 17” black and white page of copy 
 10. $2.00 per page 11” x 17” color copy 
 11. $1.00 per page Faxing documents 

  Other Items 
 12. Postage Rates Standard U.S. Postage Rates will apply to all requests. 
 13. $2.00 Per certification, if the record is required to be certified. 
*If costs associated with the request are anticipated to exceed $50.00, pre‐payment for the requested documents will be required. If the pre‐payment amount exceeds the 
actual cost of producing the records, a refund of the amount difference will be generated. Additionally, if a requestor has not properly paid for previously received materials, 
the Authority will hold the current request until the outstanding payment is full for the prior requests is received, pursuant to Utah State Code §63G‐2‐203(8) et. Seq. 
*If a record has been previously provided to the requester, we are not required to fill requests for records that have already been provided, pursuant to Utah State Code 
§63G‐2‐201(1)(b)(i). 
*If records are copied at a bonded copy center, the actual cost of copying the document will be charged rather than the published rate above. This option is only available for 
records classified as “public” that are not subject to Federal regulations mandating the records be maintained on the Authority premises at all times. 



City B/W Color 11x17 B/W 11x17 Color Fax
Staff hourly 

rate Oversize copy Postage Certification Police report USB CD

Archived 
Records 
Retrieval

Special 
instructions

Murray City $0.10 $10.00 $5.50
first 15 

minutes fee
Draper $0.15 $0.15 $30.00 $0.10
Heber $0.20 $2.00 $15.00 $10.00 $30.00

Herriman $0.20 $0.40 $0.45 $0.45 $50.00 $5.00 $30.00 $1.50
no charge for 
first 1/2 hour

Riverton $0.10 $0.20 $0.20 $0.20
actual labor 

cost $2.00

SLC $0.10 $0.10 $21.00 $4.00

$36.00 
Redaction or 

$25 Body Cam $12.25
first 15 

minutes fee

SLCo $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 $1.00 $25.00 cost current rate
first 15 

minutes fee

South Jordan $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 $2 to $5
actual labor 

cost 7.00-12.00 $2 to $5 actual cost $5 to $10
first 15 

minutes fee
South SLC $0.25 $0.25 $0.50 $0.50 $15.00 $20.00 $10.00

UTA $0.50 $1.00 $1.00 $2.00 $1.00
actual labor 

cost actual cost current rate $2.00 $15.00 $20.00 $25.00
first 15 

minutes fee
Washington Co $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 $0.25 $20.00 $4.00 $10.00

West Jordan $0.25 $0.25
actual labor 

cost $5.00 $10.00

ottonwood Heigh $0.25 $0.40 $0.25 $0.40 $1.00
actual labor 

cost actual cost
2.00 plus 
postage $2.00 $10.00

Taylorsville $0.50
actual labor 

cost actual cost current rate
Murray City 

PD Fee $10.00
first 15 

minutes free

Bluffdale $0.15 $0.75
actual labor 

cost 40.00/hour
.25 plus 

current rate $2.00
Holladay $0.15

Layton $0.25 $30.00 $2.00
first 15 

minutes free

Sandy $0.30
actual labor 

cost $5.00
TOTALS $4.20 $4.25 $3.15 $4.30 $5.00 $24.00 $25.00 $100.10 $72.75 $25.00 $0.00

AVERAGES $0.26 $0.39 $0.45 $0.61 $1.00 $3.43 $12.50 $17.50 $6.97 $25.00 

Utah Cities & Counties Record Fee Schedules



Police/Sherriffs Department Police report Additional charges / Notes
Murray City $5.00

Draper $10.00
Heber $10.00

Bountiful $10.00
Clearfield $10.00

Cedar City $5.00
$.25 each additional page, Photographs - $3 per page, 4 
photos to a page 

Farmington $5.00 *Photos additional $15.00
American Fork $5.00 *$20.00 Non residents

Herriman $10.00 $1.00 additiona pages

Riverton $10.00

*Riverton has not set a fee schedule for their PD as it is a
new department. I would think prior it would have been
Unified. They did say that their new Chief of Police will
not want to charge victums of crime for reports.

SLC $10.00 $.25 per page after 50 pages.

SLCo Sherriffs Department $5.00

South Jordan $.25 per page

South SLC $15.00
$15.00 fee for each DI-9 accident report and $10.00 for 
each nonreportable accident report

St. George $2.00
Unified PD $10.00 *additional fees for these records

UTA $15.00
Washington Co Sherriffs 

Department $5.00
West Jordan $10.00

Cottonwood Heights $10.00 *Photos are $25.00
Taylorsville $10.00 *Via Unified PD

Bluffdale $13.00 *Photos are $13.00
Holladay $10.00 *Via Unified PD

Layton $5.00
*After 10 pages, $.25 per additional page. $10.00 for up
to 5 photos

Sandy $10.00
TOTALS $210.00

AVERAGES $12.50 

Utah Police and Sheriff Department Police report fees


	2019-0710 Agenda_Board Meeting
	July 19 Safety Poster
	2019-0626 Minutes_Board Meeting_UNAPPROVED
	Contract-South SLCo Microtransit Pilot
	Change Order_Signal Priority_Pinetop Engineering
	Change Order_Title Searches-Meridian
	Change Order_Oncall Maintenance SWI Task Order #76-Project Manager Costs
	Change Order_Oncall Maintenance SWI Task Order #79-Blue Line
	Change Order_Oncall Maintenance SWI Task Order #82-Delta Interlocking
	Revenue Contract-DSPD
	Revenue Contract-SLC Hive Pass
	Tooele MOU
	2019 DOT BUILD - Grant Decision Form
	Pre-Procurement-Operator Uniforms
	Pre-Procurement-2019 Equipment Lease Purchase Financing
	Board Fare Policy Draft
	Current GRAMA Records Fee Schedule



